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Corporate Profile
NI LRy

UOur Vision,
Mission &
Values

PeiMBRE=
RoniliEEE

VISION FE=

To be the pioneer of innovative living space

MERTHE BILEEM

MISSION 7

The Group strives to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive
living experience through teamwork and passionate pursuit
of innovation and excellence

HEREN BIHFREL 2MAR BERE BHEA
&R

VALUES f&&# — PRIDE

Pioneer Integrity

Break new grounds Uphold high ethical standards
HEBR 37 A

Respect Devotion

Value the individual and Be committed and passionate
cherish our environment 8O 8 [ 35

BEAEL

Innovation Excellence

Think outside the box Consistency in the pursuit of
R RTA8 ] our quality standards

IEREZ



HKR International Limited is a conglomerate in HK, together with its
subsidiaries, with interests in diversified businesses, focusing on real
estate development and investment, property management, luxury
hotels and other investments in HK, mainland China and across Asia.

HKRI's comprehensive portfolio includes Discovery Bay and CDW
Building in HK, HKRI Taikoo Hui in Shanghai, and a number of premium
residential properties under development in Shanghai, Jiaxing and
Hangzhou. The Group aims at further growing a balanced portfolio to
maximise the Company’s value for shareholders.

HKRI strives to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living experience
through teamwork and an unwavering commitment to innovation and
excellence. The Group believes sustainability is one of the most
important ways to make a business and community viable. Guided by its
core values, it is devoted to making a positive contribution to the
communities, promoting sustainable development and creating a better
living environment.
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Highlights of the Year
FEARERE

APR [ H 2024

Superstructure works of River One, Shanghai,
reached topping-out stage

A new bus route connecting
DB North and Tung Chung

inaugurated
FPEMmEERMNEETIEEAFIR EEMESRERNE T
& B% B4 B 4R IE XA RS

Foundation works of property project
located on Hollywood Road were completed

WEABEETHEAMNMETRRT

AUG /\ A 2024

The Sukhothai Bangkok launched
its brand-new spa facility, The
Sukhothai Spa

The Sukhothai Bangkok 2 ¥
KB The Sukhothai Spa
ERXRE

MAY £ A 2024
VILLA LUCCA unveiled a newly
furnished show house

MBI EMmEFFE =8

Handover of all sold units of
IN One, Hangzhou commenced

MHNTREEXHEES
URBRNTER

OCT + A 2024

Approval of project loan
for construction costs of
Master Plan 7.0 (MP7.0)
Phase 19 and for refinancing
land premium loan was
obtained

FEH BB B 5709 B 108 12
REBERACEEERRBHEZ
BREER

JUN 73 A 2024
"TheNextwave XX24 Beach
Music Festival”, HK's largest
beach music festival, was
held on Tai Pak Beach,
Discovery Bay
EERRBRED B S E
g1 [ TheNextwave XX24
WO N R
RNEEDBRIT

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong
showcased its brand during its
inaugurated participation in the Hong
Kong Wine & Dine Festival organised
by the Hong Kong Tourism Board

DB Ice Rink hosted The ISI Hong Kong
Invitational 2024, drawing 500 figure
skaters from across Asia to compete in
over 900 events

Al = VOB K 35 B [ 2024 F 151 B B EHEBMESETAELEEL MBS
BKBEEE] > 500z g8 M & KR BB RDERE[E AN
FEBMIES MEBEBOORES o 5 K |
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NOV + — A 2024

Occupation permit of MP7.0 Topping out of all towers of
sales gallery was issued Phase 19, Discovery Bay

BB R E705% 2 HE R AR EE 19N 2 A ARE T
BEZERAFAIE Wil@il&

The residential project in Jiaxing's

HKRI presented 2024 Discovery Bay Winter Nl Newy Blisiiict wes memed “Sienng One”

Wonderland I L " "
55 S S 202400 B 8 B ot FETREAFTENETHEEGEREHERE]
T B MR BIPR =R M=REST

2 HE

Discovery Bay hosted 2024 World Pickleball Championship
Hong Kong, China

W RERTR0UERCRRETEE—FHEFE]

The inaugural Christmas
Wine Walk was held
in Discovery Bay
WMREEMNEHRSE
B A

Lantau Yacht Club hosted the second
annual Festa Nautica Boat Show
BARNE LEReRKEE - EBTER
EREEG EEEERE

JAN — H 2025

Town Planning Board approved the draft
Discovery Bay Outline Zoning Plan
WhREZEEgRARMRED R
STEIRAEE

DBee Qasis, HK's first urban oasis blossom
tower, was unveiled in Central Park,
Discovery Bay

&% 7 B 4% M [DBee Oasis | 3% F 1
=BHPRRDE

The Sukhothai Bangkok
celebrated its 33" anniversary Y > with significant upgrades

The new Discovery Bay Mobile App was inaugurated

The Sukhothai Bangkok
B 3338 F 5%

iR E FREAEANEN L& E2E TR

Discovery Bay launched the new “Spend & Ride Offer”
MREHELEDHEE « 2B BEE]

EREEEREEFRAT 2024/2025 £ 05



RERER

Significant awards won by the Group in
the financial year 2024/2025:
£ B 72 2024/2025 BF B F E

T OEEE 5

HKR International Limited

ERAXEREEERAT

"15 YEARS PLUS CARING COMPANY' LOGO
1SEPLUSI R R BRI 5

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

FELAREHE

Awards and Recognitions

HONG KONG GREEN ORGANISATION

CERTIFICATION

BRGEHRERR

- WastewiSe - Good Level
HERE-RFRA

Environmental Campaign Committee

REEDHZEE

=1
HONG KONG ESG REPORTING AWARDS 2024
FBESGHRE K204
- Best ESG Report (Small Cap) - Grand Award
RELSCRER(MHE) AR
Hong Kong ESG Reporting Awards Limited
ERECHRERBRAA

HONG KONG GREEN AND SUSTAINABLE

FINANCE AWARDS 2024

FEZENTEESRAR0A

- Pioneering Award for Climate Disclosure
Contribution
FEBREEMARAR

- Outstanding Award for Green and Sustainable
Loan Issuer (Residential and Leisure Property
Development) - Visionary Sustainability - Linked
Loan Performance Metrics
BRUSBNTHEERRTRB(EER
RERNFRE) -SHERURERR
HAGHEANER

Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

EERERER

ENERGY SAVING CHARTER 2024 AND 4T CHARTER
HHENENURITHE

Environmental and Ecology Bureau
REREER

Electrical and Mechanical Services Department

BEIRE

HONG KONG SUSTAINABILITY AWARD 2024
EETRARRRA
- Certificate of Excellence
SHE
The Hong Kong Management Association

EREERBERE

UNSDG ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS HONG KONG 2024

BeRBURERREEEEAMN KM

- Sustainable Organisation - Merit
IRERRKE-RERRR

Green Council

RREES

GREEN OFFICE & ECO-HEALTHY WORKPLACE
AWARDS LABELLING SCHEME 2024
SERNERET 2024
- Green Office Label and Eco-Healthy Workplace
Label
[RERAEIRIREIABIES
World Green Organisation

tREEAE

06

CTGOODJOBS BEST HR AWARDS 2024

- Best Corporate Wellbeing Programme Award
- Grand
RECEBUFHAR-HHAR

- Best Employee Engagement Strategy Award
- Grand
REESTRAERBAR-HHAR

- Best ESG Award - Grand
RERE HEREAAR-HLAE

- Best Gen Z Attraction Award - Gold
REIERATREINKR-22

CTGoodjobs

GOOD EMPLOYER CHARTER 2024 & SUPPORTIVE
FAMILY-FRIENDLY GOOD EMPLOYER
W04(FETNERIARIFIIRIFEE]
Labour Department

51k

MANPOWER DEVELOPER AWARD SCHEME 2024
A REEFH 04
- Grand Prize Award
rEAE
Employees Retraining Board

EEBEIR

Hong Kong Resort Company Limited
BEREXERAA

DFA DESIGN FOR ASIA AWARDS 2024

DFAZE & B &8 iRt #2024

- Spatial Design - Merit Award (DB Pier and
Central Pier 3 Revitalisation Project)
RRERARN-BRE(MEEEAR
RRZSEREDNER)

Hong Kong Design Centre

BRERE L

HKMA/VIUTV & NOW TV AWARDS FOR

MARKETING EXCELLENCE 2024

20249 B HKMANIUTV R NOW TV i T35

RYR

- Excellence in Small Budget Marketing
REMEREER

The Hong Kong Management Association

EEEREXHE

SHOPPING MALLS AWARDS 2023-24

ABEEHHAK03-24

- Top 20 Shopping Mall Events (DB Plaza &
DB North Plaza)

RENAEGREEHEEDMRREER

WIS
U Lifestyle & U Magazine

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2024/2025

EXCELLENCE IN LIVING SMART AWARD 2024
BREREIHAR024

- Qutstanding Experience Award (Leisure)
EELEGIOEHERAR
Mingpao.com

R4

Discovery Bay Services Management
Limited

MREREEERRAT

HONG KONG AWARDS FOR ENVIRONMENTAL
EXCELLENCE 2023
ERRREMARN
- Property Management (Residential) -

Gold Award

NEEE (f%)-E8
Environment and Ecology Bureau
REREER
Environmental Campaign Committee
REEHEER

HONG KONG GREEN AND SUSTAINABILITY

CONTRIBUTION AWARDS 2024

EEGENTHEER AR

- Gold Seal for Contribution to Sustainable
Property - Promote Environmental Protection
UREERNEEMEE-
EBRERR

- Qutstanding Award for Excellent Contribution
to Sustainable Property (Property
Management) - Promote Environmental
Protection
BRETRERRNEB=EHAR
(MEER)-EBEERR

- Pioneer for ESG Connect - Environmental
EBREE(RR)

- Pioneer for ESG Connect - Social
ABREE(GE)

Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

EEmERER

UNSDG ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS HONG KONG 2024

BREUBERRABERANRRM
- Individual SDG Award - Goal 17: Partnerships
For The Goals Project Award

IRERRERE-BR 2RBME

BRE
Green Council
RREES

JOCKEY CLUB AGE-FRIENDLY HOUSING ESTATES
PROJECT AGE-FRIENDLY HOUSING ESTATES
SERVICE AWARD
EREREREEAHARERERER
%%
- Gold Award

BE
Hong Kong Association of Gerontology

e

HONG KONG SAFE AND HEALTHY ESTATE
ACCREDITATION SCHEME
BERRREUERF
- Excellent Performance

FHRR
Occupational Safety and Health Council

BELZ2RER

CLP SMART ENERGY AWARD 2024
PERE R RERR204
- Joint Energy Saving Award

B EigE AR
CLP Power Hong Kong
REE)

HKIH ELITE AWARDS 2024

WHEEEEREAREERRASR

- Best ESG Management Team -
Excellence Award

BERS HENLEEREN - =M%

The Hong Kong Institute of Housing
EERERERE

BIG HEARTS, SAVE HEARTS AWARDS 2024

WAFE[ED « R0 BRE

- Big Heart Outstanding Performance Award
[BLEBIRERER

Fire Services Department

N

NTS BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL AWARDS

2023-2024

HRHABRRERTEEE203-204

- Residential - Gold and Bronze Awards
TEHER R

New Territories South Region of the Hong

Kong Police Force

EREBRNAELR

PEACH BLOSSOM TREES RECYCLING

PROGRAMME 2024

2024 k78 B Y3t 8

- Certificate of Appreciation
B

Environment and Ecology Bureau

REREER

Discovery Bay Transportation Services
Limited
MREMERBERD A

NTS BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL AWARDS

2023-2024

HRAEAERERRSEEA23-2024

- Best Anti - Crime Partner
BERHLFRAFIHR

New Territories South Region of the Hong

Kong Police Force

EREBRMRELE




(DW Building
RRAE

HONG KONG GREEN ORGANISATION

CERTIFICATION

EEGORERE

- EnergywiSe - Excellent Level
HREE-SHRn

- WastewiSe - Good Level
HERE-RERH

Environmental Campaign Committee

REEHZES

NTS BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL AWARDS

2023-2024

HREAERERZRRE023-204

- BestAnti - Crime Partner
RERLERAFIHR

New Territories South Region of the Hong

Kong Police Force

EREBRMAALR

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong
BEERMREEE

WEDDING AWARD 2024
BRMEAE04
- Superb Wedding Banquet (Hotel) -
Best Outdoor Wedding Ceremony Venue
EREROEE) -REFPMEESE
Weddinghk hk

ART OF GOURMET
RERR
ELLE * ELLEMEN

BRIDAL AWARD 2024

HIEEE S RE 2024

- Best Indoor Wedding Ceremony Venue
FAZEZRRESE

ESDLife

RS

SUSTAINABLE RESTAURANT AWARD 2024
IREEEEAR0A
- Low Carbon Award
83
InnoBlock & TT Green

Lantau Yacht Club
BERRNRLERES

YACHT STYLE AWARDS 2024
- Best New Marina in Asia
ENEEHERE

Yacht Style

SUSTAINABLE RESTAURANT AWARD 2024
AHEZEAR20M
- Low Carbon Award
iR
InnoBlock & TT Green

Discovery Bay Golf Club
MREEHEARE

SUSTAINABLE RESTAURANT AWARD 2024
UHEREAR04
- Low Carbon Award
fined
InnoBlock & TT Green

HKRI Taikoo Hui
BEAHE

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS AWARDS® 2024

- Art, Entertainment & Public - Art Event -
Gold

- Art, Entertainment & Public - Entertainment
Event - Gold

- Brand &Experiences - Brand Activation -
Gold

- Brand & Experiences - Brand Engagement
Event - Gold

- Brand Experience of the Year - Consumer
- Bronze

- Marketing Campaign of the Year -
Real Estate - Gold

The Stevie® Awards

ASIA-PACIFIC STEVIE® AWARDS 2024

- Innovation in the Use of Celebrities or Public
Figures - Gold

- Innovation in Branded Entertainment -
Gold

- Innovation in the Use of Viral Media/
Word of Mouth - Silver

The Stevie® Awards

EVENT MARKETING AWARDS 2024

- Best Creative Idea - Gold

- Best PR Stunt - Gold

- BestIntegrated Marketing - Bronze
Campaign Asia-Pacific

|CSC MAXI GLOBAL AWARDS 2024
- Experiential Award - Silver
ICSC Foundation

WELL CORE™ PLATINUM

WELLE OB REREEE - HERRE
International WELL Building Institute
EIBRWELLZ £ 8 5t Bt

GLOBAL REAL ESTATE SUSTAINABILITY
BENCHMARK 2024
EHREHETHEEENM
- Four-star Rating

mE Tk
GRESB

The Sukhothai Shanghai
LERIAREE

FORBES TRAVEL GUIDE 2025
- Four-star Award
Forbes Travel Guide

READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2024 (US)
- #2in Shanghai, #3in China
Condeé Nast Traveler

READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2024 (UK)
- #1inChina
Condé Nast Traveller

DIANPING "MUST-STAY LIST" 2024
KRS TR0
Dianping

NS T

THE BEST BANG! AWARDS 2025

B AR K E2025

- Popular Wedding Hotel
EEARBEERE

BANG Media

THAT'S HOSPITALITY AWARDS 2024
- Urban Resort Hotel of the Year
that's Shanghai

W4BMATERE N - [H D2 BB
BRmEA

- FEEEER

i3

THE 5™ GOLDEN SPOON AWARD

FREEIR

- Brilliant Executive Chef of Year 2024
(Duncan Feng Wei)
SHTHREE 2024 (5E)

Grand Hotels Media

KEEESE

The Sukhothai Bangkok

FORBES TRAVEL GUIDE 2025
- Four-star Award
Forbes Travel Guide

MICHELIN KEY HOTELS
REBRBER
- TwoKeys

B

The MICHELIN Guide

READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2024 (US)

- #1inBangkok, #24 The Best Hotels
in the World

Condé Nast Traveler

READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2024 (UK)
- #1in Southeast Asia
Condé Nast Traveller

ULTIMATE THAILAND GREEN TOURISM
SHOWCASE 2024

- Green Hotel Premium
Department of Tourism of Thailand

GREEN HOTEL PLUS

Department of Climate Change and
Environment of Thailand

Ministry of Natural Resources and
Environment of Thailand

ACCOMMODATION STANDARD FOR TOURISM
(HOTEL) 2024-2026

Department of Tourism of Thailand
Ministry of Tourism and Sports of Thailand

LUXE GLOBAL AWARDS 2024

- Best Luxury Architecture Design Hotel
Globally

- Best Luxury Spa Hotel Globally

LUXE Global

Celadon

LUXE GLOBAL AWARDS 2024

- Best Asian Cuisine in South East Asia
- Bust Luxury Hotel Restaurant in Asia
- Best Thai Cuisine in Asia

LUXE Global

LaScla

[TALIAN HOSPITALITY SEAL “OSPITALITA
ITALIANA"
Thai-Italian Chamber of Commerce

The Sukhothai Spa

FORBES TRAVEL GUIDE 2025
- Four-star Award
Forbes Travel Guide

DESTINATION DELUXE AWARDS 2024
- New Spa of the Year - 2" Place
Destination Deluxe

LUXE GLOBAL AWARDS 2024

- Best Luxury Wellness Spa in Thailand
- Most Iconic Swimming Pool in Asia
- Best Luxury Day Spa Globally

LUXE Global

FRAREREERIRAT 2024/2025 F# 07



Chairman’s Statement

EEWE

“Success in property development
relies on excellence, both in favourable

and challenging times.”

[BEEVRBRITREIERY  £BAR

SHEEEEEMKRE -

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
B KL

Executive Chairman
WITETE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS AND STAKEHOLDERS,

It is my pleasure to present our annual report for FY2025. This report
covers the results for HKR International Limited together with its
subsidiaries.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The Group’s revenue for the FY2025 amounted to HK$1,753.4 million,
which decreased by 56% from HK$3,940.7 million in the last year
primarily owing to decrease in revenue from property development
during the FY2025 as the scheduled completion of property
development projects will not occur until after FY2025. During last year,
the revenue amounting to HK$2.1 billion from recognition of Starlight
One, a project in Jiaxing, China was relatively substantial in comparing
between the two years. The Group recorded underlying profit of HK$70.0
million for the FY2025 as compared to that of HK$172.6 million in the
previous year. Loss attributable to owners of the Company of HK$786.0
million, increased by HK$318.0 million from HK$468.0 million for last year,

08 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2024/2025
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HE -

HHTE AR 20258 Fr FEEEY

FEXRE

EER20558F 2 WABI75B34B8 BB T &
EFZ39407A BB LB P56%  TEZHAR
BRI 205 Fr A SEEYWEEEEE R
B - AB2025 B F R E R W AR A - R &
FR - ARFPEZETHEREER Z2KA
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ZRIREEEE  SEMR20258 FEEER
wmA700BBA L MEFA R17268 B85
TLe RNREB AEBNEIEA78608 &8
T B EF 246808 BB LI IN3180H BB
T T EHREEREGHEERESAE QAR



was primarily due to the widening impact from the Group's attributable
share of net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties held by the Group and its joint venture from HK$263.9 million
to HK$670.8 million despite asset impairment provisions on the property
development projects held by the Group and its joint venture and other
assets reduced from HK$376.7 million to HK$185.2 million.

Given the current situation and financial performance, the Board of
Directors believes it is prudent not to recommend any dividend for
FY2025.

MARKET OVERVIEW

The global economy demonstrated resilience in 2024, achieving a 3.3%
growth despite a landscape punctuated by challenges. Asian economies
sustained their momentum, supported by robust exports and tourism
recovery, while advanced economies experienced modest growth amid
headwinds from trade tensions and geopolitical uncertainties.

HK's economy displayed positive energy, registering a 2.5% growth,
largely driven by the performance of the external sector. The residential
property market found its footing towards the close of the year, with a
slight uptick in transaction volumes despite overall price adjustments.
Tourism recovery gained traction, with visitor numbers reaching around
70% of pre-pandemic levels.

Mainland China achieved a 5.0% growth, reflecting the positive impact
of strategic policy measures. While core cities saw property market
stabilisation, second and third-tier markets continue to show varying
recovery patterns.

Looking ahead to 2025, challenges remain, with trade tensions and
potential delays in US interest rate adjustments creating some
uncertainties. However, HK's growth projections of 2% to 3% for 2025
reflect cautious optimism, underpinned by the HKSAR Government
initiatives to enhance economic capacity and Mainland policy support.
The Group remains agile in managing costs, and vigilant in identifying
emerging opportunities.

In mainland China, strong fundamentals and policy support are expected
to drive the economy. The Group continues to uphold its investment
plan in the Yangtze River Delta area while adopting a tactical approach
towards emerging prospects.

BAEZREDELTEESH 2 A REIEF
FH2639BE B LI INE6/08E BA T ZF
Z HEELHEAERRBAZERRE
BEUREMEE - EERERECHA6/A
BEATRILEIS2BBB T -

EREEERRINTRRR EFE2RAE
05 FENRER B AFBEZE -

35 8%

Q04F IR EH AL EEE - BINEE
33 R - BRIRTHEE G - DMK EERE
BHHARKREXEHR KREEERSH: S
—FH - ESRZHFEEZFR MEMEKER
TARTHETE » L EBEERSRNIEE -

EAREBERRFEE TERIIBERETT -
2024 F B3 25% IR - EEMEM SR EFF
RUBBET AREHB/AME A @ HEELE
BENBETHA S—FHE REFXEHDE
B EAXRDIREEZ BRI KFEL70% °

RO A AR PR R 2024 F B 15 5.0% I8 K BT
REBRROK R — R TWETHBE
M-  ZEBRMAUNERTRAEZEENEE-

055FAENEENRSE 2HESRLFE
ZR - UREBRBETKISHE  HME
THHTREBEE - BBBNTHRERFINS
TERE R BT bR REFERRH
TEER2025 F BB R KN F2%E3%  RIEEH
ERFEAREELE SEGHEERZET
B - R Z ) B E T EEE -

TEAMEEBRBRENBRIR  ATE2H#
PREER SEREERR=-_AMRRE
TEt URMEMBERORE MG ENE
FEHB o

EREEEREEFRAT 2024/2025 £ 09
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

CONFRONTING CHALLENGES WITH
RESILIENCE

In a year marked by global economic complexity, the Group has
reinforced its position in Asia as a developer of premium residential and
commercial properties.

The DB 2.0 Blueprint achieved notable progress in FY2025. The Group's
new residential development in DB North will deliver over 1.3 million
square feet of GFA, creating more than 1,400 units set within a verdant
environment featuring a central park. The progress of DB 2.0 is further
enhanced by diverse hospitality offerings, the launch of the Discovery
Bay Mobile App and a series of vibrant events, which have improved
residents’ experience and community engagement.

REREERRBEMZEZF SEEBK
NEBHEFERATMNEBEETERBRBERR
R AL

[ = E20E B | R0 FEMSBEER
ARSIt HEEEE BRER1308FH
REMmMEE A8 140@EBAL BEEHEP R
ANE - -HEERB BMEZREBNRESE—
SHEHZTEORERYE - 25058 F#
EAEX UR—ZRINEE BELtERES
B BRRALCEORE -
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The Group established presence in the Yangtze River Delta continues to
flourish, particularly in the high-end residential sector. Sienna One in
Jiaxing is scheduled for launch later this year, while River One in
Shanghai has achieved sales of over 90% of its units. We maintain our
strategic focus on this region’s long-term potential while prudently
evaluating new opportunities.

HKRI Taikoo Hui ("HTH") continues to strengthen its position as a premier
luxury and lifestyle destination. The successful completion of the first
phase of renovations at North Piazza has significantly enhanced both
internal and external connectivity, seamlessly integrating with multiple
Metro lines to improve accessibility. Further solidifying our leadership in
the luxury retail space, the grand opening of Louis Vuitton's new
concept store at HTH underscores our status as a top-tier destination for
discerning shoppers. As we move forward, we remain committed to
refining our luxury-brand tenant mix and curating an unparalleled
shopping experience, further energising the vibrancy of the Nanjing
Road West retail district.

The Group's brand presence has been reinforced through the opening
of the HKRI Corporate Gallery in Shanghai, showcasing its expertise in
creating exceptional spaces. The Group is exploring asset-light
investment opportunities to diversify revenue streams while enhancing
operational efficiency, allowing greater flexibility in adapting to market
demands, and optimising resource allocation.

SERBEREARR=ZAMBRKEETTS
M- REN[EHRE I BN S FHEEM
Hh o EBTERERJACERBAKRERL -
BMRERTHREEMBEBSRORE - K
SEEFGHNNRERS -

EPEEEXTEFERSTERNER HILFENM
EASRE LLESEHEREFTIRE2E R
THE RREABSHINRE RN R &
ZIRBEREBERZD - RIBENDHH
DEERPHEEALE E-—SRHUHGEEE
TEANBEHL - RMBEFEELTH
miEHFAG LEEBYVER "RERA
BEEBIEASTIIE T -

FEEERXBEBRCERBR LEME £—F
RASENRELR  TEBRRMGESY
ZRNEN SENIRREEERERA
NARKERE —THRAEZENGE <
SERERIREMEF R AEELER
BEE -
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Chairman’s Statement

ER|E

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Recognising climate change as one of the critical challenges, we have
further strengthened our ESG governance and management framework
to drive meaningful impact. The Group's updated environmental targets
now encompass carbon emissions, energy usage, and water
conservation, alongside newly established goals for fuel usage, waste
diversion, and the introduction of electric buses. In parallel, we are
proactively advancing green building certifications across the projects in
Discovery Bay and mainland China, reinforcing our commitment to
sustainable development. As we continue to champion renewable
energy generation, we have expanded our focus to biodiversity
preservation, ensuring that our operations contribute to the ecological
health of the communities we serve. The launch of DBee Qasis, a
pioneering initiative in HK designed to support pollinator habitats,
stands as a testament to our dedication to fostering a more sustainable
and biodiverse future.

OUTLOOK & PROSPECTS

While external challenges may persist, the Group continues to
implement robust cost management strategies, optimising its
operational framework to maintain competitiveness and leveraging
artificial intelligence technologies where applicable to maximise
efficiencies and quality.

’| 2 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2024/2025
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Success in property development relies on excellence, both in favourable
and challenging times. The Group remains focused on strengthening its
operational capabilities across regions through meticulous planning and
quality execution, while staying agile to market conditions.

Despite near-term headwinds, the Group’s solid foundation provides
resilience. With its commitment to innovation and strategic
implementation, we are well-positioned to pursue sustainable growth
and unlock long-term opportunities.

APPRECIATION

I .extend my sincere thanks to our Board of Directors for their guidance
and to our dedicated teams across all regions for their commitment to
excellence. Their unwavering dedication continues to be fundamental to
our success.

RN

Victor CHA
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong
18 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

The Company is a diversified conglomerate focusing primarily on
property development and investment. The Group's strategy centres on
enhancing asset value through the continued development of flagship
projects, including Discovery Bay ("DB") and HKRI Taikoo Hui ("HTH"). The
Group is committed to acquiring land parcels and projects of varying
scale for development and redevelopment, while maximising the value
of its existing investment properties. The Group continues to identify
opportunities to expand its property portfolio and participate in high-
quality projects through a light asset approach.

LAND BANK

As of 31 March 2025, the Group's total attributable land bank (including
that held directly by joint ventures) amounted to 8,609,000 square feet,
earmarked for property development subject to fulfilment of related
terms and conditions.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT

The Group's revenue from property development and investment in
FY2025, including the proportionate share of joint ventures and
associates of HK$1,345 million (2024: HKS$1,233 million), was HK$2,174
million, decreased from HK$4,339 million in the previous year.
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The contribution from property development and investment, including
the proportionate share of joint ventures and associates of HK$151
million (2024: HK$163 million), was HK$379 million (2024: HKS$S376
million).

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Hong Kong

The removal of property cooling measures in early 2024 brought modest
improvements in market sentiment. HK's first-hand residential market
showed increased activity throughout most of 2024, supported by lower
mortgage interest rates and relaxed mortgage rules.

The stamp duty reduction announced in the 2025-26 Budget slightly
lifted market sentiment. However, residential property sales continued to
be impacted by sluggish economic conditions. Recent US tariffs may
delay interest rate cuts, potentially increasing costs for property buyers.
The recent global trade tensions also clouded consumers’ willingness to
purchase property.

At DB, where the Group holds a 50% interest, the DB 2.0 Blueprint
progressed during FY2025. Under Master Plan 7.0E, the new residential
development in DB North will add over 1.3 million square feet of GFA,
delivering more than 1,400 residential units in a green setting with a
central park. The first phase of this hillside development, comprising
approximately 320 units, is under construction with sales tentatively
scheduled for late 2025 or early 2026.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Other enhancement in progress under the DB 2.0 Blueprint included
upgrading works at Discovery Bay Golf Club ("DBGC") that will enhance
golfing experience, and improvement works to Club Siena's facilities.
A new multi-recreation complex offering diverse indoor and outdoor
leisure and sporting facilities is under construction. Foundation and site
formation works are completed, with main contract works expected to
commence in the fourth quarter of 2025.

The Town Planning Board has approved future residential developments
at DB Area 6f, offering panoramic sea views; and DB Area 10b, featuring a
350-metre waterfront promenade adjacent to Lantau Yacht Club (“LYC"),
an international marina club, solidifying the Group's future development.

Recent years have seen continuous enhancement of community
amenities, developing DB into a vibrant community that promotes
environmental awareness, active lifestyle, and holistic well-being. FY2025
featured signature events including “TheNextwave XX24 Beach Music
Festival’, HK's largest beach music festival; “Discovery Bay Easter Egg
Hunt on the Beach”, the city’s iconic Easter family event; together with
the popular monthly Sunday Market, summer and winter promotions
etc. Various sports competitions spanning races, tennis, figure skating,
ice hockey, golf and pickleball further enriched lifestyle offerings. These
initiatives help create a distinct resort atmosphere, attracting discerning
homebuyers and enhancing resident satisfaction.

VILLA LUCCA, a luxury residential project in Tai Po (40:60 joint venture
with Hysan Development Company Limited), continued to attract local
buyers while seeing increased interest from mainland China and
overseas purchasers.

The Hollywood Road and Upper Lascar Row project will be developed
into premium serviced apartments, comprising approximately 26,500
square feet of GFA with 54 mid-sized to small units. Construction
completion is targeted by mid-2026.
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The Group's residential projects in HK are summarised below:

Projects
BB
Poggibonsi, DB i =& 212

IL PICCO, DB ffii= /&= 1%

VILLA LUCCA, Tai Po RIFARIE L3

SENFSEETEAHANT

Status as of 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HHMRR

(50% owned) (15 50% 1 #= )

Total units {2 E: 196
Units sold 2 & & {z: 195
(2 sold during FY2025 / 2025 B & & 2 1@)

Sales proceeds generated during FY2025: HK$36 million
2025 F S EWE 36 HE BT

Revenue of 3 sold units recognised during FY2025

3EEEBEMAIWAER20258 F A Bk

(50% owned) (1 50% & &

Total units 25 { #2 #{: 21 garden houses 21 % 1t B ¥ &
Unitssold 2 £3¥E:10

(1 sold during FY2025 / 2025 81 4 & H 1 1)

Sales proceeds generated during FY2025: HK$60 million
2025 FHEWE C60EBE T
Revenue of 1 sold unit recognised during FY2025

1EE EXE U A E A20258 F A Bk

(40% owned) (1& 40% # & )
Total units 25 1 48 &: 262
Unitssold 2 £ & {:112
(56 sold during FY2025 / 2025 84 4F & ! 56)

Sales proceeds generated during FY2025: HK$1,388
million

202581 FEHE W 1 1,388BF BB T

Revenue of 56 sold units recognised during FY2025
5618 B S E U K WA B R20258 F A Bk
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Mainland China

The Central Government implemented proactive initiatives throughout
2024 to strengthen end-user and upgrader demand while stabilising
confidence in the real estate sector. These policies, including eased
purchase restrictions and tax cuts on large home transactions, combined
with favourable mortgage conditions, have helped steady residential
sales, particularly in first-tier cities. Mainland China is expected to
implement additional stimulus policies to boost domestic spending and
improve property market sentiment.

The Group has effectively leveraged market recovery opportunities
through its focus on major cities, premium product quality, and
adaptable marketing strategies. Given the current global economic
environment, the Group will implement diverse sales strategies while
exploring business diversification, including light asset management
opportunities. Investment decisions will follow a prudent approach,
focusing on high-quality residential projects in first-tier and key cities.

R A it

R IR 1R 2024 4F SR BUAE A 69 0T HE 5 0 R
HMEXATHBEBENFT R AERTHBE
TENEL BRREBERERE LR R AR
FEXZH MELEBRBEE BHRE
EEHE ETFH KA THNEZELER
Z-EHPEAMKEREZREEHEK
R URBERAEERETRASR

SEFEINTERMELELEERRE - WK
BENTISRE ROLEBMEEKSE-
ERBAZREERE SERKERZ T
MIHERE FRRREEETESHEBMN
TREG SESEEZEEREFR S %
E-RLEHBTHEEEEREAE -

20 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2024/2025




The Group's current key mainland China residential projects are:

Projects GFA (sq. ft.)

HE HEEEE(EAR)
Jiaxing, Zhejiang # )L & & ® H

Sienna One 1,415,000

GESE

Hangzhou, Zhejiang 37 I & #i M

IN One 430,000
mEE

Shanghai £ &

River One 350,000
£ 52 R

SEOPEAMEEEEMANT

Status as of 31 March 2025
BIE2025F3 A31 HMMRR

To be developed into a premium apartment complex with a plot ratio of 2.1
BERRSREETKE  WELERF2

Marketing and promotion began in early 2025, with sales gallery opening in
the third quarter of 2025

2025 F VIR MR - Wi R 2025FE=FHRRIHEE

First phase launch scheduled for the fourth quarter of 2025
8B R0 F FEFHE

295 residential units

205 A EE L

Occupancy commenced in April 2024

2024F 4 A B 18 A K

Cumulative sales revenue of approximately RMB200 million as of 31 March
2025

B E2025F3A31H  EAHERANRARK 20088 T

262 units with a plot ratio of 1.1

262B B {7 - &L R A1

Superstructure works topped out in April 2024
FERETIRN2024F4AFIR

Over 90% units sold as of 31 March 2025, with all apartment units sold

B E2025F3A31H B EHBBOKEN - ERABEMLEEE
Official handover to commence in August 2025

#2025 % 8 A IE 20 A& 1+
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Hong Kong

FY2025 saw continued pressure on the local retail sector due to
changing inbound tourist consumption patterns and increased
Mainland-bound tourism. The office rental market experienced elevated
vacancy rates amid economic sluggishness and corporate restructuring.

Despite these challenges and intense competition across districts, the
Group's retail and office portfolio maintained stable occupancy rates
through diverse tenant mix and strategic marketing initiatives.

With evolving consumer preferences and competitive retail leasing
conditions, tenant retention remains the Group's priority. The Group
offers competitive rental packages with flexible terms in maintaining
stable occupancy while building sustainable tenant relationships.

The Group's investment properties in DB (50% interest), comprising DB
Plaza and its extension, along with DB North, achieved an average
occupancy rate of approximately 80%.

New restaurants and retail outlets have been introduced through tenant
reshuffling to maintain a balanced business mix serving resident needs.
Plans are progressing to enhance DB's facilities and connectivity for
improved resident and visitor experience.
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CDW Building in Tsuen Wan maintained resilience with an average S LK BT TE E 4)89% o 8K
occupancy rate of approximately 89%. The 8 retail arcade B XRIVIEML TEHEEBEL ARG A ATIE
demonstrated promising performance with increased retail sales and & + 15 HH KiE93% o

foot traffic, achieving an average occupancy rate of 93%.

The United Daily News Centre in To Kwa Wan recorded an average MR LTMENHAEBRAEHSFHHEXA
occupancy rate of 90%. Approval for land use conversion from industrial ~ 90% ° KB L AR ESM T £¥E AT ER
to residential has been obtained, pending land premium finalisation. 7o RHHTEEMOESE-

West Gate Tower in Cheung Sha Wan secured new tenants and achieved {7 X & Y ¥ &) 75 78 &0 & & O 5K I TR 4y 37 1
an average occupancy rate of 85%. The Wellgan Villa residential property P » 72202581 & F 5 1 f & &85% - L BE#E
in Kowloon Tong maintained a stable average occupancy rate of 98%. MEETARESHEBENRFBEN T HEA
K 3% QR0 o
20 2% 98%
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Mainland China

The HKRI Centres One and Two office towers at HTH in Shanghai (50%
interest) achieved a combined average occupancy rate of close to 96%
in FY2025, significantly exceeding market expectations despite
challenging conditions and intense competition.

HTH strengthened its position as a premier luxury and lifestyle shopping
destination through ongoing mall reconfiguration to enhance tenant
mix. These improvements resulted in a modest 1.6% decline in foot
traffic and reduced occupancy rates, with the retail segment maintaining
an average occupancy rate of approximately 80%. In FY2025, the
improvement works to enhance connectivity between the underground
commercial area and the North Piazza were completed to ensure better
access to various floors and elevated visitors' shopping experiences.
Other planned facility and brand upgrades are in the pipeline, which aim
to deliver fresh experiences and reinforce HTH's market leadership.

In Hangzhou, HKR International Centre, comprising 156 office units and
usage rights for 62 parking lots, recorded an average occupancy rate of
83% in FY2025. The thriving artificial intelligence and digital media
sectors provided strategic opportunities amid macroeconomic
uncertainties. The Group actively targeted tenants from these sectors to
maintain office leasing performance. As Hangzhou's office market
stabilises, the Group continues implementing effective marketing
strategies and property enhancements to boost competitiveness and
attract quality tenants. In Tianjin, The Exchange (15% owned) achieved
an average occupancy rate of around 90%.
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TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

DB's transportation operations (50% interest) saw stabilising demand for
ferry and bus services in FY2025, driven by visitor growth from flagship
events.

However, challenges continued, including rising fuel and operational
costs and significant labour shortages, particularly among drivers. While
the HKSAR Government has maintained ferry service financial assistance
since 2020 and provided driver importation quotas, operational
conditions remain challenging.

The Group secured a new five-year DB ferry service licence effective
1 April 2025. Other developments in ferry operations included: replacing
the main engines for two mono-hull vessels to improve operational
efficiency and energy savings, launching e-payment via AlipayHK from
1 December 2024, and collaborating with Hong Kong Sea School in
order to address workforce ageing through stable labour supply.

In land transport, new electric vehicle charging facilities for buses have
been installed in DB. A single-deck electric bus is scheduled for
deployment in the third quarter of 2025, with three additional electric
midi-buses planned for 2026 delivery. The Group is also partnering with
the Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute on
an autonomous bus trial between DB North and Sunny Bay.
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PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The Group's property management services in DB and across HK
maintained excellence in FY2025, securing notable awards for
sustainability initiatives and service quality.

The Group received the ‘“Individual Sustainable Development Goals
Award — Goal 17: Partnerships for the Goals Project Award” from the
Green Council, and the “Gold Award" at the “Hong Kong Awards for
Environmental Excellence”, a prestigious recognition in HK’s
environmental sector, demonstrating its commitment to sustainable
practices and responsible management.

The Hong Kong Institute of Housing's award for “Best ESG Management
Team” further recognised the Group's professional excellence in ESG
practices, reinforcing its industry standing.

HOTEL OPERATIONS AND LEISURE
BUSINESSES

HK's tourism sector performance remained subdued. While visitor arrivals
increased 30.9% year-on-year in 2024, sector recovery was hampered by
increased outbound travel to mainland China, a strong Hong Kong
dollar, and macroeconomic uncertainty.
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The Group’s hotel operations in HK, Shanghai and Bangkok
demonstrated resilience in FY2025, adapting to market changes and
evolving consumer preferences.

DB's unique resort destination status and diverse hospitality offerings
position it well to capture the rising experiential travel demand,
supported by cross-selling initiatives within the Group's leisure brands
and partnerships with leading external brands.

HOTEL OPERATIONS

Hong Kong

In addition to changing consumption patterns, the reintroduction of a 3%
Hotel Accommodation Tax from 1 January 2025 further increased cost
pressures on room rates. These challenges are anticipated to be
mitigated partly by government initiatives to attract mega events and
the expanded multiple-entry Individual Visit Scheme.

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong (“Auberge”) (50% owned) is actively
pursuing business opportunities through overseas sales trips and
participation in travel trade shows and wedding expos. The hotel’s
inaugural participation in the Hong Kong Tourism Board's Wine & Dine
Festival in October 2024 provided a valuable platform to showcase its
culinary offerings and unique hospitality experiences.
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Mainland China

Mainland's tourism and hospitality sector maintained strong
performance throughout 2024, supported by robust inbound travel
demand and increased international visits through visa-free and visa-on-
arrival policies. Premium hotels in tier-one cities consistently achieved
high occupancy rates.

The Sukhothai Shanghai (“TSS") (50% owned) demonstrated robust
recovery and strategic growth in 2024, outperforming its competitors in
key performance metrics. This was particularly evident during the China
International Import Expo, highlighting TSS's strong pricing power and
effective revenue management during high-demand events. Meanwhile,
the performance of The Middle House (50% owned) continued to
improve steadily.

The hotels will continue to differentiate through diverse accommodation
offerings, personalised guest experiences and exceptional service
standards.

Thailand

Thailand’s tourism sector experienced a nearly full recovery to pre-
pandemic levels in 2024, driven by strong demand for leisure
destinations. However, summer 2025 presents new challenges, as global
developments have tempered travel enthusiasm, prompting greater
caution among travellers. Despite this, The Sukhothai Bangkok continues
to reinforce its position as a leader in luxury hospitality while prioritising
sustainable tourism practices.
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The Sukhothai Spa, alongside strategic promotional efforts, has nearly
doubled spa revenue year-over-year, delivering substantial margin
improvements despite an increasingly competitive landscape.
Nevertheless, revised forecasts for Bangkok indicate softened arrivals
across leisure, corporate, incentive, and event businesses in the
upcoming summer season.

In response, the Group remains focused on high-spending core markets,
including the US, UK and Europe, while expanding its reach into
emerging luxury travel sectors in India and the Middle East. At the same
time, the Group continues to strengthen collaborations with key partners
in Asia, including Malaysia, HK, Taiwan, Singapore, Japan, and Korea, to
maximise Thailand’s summer tourism potential and optimise profitability.

LEISURE BUSINESSES

DB's premium leisure portfolio comprises four membership clubs:
Discovery Bay Recreation Club ("DBRC"), Club Siena, DBGC and LYC,
alongside the DB Ice Rink (“DBIR"). These facilities (in which the Group
maintains a 50% ownership) are establishing industry leadership through
innovative design, infrastructure and operational excellence.

LYC maintained its position as a premier marina in HK, receiving the “Best
New Marina in Asia” award from Yacht Style. The annual LYC Boat
Show — Festa Nautica featured premium yacht displays and luxury
lifestyle experiences.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LYC expanded into the wedding and event segment, garnering
recognition for its hospitality, food quality, and service standards. Caffé
Napoli demonstrated environmental commitment by participating in
the “Food Wise Eateries” Scheme and “Food Wise Charter” in 2024.

DBGC recorded increased membership transfer transactions as the year
concluded, reflecting successful member engagement initiatives. The
new transportation service between the clubhouse and Sunny Bay was
launched to enhance member and guest experience.

DBIR strengthened its position as an international ice sports venue
through various competitions, including figure skating, short-track speed
skating, and ice hockey. Notable events in 2024 include ISI Hong Kong
Invitational, DB Open FS Challenge, Hong Kong Novice Short Track Trial,
Hong Kong Short Track Speed Skating Championships, Hong Kong Cup
Short Track Speed Skating, East West Spring Classic Hong Kong, Asia
Super League, and the Greater Bay Classic 3 on 3.

DBIR has partnered with the Hong Kong Academy of Ice Hockey since
January 2025 to provide training for primary school students, supporting
ice hockey development in HK.

FEERR W
Kong China Skal

. Hong
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SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT AND
RECOGNITION

The FY2025 has seen escalating climate-related disruptions globally, with
HK facing record temperature and unprecedented rainfall. These events
highlight the urgent need to tackle climate change and pursue
sustainability. The Group remains committed to responsible business
practices and sustainability-driven growth despite operational challenges
and shifting global dynamics.

In its ongoing efforts to contribute to broader climate ambitions, the
Group supports HK's “Climate Action Plan 2050", mainland China’s
carbon neutrality goal by 2060, and Thailand’s target for 2050. The Group
recognises the need for ambitious yet practical internal objectives. In
light of its growing business scale and the evolving economic
environment, the Group has recalibrated four key environmental targets:
greenhouse gas emissions, water consumption, electricity usage and
waste management. The waste management target now focuses on
overall waste diversion rather than just reducing paper waste. The Group
also aims to enhance sustainable transport through electric buses
adoption and reduced vehicle fuel consumption. Furthermore, the
Group is committed to green building certifications and specific
construction waste diversion rate for projects in DB and mainland China.
These changes reflect its proactive approach to environmental
management while minimising operational impact.

Guided by its five sustainability strategy pillars, the Group strives to
create lasting value for its stakeholders while contributing to selected
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals ("UNSDG").
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

To enhance climate-related transparency, the Group is improving
disclosures by aligning with the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures and referencing “IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures”. As
market and regulatory expectations evolve, the Group will monitor
developments to provide clearer, more meaningful information to
stakeholders and potential investors.

The Group's commitment to sustainability has been recognised with
several accolades in FY2025, including the “Pioneering Award for Climate
Disclosure Contribution” at the “Hong Kong Green and Sustainable
Finance Awards”, the “Certificate of Excellence” at the “Hong Kong
Sustainability Award”, and the “Sustainable Organisation — Merit” at the
"UNSDG Achievement Awards Hong Kong” for the second consecutive
year.

In an increasingly complex landscape, the Group remains dedicated to
its sustainability vision and contributing to a low-carbon economy
through action, innovation and transparency. Interested stakeholders
may refer to the online "ESG Report” for more details.

REDUCING OUR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS

The Group is strengthening its environmental initiatives with a focus on
operational responsibility, resource efficiency and long-term
sustainability.

During FY2025, the Group updated its “Environmental Policy” to enhance
its environmental management practices, outlining its approach to
reducing environmental impact. This new policy complements its
existing “Sustainability Policy” and “Climate Change Policy”, creating a
more comprehensive framework for environmental management across
business units.
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https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2024-2025.pdf?la=en&hash=37446357BA101F0FFB8D0ABA3C07A0399437F2C9
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https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2024-2025.pdf?la=zh-tw&hash=05EC36C17CC5D9A955A2D6C4E887CC45C8DF2A49

The Group revised four environmental targets to adopt a more
representative baseline, as the original baseline year (Financial year
ended 31 March 2019) was before the onset of COVID-19. Subsequent
shifts in data trends have made the original comparisons and projections
less reliable. The target scope was also updated to align with changes in
the Group's reporting boundary, ensuring a more accountable approach.
The Group also introduced two new targets to promote sustainable
transport, focusing on replacing its fleet with electric buses and reducing
vehicle fuel consumption.

Significant progress was also made in renewable energy use and
resource conservation. During FY2025, 139 additional solar panels were
installed at the DB warehouse and staff quarters generating over 454,800
kWh of solar energy as of 31 March 2025. The Group also procured one
electric bus and three diesel coaches that meet Euro VI emission
standards, reinforcing its commitment to reducing transport-related
emissions.

To reinforce its commitment to the environment, the Group added a
new section on biodiversity preservation in this year's "ESG Report”. Key
initiatives include mangrove planting, collaboration with academic
institutions on ecosystem monitoring, and community eco-tours to
promote public awareness and engagement in nature conservation.

BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE AND CARING
COMMUNITY

The Group continues to create a positive social impact by fostering
inclusive, connected and resilient communities through long-standing
and purposeful engagement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group's community strategy focuses on three areas: supporting
those in need, fostering arts and cultural enrichment, and building a
loveable community where people can live, work, and grow together.
This year, the Group maintained its efforts with activities such as elderly
visits, participation in charitable events like “Walk for Water”, community
celebrations, and arts programmes that engage residents in creative
workshops and performing arts experiences, including Cantonese opera
performances.

A key initiative in FY2025 was the continued expansion of the HKRI Love
& Design CSR Programme, aimed at enhancing learning environments
for students with diverse educational needs. To date, the programme
has successfully upgraded five campuses across HK and mainland China,
and the sixth project is in the pipeline. This initiative seeks to create
inclusive educational spaces that promote equal opportunities and long-
term development for all students.

Additionally, in FY2025, the Group's sponsorships and donations to
charitable organisations totalled HK$4.2 million, along with over 1,100
hours of community service contributed by its employees. These
outcomes reflect its ongoing commitment to social responsibility and
inclusive community development.

A SUPPORTIVE AND EMPLOYEE-CENTRIC
WORKPLACE

As of 31 March 2025, the Group employed 1,492 individuals across a
diverse range of businesses. In response to the dynamic talent landscape,
the Group is committed to advancing its human capital strategies,

ensuring employees are equipped with skills needed to thrive. The
Group is dedicated to building a workplace culture centred on employee
engagement and professional fulfilment.
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The Group continues to attract and retain talent through well-structured
career development and a comprehensive range of employee benefits.
Personal development programmes include the “ChatGPT & Generative
Al Training Series” and “Embracing Change: Unlocking Potential Series”.
To build a future talent pipeline, the Group collaborated with The
University of Hong Kong on a STEM Internship Scheme, offering young
professionals structured opportunities to explore STEM disciplines.

Employee well-being remains a key priority for the Group. “The PRI’DE
Wellness Programme”, along with HKRI Fun Club, promote employee
relations and engagement, offering a variety of wellness, sports, leisure
activities, and festive events throughout FY2025. These initiatives support
employees’ physical and mental well-being and foster inter-
departmental employee cohesion.

To support a safe and healthy working environment, the Group
maintains Occupational Safety and Health Committees and working
groups across the Group. These teams work together to implement
relevant safety measures, carry out regular risk assessments and conduct
monthly workplace inspections to keep its people safe.

In recognition of its efforts to create a supportive and engaging
workplace, the Group was honoured with the “Grand Prize Award” at the
“ERB Manpower Development Award Scheme”, alongside accolades in
the “Best Corporate Wellbeing Programme Award - Grand’, “Best
Employee Engagement Strategy Award — Grand” and “Best Gen Z
Attraction Award — Gold” at the CTgoodjobs Best HR Awards.
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PROVIDING QUALITY AND RELIABLE SERVICES
AND PRODUCTS

The Group remains committed to delivering high-quality and reliable
products and services through a robust assurance framework integrated
across its operations. This framework aligns with regulatory requirements
and industry best practices, and supports excellence at every stage.

The Group also maintains tailored customer feedback mechanisms
across business units to enhance service and ensure timely responses to
customer needs.

In the property development operations, quality is managed through a
structured process from tendering to post-sale services, with rigorous
standards upheld at every stage. The Group's property management
teams engage with owners’ organisations and representatives through
regular reports and meetings to gather feedback and address concerns.
The Group's restaurants consistently strive to deliver high-quality dining
experiences and provide premium service to customers.

During FY2025, LYC was proud to receive the prestigious “Best New
Marina in Asia” award at the “Yacht Style Awards”. The Sukhothai
Bangkok earned “Two MICHELIN Keys” from “MICHELIN Key Hotels". Its
restaurants under The Sukhothai Bangkok were recognised for their
catering quality and guest experience, reflecting the Group’s dedication
to excellence and continuous improvement.
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CREATING A RESPONSIBLE VALUE CHAIN

A responsible and well-managed value chain is essential for delivering
quality products and services while upholding ethical and environmental
standards. The Group collaborates closely with a wide network of
suppliers and contractors, supported by structured procurement
practices that emphasise experience, competence and integrity. Its “Tender
and Procurement Policies” ensure transparent, fair and competitive
sourcing, with strong controls in place to prevent misconduct and
ensure compliance.

To promote sustainability across the supply chain, the Group has
implemented a new “Green Procurement Policy” and a “Supplier Code of
Conduct”. The “Green Procurement Policy” guides sustainable
procurement practices, while the “Supplier Code of Conduct” outlines
expectations for ethical conduct and environmental responsibility. These
frameworks encourage the use of environmentally responsible materials
and integrate sustainability considerations into procurement decisions,
prioritising energy efficiency, emissions reduction and environmental
performance.

Beyond procurement, the Group aims to influence the broader value

chain by raising awareness and sharing knowledge. It collaborates with
government departments, non-governmental organisations and
business partners to host educational fairs and interactive booths that
engage stakeholders on topics such as recycling, upcycling, energy
conservation and ecological protection.
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Board of Directors
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Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor 84, mMBA, aged 75, was appointed as Executive
Director and Chairman of the Company in 1989 and November 2020
respectively. He was the Managing Director and the Deputy Chairman of
the Company until his appointment as Chairman. Mr CHA is also a
member of the Corporate Governance Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a director of some
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 40 years’ extensive experience
in real estate development and textile manufacturing. Mr CHA is a
director of LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ Regents”) and ceased as a
NED of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”, a subsidiary of CCM Trust (Cayman)
Limited (“CCM Trust")) with effect from 12 March 2024. Mingly, CCM Trust
and LBJ Regents are substantial shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO and together whose interests in the
Company represent the substantial interests of the Cha Family in the
Company. Mr CHA retired as the chairman of Hong Kong Arts Festival
Society Limited in Oct 2024. He is a governor of the China-United States
Exchange Foundation and is also a member of the board of trustees of
The Better Hong Kong Foundation and trustee of Sang Ma Trust Fund
("Sang Ma"). Mr CHA is the father of Mr Benjamin CHA and a sibling to Ms
Madeline WONG and Mr Johnson CHA.
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Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, aged 85, was appointed as Non-
executive Deputy Chairman of the Company in November 2020. She
joined the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as Non-executive
Director of the Company in December 2004. Ms WONG is also the
chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee and a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. She is the executive chairman of Mingly and also a director of
a number of private companies in Hong Kong and overseas, including
LBJ Regents. Ms WONG is the chairman and a trustee of Sang Ma. She is
a sibling to Mr Victor CHA and Mr Johnson CHA as well as an aunt of Mr
Benjamin CHA.

Mr TANG Moon Wah BA (Arch Studies), BArch, aged 71, was appointed as
Managing Director of the Company in November 2020. He was
appointed as Executive Director of the Company in December 2004 and
is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company. Mr TANG has
been serving in the Group since 1985 and has over 45 years’ extensive
experience in property development. He is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Architects (“HKIA") and has been an Authorised
Person (Architect) and Registered Architect since 1982 and 1991
respectively.
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Board of Directors
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Mr LEE Yue Kong Martin 8A (Arch Studies), MArch, RA(HK), RA(PRC Class | Qualification),
aged 54, was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in June
2025 and is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company. He
joined the Group in 2004 and currently serves as Chief Projects Officer
overseeing the Group project management teams in Hong Kong,
mainland China and Southeast Asia. Prior to joining the Group, Mr LEE
gained extensive experience in architectural design and project
management across various architectural consulting companies, with 29
years in the property development industry. He graduated from the
University of Hong Kong in 1995 with a master degree in Architecture.
Mr LEE is a member of HKIA and a Registered Architect in the Architects
Registration Board. He also holds the PRC Class | Registered Architect
Quialification and has been an Authorised Person (Architect) since 2000.

Ms NGAN Man Ying BA (Business), FCCA, CPA, aged 59, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in February 2021 and is also a
director of some subsidiaries of the Company. She joined the Group in
2018 and currently serves as Chief Financial Officer in leading the Group
finance and treasury functions as well as overseeing the Group's
residential property management, transportation services, information
technology, procurement, corporate communications and legal
functions. Before joining the Group, Ms NGAN had held several senior
positions in New World group and an international accounting firm. She
has over 38 years' extensive experience in finance function and in
property development sector. Ms NGAN holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business from the University of Southern Queensland and is a Certified
Public Accountant of the HKICPA and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom
("ACCA").
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Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson 85, M4, aged 73, joined the Board in 1989 and
was re-designated as Non-executive Director of the Company in
December 2004. He is also a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr CHA has over 40 years' extensive experience in venture
capital and investment management and is currently the chairman of CM.
Capital Advisors (HK) Limited, non-executive chairman of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) and a NED of Mingly and
Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (“Million Hope”). Hanison and
Million Hope are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also an INED of
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and a director of a number of other
companies in Hong Kong and overseas including CCM Trust and LBJ
Regents. Mr CHA is a member in non-profit organisations including Qiu
Shi Science & Technologies Foundation and Moral Education Concern
Group. He is also a Co-opted External Member to the Finance Committee
of the Council of The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
("HKUST") and a member to the court of HKUST. Mr CHA is a sibling to Ms
Madeline WONG and Mr Victor CHA as well as an uncle of Mr Benjamin
CHA.

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
BERESLE

Non-executive Director

FUTES

BB S Heps mBa - 7358 0 RN1989F MAE S
g WHR2004FN2ARERARRIERNITE
E-BNBEARRETHBRARIZEE &
FERRBEARKEETE A AEEBIREA
FEE &R IR ACM. Capital Advisors (HK)
Limited 2 £ /% - BB A EZERER AR ([ H
B ZIERITERE  URBNIREFTEEE
BRERAR(EFDZERE - BBEREF
AR Em - IR LEHMERITER
RAIZBERZREBREINAF (BIECCM
Trust 2 LBJRegents) < E % ° B A L HB K
EREECEREEBFINESEZRIELFN
BE2BE BETAEBNERBIRK]D
REGYHZESHILEINTBKE - ARE
AEBEHZEEeKB BLEXEATEERELX T
LEBKEEZBRERFEEZH -

EREEEREEFRAT 2024/2025 £ 41




Board of Directors
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Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin 84, mMBA aged 51, was appointed as Non-
executive Director of the Company in July 2022. He has over 20 years'
experience in property investment, property development and fund
management. Mr CHA is the founder and currently the chair of Serakai
Group Limited (formerly known as Seradac Foundation Limited) and was
previously the chief executive and director of Grosvenor Limited, the
managing director and the head of global real estate for Greater China of
UBS Global Asset Management and Co-CEO of UBS/Gemdale. Prior to
these, he was an ED and Head of HKR Asia-Pacific of the Company until
he left the Company in July 2013. Mr CHA is a NED of Mingly. He is also
active in non-profit making organisations and currently an advisor of Our
Hong Kong Foundation as well as serving on the board of the Urban
Land Institute and the Asia Art Archive Limited. Mr CHA has a master’s
degree of Business Administration from Stanford University and a
bachelor of arts degree in International Politics and Economics from
Middlebury College. He is the son of Mr Victor CHA and a nephew of Ms
Madeline WONG and Mr Johnson CHA.

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus 8ssc, Jp, aged 77, joined the Board in January
2006 and was re-designated as Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in March 2012, He is also the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr CHEUNG is an INED of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited
which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He ceased as the board of
directors of Sotheby's with effect from 3 October 2019 due to its
privatisation and delisted from the New York Stock Exchange on the
same day. Mr CHEUNG was also the chief executive of Hong Kong
Telecommunications Limited from 1994 to 2000, deputy chairman of
PCCW Limited from August 2000 to February 2004 and INED of Taikang
Life Insurance Co. Ltd. from 2005 to 2011.
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Ms CHIU Kwai Fong Florence Bsc, CTA, ACA, JP, aged 64, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in March 2025.
She is also a member of the Audit Committee and the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company. Ms CHIU was a partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC") until her retirement in June 2021.
During her 32-year journey with PwC, she held various leadership roles
within PwC, including Asia Pacific Financial Services Tax Leader, Asia
Pacific Asset & Wealth Management Tax Leader, China Financial Services
Tax Leader, and China Private Equity Tax Leader. After retirement, Ms
CHIU took up the role of PwC's senior advisor focusing on government
relations, ESG, and financial service development including sustainable
finance from July 2021 till June 2024.

Ms CHIU has a long record of public services in the HKSAR and is
currently a member of the Listing Review Committee of the Stock
Exchange, a member of the Financial Infrastructure and Market
Development Sub-Committee under the Exchange Fund Advisory
Committee of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, the co-chair of the
Greater Bay Area Green Finance Alliance Working Group of the Hong
Kong Green Finance Association and the co-chair of the Golden Z Club
Committee, Zonta Club of the New Territories. In addition, she was an
ex-officio member of the Financial Services Development Council of the
HKSAR (“FSDC"), the convenor of the FSDC's New Business Committee, a
member of the Executive Committee and vice chairman of The
Alternative Investment Management Association — Hong Kong Branch
and also the chairman of its Tax Subcommittee.

Ms CHIU is a member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Chartered Institute of Taxation (UK), the HKICPA,
and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. She is also a registered
accountant in Macau. Ms CHIU graduated from Imperial College, United
Kingdom, with a degree in Computer Science.
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Independent Non-executive Director
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Board of Directors
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Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry 84, 118 85, Jp, aged 77, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in November
2017. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr FAN has over 35 years' experience in
business management. He is currently an INED of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange and the
managing director of Hong Kong Glory Limited, a family investment
company. Mr FAN also served as a director and then managing director
of CITIC Pacific Limited (now known as CITIC Limited) from 1990 and
1992 respectively to 2009 and the deputy chairman of Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited from 1997 to 2009. He has a long record of public
services in the HKSAR and is currently the chairman of the Hospital
Authority and West Kowloon Cultural District Foundation Limited. Mr
FAN was also a non-official member of the Executive Council of Hong
Kong, the chairman of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority, a NED of Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
("SFC"), a member of the board of the West Kowloon Cultural District
Authority and an INED of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
("HKEC"). He is an Attorney-at-Law in the State of California, U.S.A. and
Barrister-at-Law in Hong Kong and England and Wales.
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Ms Barbara SHIU
e

Independent Non-executive Director

BAFIITES

[ofegun

Ms Barbara SHIU 8sc M84, aged 69, was appointed as Independent Non- BB %5 B Z2 £ 8sc msa » 695% * FR2021F 4 A E E
executive Director of the Company in April 2021. Sheis alsoa memberof T AR R A B IFENITES - HIFAEL R 7
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. HE#ZEZEBE@NREZEZEEKE - AAX TR &
Ms SHIU has over 35 years' experience in financial services and had held BIRIS A EI BB F LR TERZRE
several senior positions in various financial institutions including the FIEBEEEFRREBETS LB - R
Bank of China group. She was the general manager of Bank of China (Hong 2014 R KR AR BEIE T (FH) BIR A 74
Kong) Limited in charge of the operational risk and compliance 43 - S ERIER K M A BT - Al 18
department when she retired in 2014. Ms SHIU is currently an INED of & IR ER1T7 AR 2 7 KLivi Holdings Limited 2
Livi Bank Limited and Livi Holdings Limited and chairs the risk BEMBEBRZESTIF HAKBAEELF
committees of both companies. She also has a long record of public ~ BIfTHREM A XREEHER KBRS HEIE
services in the HKSAR and is active in non-profit making organisations. ZF|#E B 2B -AA X T L ABXAAKRE
Ms SHIU was a member of risk management committee of HKEC, the B ZEG@KE BAEZTHFHEEEQLEFEE ST
chairman of Hong Kong Securities Institute, a director of Hong Kong & BAGFRREZE S &/ H A+
Deposit Protection Board and Financial Dispute Resolution Centre, a /O EE - FEEHFEEETEZESBHKEE
member of the international advisory committee of China Securities M ZEBE@KE UWRARBFESGERANZED
Regulatory Commission as well as a member of the product advisory TR EEHRBEARHALTESZKE - HIEFEAEZ
committee and investor education advisory committee of SFC. She P RKELBRBE LBV K T HEEBE L
obtained a bachelor honors degree in Science and a master degree in ~ B2fif ©
Business Administration, both from University of Toronto.

Mr TANG Kwai Chang

2/

WEE L

Independent Non-executive Director

BYFHTES

Mr TANG Kwai Chang FCca, FCPA, aged 72, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in September 2014. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr TANG was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) with
extensive experience in auditing and audit risk management, the vice
chairman of Deloitte China and board member of Deloitte Global when
he retired in May 2013. He is currently an INED of Bank of
Communications (Hong Kong) Limited, Tsit Wing International Holdings
Limited ("Tsit Wing") and Foxconn Interconnect Technology Limited (which
carries on business in Hong Kong as FIT Hon Teng Limited (“FIT")). Both
Tsit Wing and FIT are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr TANG retired as a
convenor of Financial Reporting Review Panel of the Accounting and
Financial Reporting Council with effect from 15 July 2024. He is a fellow
member of both ACCA of the United Kingdom and HKICPA.
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Directors’ Report

EEgRE

The Board of the Company announces the audited final results of the
Group for the FY2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are set
out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 230 to
242.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Results of the Group for the FY2025 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 116.

The Board does not recommend a final dividend to the shareholders of
the Company for the FY2025 (2024: Nil) and no interim dividend was
paid by the Company during FY2025 (2024 Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

The record date for the annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on 20 August 2025 (2025 AGM") is 20 August 2025 and the main
and branch registers of members of the Company will be closed from 15
to 20 August 2025 (both days inclusive). During the period, no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
2025 AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company's share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on 14 August 2025. The notice of the 2025 AGM will be published
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and
despatched to the shareholders of the Company in due course.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Group's business and analysis of the Group's performance
using financial key performance indicators during the year, a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group and an
indication of the likely future development of the Group’s business are
provided in the sections of this annual report headed “Chairman’s
Statement” (on pages 8 to 13), “Management Discussion and Analysis” (on
pages 14 to 37), “Directors’ Report” (on pages 46 to 68), “Financial
Highlights” (on page 100), “Financial Review” (on pages 101 to 105),
"Five-Year Financial Summary” (on page 246) and in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. For review of the development,
performance or position of the Group’s business, the Group’s
environmental policies and performance, compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and
understanding of the Group's key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the
Group, please see sections of this annual report headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” (on pages 14 to 37), “Directors’ Report” (on
pages 46 to 68) and “Corporate Governance Report” (on pages 69 to 99)
as well as the ESG Report of the Group which is published online at the
same time of this annual report. Details of the Company’s compliance
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in the Listing
Rules are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 69 to
99.

The Group has set up proper procedures to ensure adherence to the
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group in conduct of its business, including but not limited to the
Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance, Competition
Ordinance, Buildings Ordinance, Hotel and Guesthouse Accommodation
Ordinance, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Minimum Wage
Ordinance, Employment Ordinance, Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance as well as those related to hotel operation, property sales and
development, leasing and asset management in all jurisdictions in which
the Group operates. Any new enactment of or changes in the relevant
laws and regulations would be communicated to the relevant
departments and staff to ensure compliance. Reminders on compliance
would also be sent out where necessary. During the year under review,
there were no recorded cases of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations regarding the environment, labour standards, occupational
health and safety, anti-corruption or data privacy in Hong Kong and
overseas.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHE

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s business operations, financial health, performance
outcomes, and growth potential may be influenced by various risks and
uncertainties, whether directly or indirectly related to the Group's
activities. The risk factors outlined below are those that could cause
significant deviations in the Group’s business operations, financial
conditions, performance outcomes, or growth prospects from
anticipated or historical results. These factors are not exhaustive or
comprehensive, and there may be additional risks not currently known
to the Group or not presently considered material, which could become
significant in the future. Furthermore, this annual report does not serve
as a recommendation or advice to invest in the Company's securities.
Investors are encouraged to exercise their own judgment or seek advice
from their investment advisors before making any investment decisions
regarding the Company’s securities.

A) RISKS PERTAINING TO PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT

The Group's primary businesses are property development and
investment, with a significant focus on Hong Kong, mainland China, and
Thailand. Various factors, including economic, political, and legal
changes, as well as social issues such as pandemics and shifts in
government policies, can influence the property market in these regions.
These inherent risks may affect the Group's investment strategy, business
model, and overall financial performance. Additionally, fluctuations in
the fair value of investment properties could impact the Group’s ability
to comply with financial covenants under loan facilities and may lead to
negative market perceptions of the Group's performance, despite
unrealised losses.

To mitigate these risks, the Group actively monitors economic, social,
political, legal, and property market developments of those areas,
adjusting its investment strategy to respond promptly and appropriately
to market changes, such as by re-prioritising development projects and
divest non-core assets. For each potential project, the Group conducts
detailed feasibility studies and stress tests, considering all aspects before
making any commitments, and may share risks with potential joint
venture partners when appropriate. Furthermore, the Group remains
attentive to market needs, continuously maintaining the quality of its
investment properties and cultivating a diversified and high-quality
tenant mix to preserve its competitiveness. The Group also closely
monitors its debt and cash positions, preparing cash flow forecasts with
sensitivity analysis to identify all sources of liquidity risk and evaluate the
impact of varying levels of business activity in relation to existing loan
facilities.
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B) RISKS PERTAINING TO OPERATIONS

The Group's operations are subject to various risk factors inherent to the
property development and investment, hospitality, leisure, and
transportation sectors. These risks encompass potential defaults by
contractors, sub-contractors, buyers, and tenants; deficiencies or failures
in internal processes and systems; and external influences such as
pandemics, escalating construction costs, inflationary pressures
including fuel costs, increasing competition, and seasonality. Moreover,
despite established policies and procedures, accidents may occur,
resulting in financial loss, litigation, reputational damage, and negative
impacts on operational outcomes. To mitigate these risks, the Group
regularly reviews and updates its policies and procedures to ensure their
effectiveness and adequacy. It enforces stringent guidelines for selecting
and engaging vendors, closely monitors project timelines and statuses,
and continuously assesses market conditions and changes to implement
appropriate business strategies. For instance, the Group enhances the
foot-flow of its commercial properties by continuous launch of various
attractive events, as well as continuously improving service quality and
facilities of hotel to attract banquets, corporate events, and repeat
customers, thereby protecting and driving profitability. Additionally, the
Group has secured adequate insurance coverage to safeguard against
business interruptions or disasters that may result in income loss.

C) FINANCIAL RISKS

Refinancing loans is essential for maintaining a company’s liquidity and
avoiding financial risks such as higher costs and a damaged credit rating.
Failure to refinance can strain cash flow, hinder operations and growth,
and in extreme cases, lead to insolvency or bankruptcy. To mitigate this
risk, the Group carefully maintains banking facility register and closely
monitor to stay current, aiding in planning financing and refinancing
schedules to meet funding needs.

The major financial instruments of the Group include equity instruments
measured at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, amounts due
from associates, loans to joint ventures, amounts due from joint ventures,
bank balances and cash, other financial assets, trade payables, deposits
received and other financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other
liabilities. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Details of these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 216 to 229.

B) HEBEERMzER

SEZEXRIMERREKRE BEXER
KEARRBRHEHSZREEE ZABRAR
P - EhREEEANBXAIEH B
REMPZEERETR HAMRERFR
Mz RAERE - ARINRIERE - TH £
TR ED SRR - BRR AR B AR A A B i AR B
N BaBRNBRFNEHEFINEZE -
pESN - BOfE 2 HIRT B 88 B 2 B R A2
BOTMALE TR B R #WA s BHKiE
KRR BEXE WRAIRHEEXEEN
—EREZABEE - REBEMERERAR %
Ee TR ERBARRNMEFAEREAS
MM BT BEMMEINEEEZRER
HER BUERBERREERE LMRR  #F
BAETEREARED  BUHTAE X
BREFELEY JINEEEBFERNS
BRYEY URTEBEVENAR L
THRABEENORBERERE Rl E
G LEFHROER WM RERRTE
Megh -EETEBERANFRE - ARE
AEBHRERLEMERZKWARBRRK -

Q) Bri& b

EREEFHERRAANABE S - UL
RMKALEAMEEFRZBRETBRRE
MEZE - EARETBERE Ateyiis
MELEEN MREXBEERER EE2H
BHBERATERETRERBE - BTRE
tERRE SEZEEEFROTEEECH:
VTENEEARFTEBESN - BERERE
MEREE AneEaedK-

EECyEEeRTAREEREQAFESAEM
PEWNRFEZRATAE - HAFEGFAE
B CREE - BBHERAFEZER LA
KE - RBUESER BUBLEARZRE &
HKFEERA BRAEERRKE  RITHE
BEES EMEmEE EBNHEBESEN B
WikekAthemaE RITEEMERNU
LEMmEE ZESem I EAEERRBEEM
SREB(EERR  FIXERBEEMERR
%) FEERRBUEGRHESER ZE o
TAZHBROMABEEBRR 2 KX
FA6EEF29B 2R B HREMF4RA -

FRAREREERIRAT 2024/2025 F# 49



Directors’ Report

EEEHE

D) HUMAN RESOURCES RISKS

The Group’s success relies on its ability to attract, train, retain, and
motivate highly skilled and qualified staff members across all areas. The
loss of key personnel or the inability to recruit additional qualified
individuals could significantly and negatively impact the Group's ability
to provide adequate resources to support its existing and expanding
business, thereby affecting operational results. To mitigate this risk, the
Group has implemented succession planning to identify successors for
key management positions and continuously offers both in-house and
external coaching and training for talent development. Additionally, the
Group regularly reviews its compensation and benefits packages to
ensure they are competitive with market standards. To foster a sense of
belonging among staff members, the Group has also established a staff
fun club, which organises a variety of activities, including sports, charity,
and leisure events, to enhance employee engagement.

E) CYBER-SECURITY RISKS

In recent years, the frequency, scale, and severity of corporate cyber-
attacks have risen significantly. These attacks can result in data loss,
exposure of confidential information — including personal data of
customers and employees, and substantial disruptions to the operations
of the Group and its partners. The adverse effects of cyber-attacks may
include reputational damage, diminished investor confidence, revenue
loss due to business interruptions, and considerable resultant claims.
Additionally, the growing use of artificial intelligence (“Al") also heightens
the risk of confidential information being leaked.

To mitigate these risks, the Group has engaged external cybersecurity
consultants to conduct regular cybersecurity assessments and
penetration tests. Various security measures have been implemented,
including password policies, firewalls, email filtering, and antivirus, on its
information technology infrastructure and systems. Furthermore, staff
awareness on cybersecurity is also facilitated through internal training
and communications. To prevent information leakage associated with Al
usage, the Group has also developed its own generative Al solution,
accompanied by proper usage guidelines to enhance the Group’s
efficiency and effectiveness while safeguarding confidential information.
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F) COMPLIANCE RISKS

The Group maintains a diversified portfolio of business operations across
Hong Kong, mainland China, and other major cities in Asia. There is a
potential risk associated with not anticipating regulatory changes and
complying with local laws and regulations. To mitigate these risks, the
Group continuously monitors changes in relevant local laws and
regulations, actively evaluates the impact of these developments, and
seeks legal advice when necessary to ensure effective compliance with
all relevant requirements.

G) ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS

Climate change impacts all regions globally, presenting significant
threats due to the accelerating global warming caused by increased
greenhouse gas emissions. This leads to the melting of polar ice caps,
rising sea levels, and more frequent, intense, and unpredictable weather
events such as excessive rainfall, typhoons, and flooding. Such extreme
weather conditions may disrupt the Group’s business operations and
supply chain, cause physical damage to the Group's assets in affected
areas, and result in revenue loss, increased repair and maintenance costs,
and a decline in the value of our investments. Additionally, extreme
weather can pose risks to the lives and safety of the Group’s employees,
customers, or third parties, potentially leading to legal and financial
liabilities and reputational harm.

In alignment with “Goal 13: Climate Action” of the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals, the Company adopts a proactive
approach to assess its vulnerability to climate risks and incorporates
these considerations into its strategic planning. This aims to mitigate the
impact of climate change on its operations and enhance resilience.
Initiatives include monitoring and reducing the Group's carbon footprint
by setting and implementing long-term emissions reduction targets;
adopting industry best practices to improve energy efficiency through
advanced green technology and green building design; exploring the
use of renewable energy in our operations; enhancing the design of new
development projects to withstand natural hazards; providing training
to employees to improve the Group's preparedness and adaptability to
extreme weather events; and closely monitoring market and regulatory
changes related to the low-carbon transition. Further details on how the
Group addresses environmental and climate-related risks are available in
the ESG Report, published online concurrently with this annual report.
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H) OUTBREAK OF HIGHLY INFECTIOUS DISEASE

The emergence of highly infectious diseases, such as COVID-19 and
SARS, has the potential to significantly disrupt the Group's business
operations and manpower planning. Historical evidence indicates that
many governments may implement stringent restrictions to control a
pandemic. Although the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has largely
diminished by 2023, the resurgence of any pandemic posing a major
health risk could inevitably disrupt business activities, increase
operational costs, and negatively affect market sentiment, potentially
having a material adverse effect on the Group's operational results, cash
flows, and financial condition.

To mitigate these risks, the Group will continue to closely monitor the
potential emergence and development of highly infectious diseases. A
dedicated management task force will be formed, if necessary, to timely
and proactively study and respond to the impact that may cause on its
operations and performance. This includes, but is not limited to, the
implementation of cost control measures and tighter control of cash
flow. Furthermore, the Company remains committed to safeguarding
the well-being of its employees through regular workplace disinfection,
increased use of virtual meetings, and the adoption of flexible working
arrangements. All these measures will be undertaken while maintaining
normal operational levels and adhering to guidelines provided by
relevant authorities to ensure the timely and proactive implementation
of appropriate measures.

Risk management is closely linked to the Group’s internal control
framework. Key controls for mitigating high risks identified in the risk
management process are subject to independent review by the Internal
Audit Department. During the year under review, the Audit Committee,
on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems. Details of the aforesaid
review of the effectiveness are disclosed in the “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 69 to 99.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 207.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in note 44 to the financial statements on pages 244 and
245 and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on pages 120
and 121 respectively.

DIRECTORS

During FY2025, Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon and Mr LEE Ivan Wank-hay
resigned as EDs of the Company with effect from 20 September 2024
and 1 January 2025, respectively due to personal reason. Additionally, Ms
CHIU Kwai Fong Florence was appointed as an INED of the Company
with effect from 26 March 2025. Ms Florence CHIU obtained legal advice
from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law as regards
the requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her as a
director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a
false declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange on 21
March 2025. She has also confirmed she understood her obligations as a
director of a listed issuer.

Furthermore, on the date of this annual report (i.e. 18 June 2025), Mr LEE
Yue Kong Martin was appointed as an ED of the Company, who has
obtained legal advice from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on
Hong Kong law as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules that
are applicable to him as a director of a listed issuer and the possible
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false information
to the Stock Exchange on 16 June 2025. He has also confirmed he
understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

The Directors as at the date of this annual report are those set out on
pages 38 to 45 of this annual report.

In accordance with the Articles and the CG Code of Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules, Mr TANG Moon Wah, Ms Madeline WONG, Mr Benjamin
CHA, Mr Linus CHEUNG, Ms Florence CHIU and Mr Martin LEE will retire
by rotation at the 2025 AGM. All the retiring Directors are eligible for re-
election and have offered themselves for re-election. Other remaining
Directors will continue in office.
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None of the Directors who offering themselves for re-election at the
2025 AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation) and all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGMSs of the Company in accordance with
the Articles. The rotation clause sets up a mechanism to ensure that all
Directors shall retire at least once every three years.

Each of the INEDs of the Company has confirmed his/her independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all INEDs of the Company meet the independence guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules and are independent accordingly.

Assisted by heads of functional units, the EDs of the Company have the
direct responsibilities for the business and operations of the Group and
hence the EDs of the Company are regarded as the Company’s senior
management. Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
38 to 45. Details of the Directors’ emoluments are also provided under
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 175 to 177.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS
AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in carrying out his/her duties or otherwise in relation
thereto. Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy is in place to
protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules and adopted by the Company
were as follows:
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A) LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE A) REAAQATEREE2EB TR
COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH R

Number of ordinary share Approximate

ERERHE percentage of
issued share
Personal Other capital
Name of director Capacity interests interest Total HEBITRAZ
EEnA g7} BAER HttfEz By BMYBEI
Victor CHA Beneficial owner and beneficiary of 1254278 791,896,895 793,151,173 53.40
BHRK discretionary trusts
BB ALRBNBEEZEA
Madeline WONG Founder and/or beneficiary of - 789,684,882 789,684,882 5317
FEXE discretionary trusts
BIEEFERIZ A R/RZ A
Johnson CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts — 790,469,647 790,469,647 53.22
B BBEEEXEA
Benjamin CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts - 780,233599' 780,233,599 52.53
&R+ BMEEEXEA
TANG Moon Wah Beneficial owner 148,720 - 148,720 0.01
B0 ERERA

1

B)

The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ("CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ
Regents”) are the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors are among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

ZERMDBRE TR B E S & B % A CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ([ CCM Trust|) & LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited ([LBJ Regents |) Z 7% B = 3 A #
B MEMERBRBBEXEA -

635,627,031 shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees and the Director is
among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

635627031 RN BN E TTARBBELLERABCMTrust ZLBJRegents ZEZEZTAFE  MZESBRBEBEZE

The Director is, under two separate discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees, the founder and member of the classes

of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trusts are deemed to be interested in 154,057,851 shares in aggregate.

ZEFERBELRCM Trust 2 LB) Regents EB R FEAMFHZMEATRARBEERNAZAREGORE
$ 154,057,851 IR pR {0 2 #E 2

FiA -

HZEERRERERE

SHARE OPTIONS B) KR{rHI#E

Directors have been granted share options of the Company, details of
which are set out in the paragraph headed “Details of Share Options
Granted and Available for Grant” below.

Save as disclosed above and for certain Directors holding non-beneficial
interests in the share capital of some subsidiaries of the Company as the
nominee shareholders, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company's former share option scheme was adopted by the
Company on 8 September 2011 and was terminated on 27 August 2021
(the "2011 Scheme”) but the share options granted prior to the
termination continue be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
2011 Scheme.

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by shareholders of the Company on 25 August 2021 (the “2021
Scheme”) and the listing status of shares to be granted under the 2021
Scheme was granted by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 27 August 2021. Particulars of the 2021 Scheme as required to be
disclosed under the Listing Rules are set out below:

A) PURPOSE

To provide the participants who have been granted share options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company with the opportunity to
acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage the
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

B) PARTICIPANTS

All Directors, full-time employees and any consultants (employed on a
contract basis) of the Group are eligible to participate in the 2021
Scheme.

C) MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE
FORISSUE

The total number of the Company's shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the 2021 Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10%
of the shares in issue on the date of the approval of the 2021 Scheme,
subject to renewal as approved by the shareholders of the Company.
The total number of the shares available for issue under the 2021
Scheme is 148,530,180, which represents 10% of the issued shares capital
of the Company as at the date of this annual report (i.e. 18 June 2025).

D) MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH PARTICIPANT

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and unexercised share options)
under the 2021 Scheme or any other share option scheme (if any)
adopted by the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue unless otherwise approved by the
shareholders of the Company.
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Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an INED
of the Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules), would result in the shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all share options already granted and to be
granted to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of the grant:

- representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company
inissue; and

- having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such grant of share options shall be subject to prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company who are not connected persons of the
Company as defined in the Listing Rules.

E) PERIOD WITHIN WHICH THE SHARES MUST BE
TAKEN UP UNDER A SHARE OPTION

A share option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on
which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) may specify at the time of grant.

F) MINIMUM PERIOD AND REQUIREMENT, IF ANY,
FOR WHICH A SHARE OPTION MUST BE HELD
BEFORE IT CAN BE EXERCISED

At the time of the grant of a share option, the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) must specify the minimum period(s), if any, for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.

G) PERIOD OPEN FOR ACCEPTANCE OF A SHARE
OPTION AND AMOUNT PAYABLE UPON
ACCEPTANCE

The offer of the grant of a share option (of which the date of grant must
be a business day of the Stock Exchange) must be accepted within 14
days from the date on which the offer letter is delivered to the
participant and a consideration of HK$1 must be paid upon acceptance.
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H) BASIS OF DETERMINING THE SUBSCRIPTION
PRICE OF A SHARE OPTION

The subscription price of a share option shall be no less than the higher
of:

- the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant;

- the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days of the Stock Exchange immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

- the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of grant.

1)  REMAINING LIFE

The 2021 Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 24 August 2031
unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the 2021
Scheme.

DETAILS OF SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED AND
AVAILABLE FOR GRANT

During the FY2025, 1,075,000 share options were lapsed and no share
options were granted, exercised or cancelled in accordance with the
terms of the 2021 Scheme. As at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025, the
number of share options available for grant under the 2021 Scheme was
67,610,180 and 68,685,180, respectively. As at 31 March 2025, the
number of shares potentially requiring to be issued in respect of share
options granted under the 2021 Scheme was 79,845,000 (representing
approximately 5.38% of the total issued shares of the Company as at the
date of this annual report (i.e. 1,485,301,803 shares)).

In addition, 440,000 share options were lapsed and no share option was
exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2011 Scheme during the
FY2025. As at 31 March 2025, the number of shares potentially requiring
to be issued in respect of share options granted under the 2011 Scheme
was 35,090,000 (representing approximately 2.36% of the total issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this annual report).
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Details of the movement of share options during the year and the
outstanding share options as at 31 March 2025 under the 2021 Scheme

and 2011 Scheme, respectively were as follows:

ZBIDEEFE O RIMT

2021 F 51 2 2011 F 52142 H 80 IR 7D H
ARFERNZEE RN2025F3 8318 HKRITE

A) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2021 SCHEME A) REB2021FEEIRHR M EE
Number of share option
B HAREE B
Exercise
price per Balance as Balance as at
share at 1 April Lapsed 31 March

Name or Category HK$ 2024 during 2025
of participant BRITEE R2024F the year 72025 F
SEEWMLZHNER Dateofgrant™” FHBEHY (Bx) aA1B&E8% FALAW 3A31B#
Victor CHA 24 November 2021 2021411 A 24 H 3.028 9,500,000 - 9,500,000
B 4 October 2023 202310 A4 H 1636 9,500,000 - 9,500,000
TANG Moon Wah 24 November 2021 2021411 A 24 H 3.028 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
B i = 4 October 2023 202310 A4 H 1636 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
NGAN Man Ying 24 November 2021 20214511 A24H 3.028 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
BT 4 October 2023 202310 A4 H 1636 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
Madeline WONG 24 November 2021 2021411 A 24 H 3.028 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
TEERE 4 October 2023 2023 10 A4 H 1.636 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
Johnson CHA 24 November 2021 20214511 A 24 B 3.028 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
ERE= 4 October 2023 2023%F10A4H 1.636 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
Benjamin CHA 4 October 2023 202310 A4 H 1.636 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
BREF
Linus CHEUNG 24 November 2021 2021411 A 248 3.028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
oK K TR 4 October 2023 2023910 A4H 1636 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Henry FAN 24 November 2021 2021411 24 H 3.028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
BB R 4 October 2023 20231084 H 1.636 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Barbara SHIU 24 November 2021 2021411 A 248 3.028 600,000 - 600,000
A8 4 October 2023 2023910 A4H 1636 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
TANG Kwai Chang 24 November 2021 2021411 A 24H 3.028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
HEY 4 October 2023 2023F 10 A4 H 1.636 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Ex-directors® 24 November 2021 2021411 A 24 H 3.028 7,200,000 - 7,200,000
AIE =’
Ex-directors’ 4 October 2023 2023510 A4 H 1636 4,500,000 - 4,500,000
AIE S’
Employees 24 November 2021 2021411 A24H 3.028 2,980,000 330,000 2,650,000°
B8 4 October 2023 202310 A4 H 1636 6,040,000 745,000 5,295,000
Total #8 &t 80,920,000 1,075,000 79,845,000
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Share options granted on 24 November 2021 are exercisable during the period from 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 and the share options vested
immediately on the date of grant.

‘ R2021F 11 A4 AR E Z R D EAREAT R 2021 F 11 B24 B E2026F 11 B23 B R RTEE - BRIV EIEN B H AR RE -

Share options granted on 4 October 2023 are subject to vesting conditions (50% of the options granted were vested on 4 October 2024 and the remaining
balance shall be vested on 4 October 2025) and early termination and are exercisable up to 3 October 2028.

’ H2023F 10 B4AE R H 2 B BARE X 55 & 16 1 P AR BR (500 M) BRRE B M 2024 F 10 B4 BB - SAF ISR 2025F 10 A4 B B 8) XAl TIRATAR
1E -+ SR 2028 F 10 A3 B ATATEE ©

° BIENE D RIR2022F8 5248 ~ 202387238 ~ 202499 A 208 R2025F1 AV EBERREZES -

’ BREME D BIR2024F9 8208 F2025F1A1HBEZES -

Include two Directors resigned with effect from 20 September 2024 and 1 January 2025 respectively.

Include four Directors resigned or retired with effect from 24 August 2022, 23 August 2023, 20 September 2024 and 1 January 2025 respectively.

Include 600,000 share options granted to Mr Martin LEE, a Director appointed effective on 18 June 2025 and will be re-classified in the next published report.

¢ BEETEFREENC00000HD KRG EE  TFHEENR205FcAISAREERESE UBET —NEMHNREPETHE-

B) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2011 SCHEME B) IRIB20MFEFERERMDHEARE
Number of share option
B HIREE B
Exercise
priceper Balance as Balance as at
share at 1 April Lapsed 31 March
Name or Category of HK$ 2024 during 2025
participant FRITEE N2024F the year M2025F
SHEEMLZNER Dateofgrant®® FH BHH (Bx) 4aB18 &R FRLE¥M 3A3MBER
Victor CHA 28 February 2017 201742 A28 H 3.845 3,190,000 - 3,190,000
EREEK 12 March 2018 20183 A 12H 4373 5,500,000 - 5,500,000
TANG Moon Wah 28 February 2017 201742 A28 H 3.845 2,200,000 - 2,200,000
B == 12 March 2018 20183 A 12H 4373 3,300,000 - 3,300,000
Madeline WONG 28 February 2017 201742 A 28H 3.845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
TEERE 12 March 2018 20183 A 12H 4373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Johnson CHA 28 February 2017 201782 A 28H 3.845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
== 12 March 2018 20183 H12H 4373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Linus CHEUNG 28 February 2017 201782 A 28H 3.845 550,000 - 550,000
R K TR 12 March 2018 20183 A 12H 4373 880,000 - 880,000
TANG Kwai Chang 28 February 2017 201742 A28 H 3.845 220,000 - 220,000
HE¥ 12 March 2018 201843 A 12H 4373 880,000 - 880,000
Ex-directors'’ 28 February 2017 201742 A28 H 3.845 5,390,000 - 5,390,000
AEE"
Ex-directors'”’ 12 March 2018 20183 A 12H 4373 7,480,000 440,000 7,040,000
ATEE"
Total 42 5t 35,530,000 440,000 35,090,000
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2018 are exercisable during the period from 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028.

Share options granted on 28 February 2017 are exercisable during the period from 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027. Share options granted on 12 March

’ 201782 A28 A Z B D BARE AT 7R 2017F 2 A28 H & 2027 F 2 A 27 HEAR AT E 20183 A2 A 2 B 5 BARE Al 1R 2018 F 3 A 12

HZE2028%3 811 BHMAITHE -

The share options vested immediately on the respective dates of grant.

N B EENEREARANERE -

Include four Directors resigned or retired with effect from 31 March 2018, 1 April 2021, 24 August 2022 and 23 August 2023 respectively.

! BENADRA2018F3A31H - 20214 418 202248 A24H %2023 F8 BB HBEFEEZEEH -

Include six Directors resigned or retired with effect from 31 March 2018, 1 April 2021, 24 August 2022, 23 August 2023, 20 September 2024 and 1 January 2025 respectively.

" BENEDAR2018F3IA31H 2021F481H ~ 2022F8 824 H ~ 20238 A23H ~ 2024F9H 208 N 2025F 1 A1 BE T ET2ES -

Details of the accounting policy adopted for the share options are set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 207 to
200.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed under the heading “Details of Share Options Granted
and Available for Grant” above, the Company had no outstanding
convertible securities, warrants or similar rights as at 31 March 2025 and
there has been no issue or exercise of any convertible securities, warrants
or similar rights during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Schemes” above, at
no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the FY2025, the interests of the Directors in businesses, which
competed or were likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules are as follows:

- Mr Johnson CHA is the non-executive chairman of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) whose group’s businesses
consist of property investment, property development and property
management. Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange; and
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- Mr Benjamin CHA is the founder and chairman of Serakai Group
Limited (formerly known as Seradac Foundation Limited) whose
businesses consist of property investment.

Mr Johnson CHA and Mr Benjamin CHA are NEDs of the Company, who
are not involved in the daily management of the Group. Accordingly, the
Company is capable of carrying its businesses independently of, and at
arm'’s length from the abovementioned competing businesses.

Save for the INEDs of the Company and save as disclosed above, none of
the Directors was interested in any business apart from the Group's
businesses which competed or were likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, the following persons (other than the Directors)
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH

- BB A ASerakai Group Limited (Al 7E
Seradac Foundation Limited) Z 8l ¥ A K& T & -
HEEBKOEMERE -

EMERERERDAEEDBA DA
B -UES2EEENEEERE Al ARA
REWBYRRED Y E AR EBRE
—EIEEE -

BRARBIBEN EXREEIN EFERNEFR
BMERNEEXBUIMENEEEXRFERE L
REBRFRARTERFIEBTEE R -

FERR

R2025F 38318 IBREBEAR G IZFHFIEHE
BIEMEBGFTEZERMAEE TH AL
(ZZ2BRINRARR 2R M MR DT %
BzREZIARWT

RAQNTEZRHEE25E T
Bz HR

N

Approximate percentage

Number of of issued share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary share HERITREZ
RELRE 56 LEREE BOES
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ~ Corporate trustee 715,617,969" 4817

EEEFA
LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited Corporate trustee 101,084,280 6.81

EEEFEA
Mingly Corporation Interest of controlled corporations 144,606,568 9.73
EHEEERERAT XEEEZER
OElKang Eric Interest of controlled corporations/ 90,405,600 6.08
= [l Interest held jointly with another person

SN XYY N

FAEZER

Claudio Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporations 83,500,800" 562

REEE R
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These share interests comprise 571,011,401 shares held directly by CCM Trust and 144,606,568 shares held indirectly through wholly-owned subsidiary of Mingly

Corporation ("Mingly”), which CCM Trust is interested in 91.39% equity interest. CCM Trust holds the above share interests as corporate trustee of certain but not

identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's spouse and their issue.

" ZERMESBIECM] TustEEFF 25710140 BRNREBEL N EBERERAR (BN 22 EMWE R RREEEA 2144606568

s A £
HEXBACRCHEBERBLZEBRREZEKM -

beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s issue.

" ZERD TIALBIRegents UEBIZ A G N AETTRBBERESA MZEEEZHEXSE

The shares are held indirectly by Mingly through its wholly-owned subsidiary.
° ZERMARNEBREZEMBARIMERS -

by corporations (including Claudio Holdings Limited) controlled by OEl Kang Eric.

1 122024 F 227 B B X T 2 W TR 0 6,904,800 % Ax D B E M &2 b A LR 5 A - 835008008 k5 Bl ZM I H 2 2B (R

Holdings Limited) 5 A& ©

v 120242 B27 BB R BT 2 5 88 + 52 % IR 1% 8 Claudio Holdings Limited i i@
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no other interests or short
positions in the shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEBT SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company has issued HK$300 million in a
principal amount of unlisted notes due May 2031. Details of the debt
securities are disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 203.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as disclosed under paragraphs (a) and (b)
of note 43 to the consolidated financial statements on page 243
constitute connected transaction(s) or continuing connected
transaction(s) under the Listing Rules but are exempt from shareholders’
approval and disclosure and other requirements under rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules. Save for the aforesaid transactions, the other related party
transactions shown in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements
do not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules.

P CCM Trust BIBER £ 11 913% A 2 # 4k ° CCM Trust OEBEIRFEA S AE T TRAREELHE LR #ERE  MZEETL

The shares are held by LBJ Regents as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary

BREEMEAERBL 2R -

As at 27 February 2024 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, 6,904,800 shares are held jointly by OEl Kang Eric with another person and 83,500,800 shares are held

As at 27 February 2024 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, the shares are held by, through corporations controlled by, Claudio Holdings Limited.

& Claudio

BEESZEERS -
B EXXCH TR R2025F3831H  ER
VNN AR R = T == A NNE]|

RIBESIGDIE33616BFE Z2ERLMA -

B % & &5

20253 8318 AR RE 1T A S5 A300
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BEEZABRF2DBEZEAM MR
28 HE EE o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract, transactions or arrangements of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or controlling shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligations set out in rule 13.21 of
Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the details of the loan
agreements with covenants relating to specific performance on the
controlling shareholders of the Company as at the date of this annual
report pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There exists no reporting obligation
by the Company under rules 13.17 and 13.19 of the Listing Rules
accordingly:

a)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 4 August 2020 (the “Loan Agreement |") for a term and revolving loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$3,350 million with final
maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement I.

b)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 9 October 2020 (the “Loan Agreement II") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$1,000 million with
final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement
Il

c¢)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 6 September 2021 (the “Loan Agreement IlI") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$600 million with
final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement
M.

d)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 29 April 2022 (the “Loan Agreement IV") for a term and revolving loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,400 million with final
maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement IV.
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Under the Loan Agreement |, Loan Agreement I, Loan Agreement Il and
Loan Agreement IV (collectively, the “Loan Agreements”), among others,
an event of default is triggered when the existing largest shareholder of
the Company (together with his associate(s)) holding the largest
shareholding (direct or indirect) in the Company on the date of the
respective Loan Agreements ceases to be the Company’s largest
shareholder at any time during the term of the respective Loan
Agreements unless the situation can be remedied within a prescribed
timeframe pursuant to the respective Loan Agreements.

In the Company's case, 816,702,249 shares (representing approximately
54.98% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this
annual report) are owned by corporate trustees of certain, but not
identical, discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of
discretionary beneficiaries include the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s issue are
together treated as the existing largest shareholder collectively holding
the largest shareholding in the Company. This has been the continuing
status since the signing of each of the Loan Agreements.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULES 13.20 AND 13.22 OF CHAPTER
13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rules 13.20 and 13.22 of Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules, the following were the details of financial
assistances and guarantees given for facilities granted to affiliated
companies of the Company as at 31 March 2025 pursuant to rules 13.13
and 13.16 thereof:

a) A joint venture, Gainwick Limited (“Gainwick”), which indirectly
owned by the Company (effective shareholding interest of 40%) and
Hysan Development Company Limited (“Hysan’, effective shareholding
interest of 60%), was formed for the purpose of a residential property
development in Tai Po, New Territories. As at 31 March 2025, the
Company in proportion to its effective shareholding interests in Gainwick
provided Gainwick with HK$1,951.9 million advances in the form of
unsecured with no fixed terms of repayment, in which HK$80.0 million
as working capital loan is charged with an interest rate of 2% per annum
over 1-month HIBOR whereas the remaining advances are interest-free.

In addition, for purpose of provision of mortgage loan financing to the
purchasers of the development and for working capital purpose, the
Group provided advances to Gainwick Mortgage Limited (‘GML"), in
which the Group and Hysan hold indirectly 40% and 60% respective
effective shareholding interests. As at 31 March 2025, the Group
advanced HK$112.9 million to GML and the advances are unsecured
with no fixed terms of repayment, and at an interest rate of 2% per
annum over 1-month HIBOR.
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On 27 December 2023, the Company also provided guarantee for the
principal amount up to HK$1,000 million in favour of a syndicate of
financial institutions in Hong Kong as a security for Gainwick’s obligation
under the banking facilities granted to Gainwick by the financial
institutions (the “Guarantee”) to refinance the outstanding amount of
the indebtedness of Gainwick owed under the facility agreement dated
26 May 2017 which was matured on 26 February 2024 and partially
refinance the shareholders’ advance made to Gainwick. The interest rate
for the banking facilities is a sum of HIBOR plus 1.15% per annum and
relevant interest period (one, two or three months or any other period
agreed between Gainwick and the financial institutions). Further details
of the repayment terms and security of the Guarantee are disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 27 December 2023. As at 31
March 2025, the banking facilities utilised by Gainwick in proportionate
of 40% which is secured by guarantee given by the Company amounted
to HK$202.0 million.

b)  Asat31 March 2025, the Group advanced to Dazhongli Properties
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli group”) an aggregate amount of
HKS$4,440.3 million. Dazhongli group is engaged in the operation of
investment properties and hotel properties in Jing'an District, Shanghai,
the PRC in which the Group has 50% interest. The advances were
provided by the Group in the form of equity and loans in proportion to
its shareholding interest therein, for the purpose of financing the
development expenditure of Dazhongli group. The advances are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Q) As at 31 March 2025, the Group also advanced to and provided
guarantees for other several affiliated companies an aggregate amount
of HK$651.5 million. The Group has interests ranging from 31% to 50% in
these affiliated companies.

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of advances provided to
and guarantees given for these affiliated companies by the Group
amounted to HK$7,358.6 million representing 17.0% of the consolidated
total assets of the Group of HK$43,192.8 million as at 31 March 2025.

The financial information of these affiliated companies as at 31 March

2025 is set out in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 186 to 191.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option schemes described above, the Group has not
entered into any equity-linked agreements during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group's five largest customers
was less than 30% of the total value of the Group's turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group's purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company's issued share capital) had any interest in the Group's
five largest customers and suppliers.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the requirements of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in making mandatory contributions
for its staff. Details of charges relating to the retirement benefits schemes
are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements on pages
214 and 215

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$1.5 million (2024: approximately HK$1.7
million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles although
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands.
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the percentage of
the Company's shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25%
of the Company's total number of issued shares.

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Group's annual report for the FY2025 has been reviewed by the
Audit Committee of the Company established in compliance with rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules and the relevant provisions of the CG Code.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the FY2025 have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"). A resolution will be submitted to
the 2025 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor.

On behalf of the Board
REES®

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Executive Chairman

BEER
BITERE

Hong Kong, 18 June 2025
E8 20256 H18H
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Corporate Governance Report
CEERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
FUNCTIONS

The Group is committed to good corporate governance which it
believes to be core to the success of its businesses and operations.

The Board is responsible for corporate governance functions, which are
carried out through the Corporate Governance Committee as delegated
by the Board, in accordance with code provision A.2.1 of the Principles of
Good Corporate Governance, Code Provisions, and Recommended Best
Practices outlined in Appendix C1, the CG Code to the Listing Rules, and
are included in the terms of reference for both the Board and the
Corporate Governance Committee.

Throughout the year under review, the Company adhered to the
principles and complied with the code provisions of the CG Code, with
the exception of code provision F.2.2 concerning the Chairman of the
Board's attendance at the annual general meeting. Additionally, the
Company followed certain recommended best practices of the CG Code.
The details and reasons for the deviation of the code provisions are
outlined in the section titled “Attendances of General Meetings, Board
and Board Committee Meetings”.

COMPANY CULTURE

The Company has a well-defined vision, mission, and values that guide
its strategy, with the primary goal of enhancing long-term total returns
for all stakeholders. These elements are detailed in the corporate profile
of the 2024/2025 annual report and on the Company's website. To align
the corporate culture with the Company'’s vision, mission, and values, the
Board has established a Company Culture Policy. This policy sets the
tone from the top and aims to instill and continually reinforce values
such as lawful, ethical, respectful, diligent, creative, and responsible
behavior across all levels of the Group. The full text of the Company
Culture Policy is available on the Company’s website.

In addition to the policy, the Board leads by example, conducting annual
self-evaluations to enhance Directors’ accountability and ensure the
Board's effectiveness in monitoring and overseeing the Company’s
operations and behaviours. To ensure that the desired culture and
expected behaviours are communicated and understood by employees,
elements such as integrity, caring, trust, respect, and commitment are
incorporated into the annual individual performance assessments.
Furthermore, biennial employee surveys are conducted to gather
feedback and opinions on promoting the desired company culture for
enhancement purposes.
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As part of assessing the effectiveness of the Company’s alignment with
its culture, the Board has established indicators such as whistleblowing
reported cases, identified material breaches of the code of conduct or
regulatory requirements, fraud-related/high-risk incidents, and employee
turnover ratios. These indicators are regularly reviewed by delegated
Board Committees, with any concerns reported to the Board for further
examination if necessary.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the FY2025, Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon and Mr LEE Ivan Wank-hay
resigned from their positions as EDs of the Company, effective on 20
September 2024, and 1 January 2025, respectively. Furthermore, Ms CHIU
Kwai Fong Florence was appointed as an INED of the Company, effective
on 26 March 2025 as well as Mr LEE Yue Kong Martin was appointed as
an ED of the Company with effective on 18 June 2025. The composition
of the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set out
below:

RABARBBREEEHRR EFE
EHFTHMESR SRRINBREEE &
BNEREERBRTEAXEERENHEE
BRBFE/ ERBRNBANE TRAE XA
ERENEFTSZESES R BERAS
MINFEHE-TRNEFSER IXFE
RETESL -

EEE

EEgdAMX

202581 F » RGBT E R F AR K £ BT
KRR EZBE 5 AlB2024F9H208 &
205 F 1T HTARBAER I BEFLLR
2005F3 6B EZ T ARARANBE MEF
HoEA TR 2025F6 A18sBEZEARRAH
ZE-AFERHBEAREAH ZESTSAK
;e

@® D
® \ED
IEHE
® INED
BE
Length of Service
R 7% & #8
(year)
(%)
Executive Directors HITES
Victor CHA (Chairman)' B (ER) 36
TANG Moon Wah (Managing Director)' BhmE(Esnrgr) 20
Martin LEE’ FFEH’ -
NGAN Man Ying BE 3 4
Non-executive Directors kHITES
Madeline WONG (Deputy Chairman)’ FTEER@ER) 36
Johnson CHA ERE 36
Benjamin CHA B 2
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYKHITES
Linus CHEUNG’ BT 19
Florence CHIU BEF 0.25
Henry FAN BB R 7
Barbara SHIU BR1E B8 4
TANG Kwai Chang HEZ 10
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Appointed as Chairman, Managing Director and Deputy Chairman respectively on
25 November 2020.

Appointed as ED on 18 June 2025 (the date of the 2024/2025 annual report).

Appointed as INED on 25 January 2006; re-designated to NED with effect from
4 December 2008; re-designated to INED with effect from 26 March 2012.

As of the date of this annual report, the Board consisted of 12 Directors,
including four EDs and eight NEDs, five of whom are INEDs, thereby
constituting more than one-third of the Board. Their biographical details
are comprehensively provided in the section titled “Board of Directors”
on pages 38 to 45 of the 2024/2025 annual report.

A list of the Directors, including their roles and functions, and specifically
indicating whether they are INEDs, is maintained on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. This list is updated as necessary.

Save for Mr Victor CHA, Mr Johnson CHA, and Ms Madeline WONG, who
are siblings, and Mr Benjamin CHA, who is the son of Mr Victor CHA and
the nephew of Mr Johnson CHA and Ms Madeline WONG, all other
Directors have no familial relationships with one another.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is entrusted with the responsibility of providing strategic
leadership, exercising control, and offering guidance to management to
ensure the achievement of the Company’s objectives.

Upon their appointment to the Board, each Director is provided with
comprehensive and formal induction materials that detail the business
operations of the Group. This documentation is designed to enhance
their understanding and awareness of their responsibilities as Directors
under the Listing Rules, as well as legal, regulatory, and statutory
requirements. Additionally, briefings with senior executives and
department heads of the Group are arranged as necessary.

To ensure the fulfillment of their ongoing responsibilities, Directors will
receive continuous training materials, as detailed in the section titled
“Directors’ Continuing Professional Development”. Additionally, each
Director will be provided with monthly management accounts and
updates, which offer a balanced and comprehensible evaluation of the
Group's performance, position, and prospects. This will enable the Board
collectively, and each Director individually, to effectively discharge their
duties. Furthermore, Directors may seek independent professional advice
at the Company’s expense when necessary to perform their duties.
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Each Director has confirmed their commitment on dedicating sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Group. They are required to
promptly inform the Company of any changes in the number and nature
of offices held in public companies or organisations, as well as other
significant commitments. Details of the Directors’ other appointments
are provided in the section titled “Board of Directors” on pages 38 to 45
of the 2024/2025 annual report.

BOARD PROCESS

The dates for regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in
advance to ensure all Directors have sufficient time to arrange their
schedules to attend. There are four regular Board meetings annually, and
held quarterly, with additional ad hoc meetings convened as needed.
For the FY2025, four Board meetings were conducted, and the
attendance records for these meetings are detailed in the section titled
“Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee
Meetings".

A formal notice of at least 14 days is provided before each regular Board
meeting, and a minimum of forty-eight hours’ notice is given for other
Board meetings. All Directors are consulted regarding any matters they
wish to include in the agenda for the regular Board meetings, which is
reviewed and approved by the Chairman of the Board before being
issued.

Agendas and accompanying Board papers are distributed to all Directors
and Board Committee members at least three days (or another agreed
period) before the meetings. With the support of the EDs, the Chairman
of the Board ensures that all Directors are adequately briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive timely documents and information
about the Group. The Chairman of the Board, or in his absence, the
Deputy Chairman or the Managing Director, leads the meetings and
ensures that all key and relevant issues are discussed promptly. Directors
are given ample time to discuss issues during the meetings and are
encouraged to express their viewpoints and concerns regarding the
Board's affairs. The Chairman facilitates discussions to reach a consensus
and consolidates them with conclusions. Minutes of Board and Board
Committee meetings document the matters considered and decisions
made. Draft and final signed minutes are properly maintained by the
Company Secretary or respective committee secretary and distributed to
all Directors for their comments and records.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company has established robust mechanisms to ensure that
independent perspectives and input are consistently available to the
Board.
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The Board process guarantees that all Directors’ independent viewpoints
are considered and can be freely expressed. Additionally, the Chairman
of the Board convenes at least once annually with the INEDs without the
presence of other directors and officers, thereby providing a more
effective check on management through separate meetings. In March
2025, the Chairman held a separate meeting with the INEDs, attended
by four INEDs.

In accordance with the Code of Conduct for Directors, a Director must
promptly disclose to the Board the nature of any actual or apparent
conflict of interest or any transaction or relationship that could
reasonably be expected to give rise to such a conflict of interest or that
would otherwise impact the independence of judgment as a Director.
Any Director with a material interest in any contract, arrangement, or
proposal shall abstain from voting and shall not be counted in the
quorum for any resolution approving the same.

Directors also have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, who supports the Board by ensuring proper information flow
within the Board, adherence to Board policies and procedures, advising
on governance matters, facilitating induction, and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors.
Independent professional advice is also available to all Directors
whenever necessary at the expense of the Company.

To ensure the Board benefits from independent perspectives and
contributions from its Directors, the Board has implemented the Board
Evaluation Framework and conducts annual evaluations to consolidate
each Director’s views on various aspects of the Board and its committees.
Details of the board evaluation are provided in the section titled “Board
Annual Evaluation” below.

Each INED is mandated to provide an annual confirmation of their
independence in compliance with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee, primarily composed of INEDs, conducts an
annual review of the independence of all current INEDs to ensure their
continued ability to exercise independent judgment. In addition, the
Nomination Committee evaluates the suitability and independence of
prospective candidates when considering the appointment of new
INEDs. Further details on the independence assessment conducted by
the Nomination Committee are provided in the section titled “Nomination
Committee” below.

The Board believes that the aforementioned mechanisms facilitate
effective contributions from Directors and ensure the availability of
independent views. The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of these mechanisms for the year under review.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company acknowledges the significance of enhancing diversity at
the Board level as a crucial element in achieving its strategic goals and
attracting and retaining best people. The Board has adopted the Board
Diversity Policy, which outlines a strategic approach to fostering diversity
within the Board. The full text of the policy is available on the Company’s
website. In accordance with this policy, the Nomination Committee is
tasked with annually reviewing the Board’s structure, size, and
composition. This review includes setting measurable objectives, targets,
timelines, and plans, where applicable, based on thorough analysis and
benchmarking data to advance Board diversity. These recommendations,
if any, are then submitted to the Board for approval. Additionally, the
Nomination Committee monitors progress and policy implementation
for inclusion in the annual corporate governance report. Director
candidate selection considers various diversity aspects, such as gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, and tenure. The final selection is based on
the merit and the value candidates will contribute to the Board. The
policy is reviewed annually, or as needed, by the Nomination Committee
to ensure its continued effectiveness.

In 2022, the Board, following the Nomination Committee’s
recommendation, set a target of achieving at least 25% female
representation on the Board. As at the date of the 2024/2025 annual
report, the Board comprised 12 Directors, four of whom were female,
representing 33% of the Directors. The following chart illustrates the
diversity profile of the Board as of the date of the 2024/2025 annual
report:

NUMBER OF DIRECTOR
EEHHE

P Female

Gender Designation

145 IS
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The Board is also characterised by a diversity of perspectives that align
with the Company’s business nature, corporate strategy, and structure,
contributing to the Board's effectiveness. The Board comprises a range
of expertise including business management and strategic planning,
property development, investment and asset management, accounting
and taxation, legal affairs, risk management, banking and finance,
sustainability, and public affairs, covering the major areas that required
for the Company’s operations. The inclusion of different views and voices
in the Board's decision-making process improves the quality and
objectivity of its decisions. This diversity fosters innovation, creativity, and
a better understanding of the market through a variety of problem-
solving approaches, perspectives, and ideas. It supports the Company in
setting appropriate strategies and cultivating a desired culture in a
constantly changing environment, ultimately achieving its purpose of
innovation and excellence through teamwork. The matrix below
illustrates the varied skills and experiences of the Directors:

Board Skill Matrix
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Workforce Diversity

The Company values the diversity of its employees and is committed to
create a working environment that is fair and flexible, promotes personal
and professional growth, and benefits from the capabilities of its diverse
workforce. A Workforce Diversity Policy has been adopted to outline the
Company's approach and commitment to inclusion and diversity in the
workforce, with its full text is available on the Company’s website. During
the year under review, except for the general staff level which has
relatively more male than female due to the nature of works and the
workforce availability in the market for transportation industry sector
such as crew, technician, engineer and bus captain, the Company
maintains a relatively balanced gender ratio across the workforce and it
is considered not necessary to set out any plan or measurable objectives
for enhancing workforce diversity for the financial year of 2025/2026.
Detail of the gender ratio in different level of workforce for the year
under review can refer to the ESG Report published at the same time
with the 2024/2025 annual report.

BOARD ANNUAL EVALUATION

To ensure that the Board benefits from independent perspectives and
contributions from its Directors, and to drive continuous improvement
in board performance, the Board has established the Board Evaluation
Framework. This framework is reviewed annually by the Corporate
Governance Committee to ensure its effectiveness. Under the leadership
of the Chairman with the support of the Company Secretary, the Board
conducts an annual evaluation internally through questionnaires and, if
necessary, one-on-one meetings between the Chairman and individual
Directors. The primary objective of this evaluation is to assess Board’s
culture, dynamics and independence, as well as ensure optimal board
composition, improve board practices, and enhance overall effectiveness.
Individual Director's ratings as well as their views and comments
covering a range of topics including board organisation and functioning,
structure and composition, shareholder communication, company
culture, director training, conflict of interest, and overall board
effectiveness are collected and consolidated. These insights are
presented to the Board anonymously each year to identify any gaps
between the Board's current state and its desired position, including the
reasons for such gaps. If deemed appropriate, action plans with concrete
steps to address these gaps will be developed.
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During the year under review, the Directors evaluated all aspects of the
Board's performance and concluded that it was generally effective and
adequate. However, they recognised the necessity for further training in
information technology, digitalisation, and strategic planning. To address
these needs, appropriate external courses will be sought and organised
to enhance the Directors’ expertise in these areas.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To keep Directors abreast of their responsibilities and infuse them with
new knowledge relevant to the Group's business and operating
environment, information comprising the latest developments, industry
news and materials relevant to the roles, functions and duties as a
director will be periodically provided to each Director by the Company
Secretary to keep them updates on the industry developments and legal
frameworks that are relevant to the affairs of the Group. Additionally,
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development training courses, funded by the Company, to enhance
their knowledge and effectively fulfill their responsibilities.

Throughout the year under review, Directors were provided with self-
reading materials focusing on industry trends, updates related to the
Group's business, listing regulations, other regulatory requirements,
directors’ roles and duties, corporate governance (including ESG), risk
management, and internal control mechanisms. Some Directors also
received continuous training in various areas from other organisations.
Each Director has submitted their training records for the year under
review to the Company, confirming participation in no less than 10
training hours during the FY2025. The table below summarises the
Directors’ participation in training and continuous professional
development during the year:
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N TH N
SEEABE
Risk
Directors’ Corporate Management Industry Total
Roles and Legaland Governance andInternal Trendsand Training
Duties Regulatory and ESG Control Updates Hours
DEERR
BEEH RE - -#E RBEE FT¥%8% ke
Name of Director BExEpng ABRBE ZEKRER kER RADEE MEH K
Executive Directors BiTE=S
Victor CHA &I Vv V Vv Vv Vv 20.50
TANG Moon Wah HmE v Vv V v V 18.75°
NGAN Man Ying BAXH \ \ \ \ V 16.25
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Madeline WONG ITEEE v Vv v v y 2040
Johnson CHA EE v Vv V V v 30.50°
Benjamin CHA &R Vv V Vv Vv V 1150
Independent Non-executive B FHITES
Directors

Linus CHEUNG R IK TR v Vv v v v 11.00
Florence CHIU' BEF V v V \ v 17.00
Henry FAN BB ER Vv Vv Vv Vv Vv 26.00
Barabara SHIU AR Vv Vv Vv Vv Vv 2050’
TANG Kwai Chang BEY Vv Vv Vv Vv Vv 4090°

Appointed as INED of the Company effective on 26 March 2025. Completed training

4

hours dedicated to reviewing the induction materials provided by the Company.

Include 1.5 hours of webinar attendance for the training titled “Important Updates of
the Listing Rules”, presented by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors ("HKIoB").

Include 7.25 hours of webinar attendance for the trainings, covering the following
topics: (i) Pragmatic guide for boards to turn climate/ESG risks into opportunities,
presented by HKIoB; (ii) Annual AML/CFT/CPF and Sanctions Director Training,
provided by The R&H Trust Co. Ltd; (iii) Financial Reporting Webinar Series : Interim
Reporting Updates and Accounting for Greenhouse Gas Emission, as well as Board
Leadership Forum, conducted by KPMG; and (iv) Navigating AML Landscape Basic
and Beyond, facilitated by CompliancePlus.

Include 4.5 hours of seminar attendance for the trainings, covering the following
topics: (i) Green and Sustainability Banking, facilitated by PricewaterhouseCoopers; (i)
The Future of Banking Empowered by Technological Innovation, presented by Boston
Consulting Group; (iii) Cyber Security Training and the Expected Credit Loss Model,
conducted by KPMG; and (iv) Anti-Corruption, provided by the Independent
Commission Against Corruption.
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Include 26.5 hours of participation in webinars, seminars, and conferences for the
trainings, covering the following topics: (i) New ISSB Sustainability Standard
Implementation, Annual Auditing Update 2024, Annual Accounting and Sustainability
Update 2024, and Bond Trading and Its Application, provided by HKICPA; (i)
Detecting and Preventing Online Fraud, Ethics and Compliance — Keys to
Professional Success for Financial Services Sector, and Virtual Tax Conference 2025,
presented by Association of Chartered Certified Accountants; (iii) Annual Banking
Conference and Regulator's Dialogue for Directors and Practitioners, conducted by
Hong Kong Institute of Bankers; (iv) Understanding Management Responsibilities and
Employment in Financial Institutions, facilitated by Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute; and (v) Financial Leadership in a Changing Climate, provided by
Deloitte.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The CG Code mandates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer must be distinct and not held by the same individual. This
separation ensures a clear division of responsibilities between the Board
and the executives managing the business.

In compliance with this requirement, the positions of Chairman and
Managing Director are occupied by separate individuals. Mr Victor CHA
serves as the Chairman, while Mr TANG Moon Wah holds the position of
Managing Director. The specific roles and responsibilities of the
Chairman and Managing Director are distinctly defined and
documented.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to the Board and
ensuring its effective operation in the best interests of the Group.
Supported by the Company Secretary and the Corporate Governance
Committee, the Chairman’s primary duties include establishing and
maintaining robust corporate governance practices and procedures. The
Managing Director, with the assistance of other Executive Directors and
the executive management team, is tasked with implementing the
strategies approved by the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (INCLUDING
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS)

NEDs of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three years,
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Articles. Further details regarding this mechanism are provided in the
paragraph titled “Appointments, Re-election and Removal”.
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The roles and responsibilities of NEDs are explicitly documented. While
NEDs do not engage in the day-to-day management of the Group's
operations, they contribute to Board and Board Committee meetings by
offering independent perspectives and judgments on matters related to
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments, and standards of conduct to make positive contribution
to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments.

INEDs, in particular, oversee the management and ensure the
implementation of established rules, procedures, and policies. They help
guarantee that the Board considers the interests of shareholders as a
whole. Each INED has submitted an annual confirmation of
independence in accordance with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the
Company affirms that all INEDs remain independent based on the
guidelines outlined in the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.
When necessary, INEDs meet privately to discuss matters specific to their
responsibilities, such as in consideration and make recommendation to
the shareholders in relation to connected party transactions.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL

The Articles specify that during each annual general meeting ("“AGM"),
one-third of the current Directors, or if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number closest to but not less than one-third,
shall retire by rotation. It is further stipulated that every Director must
retire by rotation at least once every three years. Additionally, any
Director appointed by the Board shall serve only until the first AGM
following their appointment, at which point they may present
themselves for re-election. The re-election of each eligible Director is
contingent upon shareholder approval at the Company’'s general
meeting.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has established specific levels of authority and defined terms
of reference for its Committees, while retaining the right to oversee and
make decisions on all other non-delegated matters, particularly
significant acquisitions, disposals, and related transactions. Additionally,
the Board delegates certain management and administrative functions
to the management team as deemed appropriate, providing guidance
on the scope of management's powers, including situations where
management must report to and seek prior approval from the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance Committee as statutory
committees and other committees, namely Finance Committee,
Investment/Divestment Committee, Buy-back, Reissue and Transfer of
Shares Committee, Inside Information Committee and ESG Committee.
Each committee is authorised to obtain independent professional advice
at the Company’s expense if deemed necessary to fulfill their
responsibilities. Additionally, the Board may form special committees
with defined terms of reference to address specific transactions or issues
as required.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established in 2012
and its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG
Code. The full text of the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee require, inter alia,
that the Nomination Committee comprises not less than three members
with a majority of INEDs and at least one director of different gender. The
chairman of the Committee must also be either an INED or the Chairman
of the Board. The Nomination Committee currently comprises five
members, namely Mr Henry FAN, Mr Victor CHA, Ms Madeline WONG, Mr
TANG Kwai Chang and Ms Barbara SHIU with Mr Henry FAN acting as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary role and function of the Nomination Committee is to
identify and recommend suitably qualified individuals for Board
membership. Additionally, the Committee is responsible for regularly
reviewing the Board's structure, size, and composition, assisting in the
maintenance of a board skills matrix, and supporting the Company’s
ongoing evaluation of the Board's performance and each Director’s time
commitment and contribution. Furthermore, the Committee is tasked
with maintaining the Board Diversity Policy and making
recommendations to the Board to achieve diversity, if required, as well as
maintaining a policy on the nomination of Directors (the “Director
Nomination Policy”).
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The Director Nomination Policy, established by the Board in 2018,
undergoes an annual review by the Nomination Committee to ensure its
continued effectiveness. According to this policy, the Nomination
Committee may select and consider candidates from various sources,
including referrals from Directors and officers of the Company, external
executive search firms, or shareholders in accordance with the
Company’s Articles. The Nomination Committee evaluates the
qualifications of candidates and provide their comment or
recommendation to the Board for consideration and approval. Key
criteria considered by the Nomination Committee include:

° Character and integrity

° Professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, and experience in
their respective fields

° Willingness and availability to devote adequate time to fulfill
duties as a director and other commitments

o Number of existing Directors and other significant commitments
that may require the candidates’ attention

° Independence of the candidates, referencing the independence
guidelines outlined in the Listing Rules as amended periodically

In its assessment and recommendation of candidates for director
positions, the Nomination Committee also considers the diversity of the
Board, including but not limited to gender, race, ethnicity, age,
experience, and skills. Additionally, the Committee evaluates other
factors it deems appropriate based on the current and anticipated future
needs of the Board and the Company, aiming to maintain a balance of
perspectives, qualifications, qualities, and skills. The Nomination
Committee may employ any process it deems suitable to assess the
candidates’ suitability, including interviews, background checks, and
third-party references.

During the year, the Nomination Committee convened one meeting.
Key activities included:

° Consideration and recommendation of Ms Florence CHIU for
appointment as an INED of the Company, as well as a member of
both the Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee, in accordance with the Director Nomination Policy for
the Board's approval.
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Review of the retirement of Directors and recommendation for the
re-election of Mr TANG Moon Wah (ED), Ms Madeline WONG (NED),
Mr Benjamin CHA (NED), Mr Linus CHEUNG (INED), and Ms
Florence CHIU (INED) at the 2025 AGM.

Assessment of the independence of all current INEDs in line with
the independence guidelines stipulated in rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, considering all relevant factors such as tenure and other
significant commitments that may impact Directors’ judgment.
Particular focus was given to Mr Linus CHEUNG, who has served
for over nine years as INED of the Company and is due for
re-election at the upcoming AGM. A detailed account of the
factors considered and the conclusion regarding Mr CHEUNG's
independence will be included in the documents accompanying
the proposed resolution for his re-election at the 2025 AGM.

Review and evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy, concluding
that these policies remain effective.

Review of benchmarking data and determination that the target
of at least 25% female representation on the Board remains
appropriate.

Evaluation of the Board's structure, size, and composition,
considering factors such as gender representation, skills, expertise,
and experience of each Director. The assessment concluded that
the current composition, which includes four female Directors
following Ms Florence CHIU's appointment, exceeds the
established target for gender diversity. The Board's skill set is also
deemed adequate, negating the need for a timeline or plan to
enhance diversity or alter the Board’s composition. Nonetheless,
the Committee will continue to seek suitable candidates to ensure
effective succession of Board members.

Review of the Directors’ time commitment and contributions to
the Board and the Company’s affairs, including their meeting
attendance, updated biographies, current directorships in other
listed companies, and engagement with other public companies
and significant organisations, if applicable. For INEDs, their written
confirmation of independence was also reviewed and considered.
It was concluded that the Directors possess the necessary
qualifications, integrity, independence, and experience, and are
not overly occupied with other engagements, thereby ensuring
they can devote sufficient time and contributions to the Board
and the Company's affairs.
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o Recommendation to amend its terms of reference to align with
recent updates to the Listing Rules regarding corporate
governance for the Board's approval.

In May 2025, the Nomination Committee also considered and
recommended Mr Martin LEE for appointment as an ED of the Company
and his re-election in 2025 AGM in accordance with the Director
Nomination Policy for the Board's approval in June meeting. The records
of the meeting held by the Nomination Committee during the year are
set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General
Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established in 2004
and its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG
Code. The full text of the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee require, inter
alia, that the Remuneration Committee comprises not less than three
members with a majority of INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, namely Mr Linus CHEUNG, Mr Victor
CHA and Mr Henry FAN with Mr Linus CHEUNG acting as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The primary role and function of the Remuneration Committee is to
exercise the authority of the Board in reviewing and determining the
remuneration and packages for individual EDs and senior management,
if any. This includes salaries, bonuses, benefits in kind, share options, and
other plans. In making these determinations, apart from individual’s
performance, the Remuneration Committee will also consider factors
such as remuneration for comparable positions, the time commitment
and responsibilities of the EDs and senior management, as well as the
Company’s remuneration policy. Further details regarding the Directors’
remuneration policy can be found in the following section titled “Directors’
Remuneration”.

During the year, no Remuneration Committee meeting was held but the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved by electronic
circulation the proposals of (a) ex-gratia payments to two EDs; (b)
remuneration for a senior management candidate; (c) performance
bonus payment and the payout for EDs; and (d) salary review for the
financial year of 2025/2026 for EDs. The records of circulated electronic
communication of the Remuneration Committee during the year are
duly set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General
Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in 1998 and its
terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG Code. The
full text of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee require, inter alia, that
the Audit Committee comprises not less than three members who are
NEDs and a majority of them must be INEDs of the Company. During the
year under review, Ms Florence CHIU was appointed as a member of the
Audit Committee with effect from 26 March 2025. The Audit Committee
currently comprises four members, namely Mr TANG Kwai Chang, Mr
Linus CHEUNG, Ms Florence CHIU and Ms Barbara SHIU with Mr TANG
Kwai Chang leading the Audit Committee as the chairman.

The primary role and function of the Audit Committee is to support the
Board in meeting its obligations concerning: (i) the establishment of an
effective system for risk management, internal controls, and compliance;
(i) the attainment of external financial reporting objectives; (iii) the
maintenance of a proper relationship with the external auditor; and (iv)
the enforcement of the Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Fraud Policy.

Throughout the year, the Audit Committee convened three meetings,
two of which included the Independent Auditor alongside senior
management. The primary activities and discussions during these
meetings encompassed the following:

° Review and receipt of the audit strategy memorandums for the
Group's financial statements for the FY2025.

° Consideration of the projected fees for audit and non-audit
services provided by the Independent Auditor.

° Assessment on the independence of the Independent Auditor,
examined the nature and scope of the audit, and recommended
their re-appointment in accordance with the Accounting and
Financial Reporting Council guidelines.

° Review and discussion of the interim and final financial statements,
along with the Independent Auditor's review report, for Board
approval.

° Review of the Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Fraud Policy, with
no amendments recommended to the Board.

o Meeting with the head of the Internal Audit Department to receive
their work plan, review their findings, and discuss rectification
actions taken by the business units.
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° Review and receipt of the risk management report, evaluating the
effectiveness of the Company's risk management system for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

In adherence to the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants by the
HKICPA, the Audit Committee approved a non-audit service provided by
the Independent Auditor through electronic circulation. Detailed records
of the meetings held and electronic communications circulated by the
Audit Committee during the year are available in the section titled
"Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee
Meetings”.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee was established in 2018 for the
purpose of enhancing and ensuring that the Company maintains a high
standard of corporate governance. Its terms of reference follow closely
the requirements of the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference
of the Corporate Governance Committee is available on the website of
the Company.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee require,
inter alia, comprises not less than three members with majority of them
must be NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company. During the year under
review, Ms Florence CHIU was appointed as a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee with effect from 26 March 2025 to enhance its
independence. The Corporate Governance Committee currently
comprises five members, namely Ms Madeline WONG, Mr Victor CHA, Ms
Florence CHIU, Mr Henry FAN and Mr TANG Kwai Chang with Ms
Madeline WONG leading the Corporate Governance Committee as the
chairman.

The primary role and function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to support the Board and the Chairman in the formulation, evaluation,
and supervision of the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices, ensuring compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

During the vyear, the Corporate Governance Committee held one
meeting and through a circulated electronic communication undertook

several key activities, including:

° Review of the corporate governance report for inclusion in the
2023/2024 annual report.

° Assessment on the training records of all Directors for the financial
year 2023/2024.
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° Review and confirmation on the adequacy and effectiveness of
key policies, including:

= Company Culture Policy
= Shareholders” Communication Policy
= Dividend Policy
= Inside Information Policy
= Sustainability Policy
= Board Evaluation Framework
= Model Code of the Company
= Code of Conduct for Directors and Employees
= Terms of Reference for Officers and other functional Board
committees
o Receipt of an update on the revised Listing Rules related to

corporate governance.

° Recommendation on the adoption of the Workforce Diversity
Policy for Board approval.

The records of the Corporate Governance Committee’s meeting and
electronic communications are detailed in the section titled “Attendances
of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.

ATTENDANCES OF GENERAL MEETINGS,
BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Attendances of the Directors, exclude those resigned during the year, in
the general meetings and the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee held during the year under review are set out
below:
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Victor CHA™" B 4/4 - 5/5 1/1 22 X
TANG Moon Wah HimE 4/4 - - - - v
NGAN Man Ying R ES 4/4 - - - - v
Benjamin CHA ERH 4/4 - - - - v
Jonhson CHA aE 4/4 - - - - X
Madeline WONG®* TEXRES 4/4 - - 1/1 22 v
Linus CHEUNG* RAKAR 4/4 4/4 5/5 - - v
Florence CHIU*™ REF - - - - - -
Henry FAN®* BB 24 - 5/5 N 22 v
Barbara SHIU*® BER 4/4 4/4 - N - v
TANG Kwai Chang*®* HEY 4/4 4/4 - N 22 v
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Notes:

- Ms Florence CHIU was appointed as an INED and a member of both the Audit
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on 26 March
2025. During the FY2025, she has not yet attended any meetings.

* members of Audit Committee

members of Remuneration Committee
members of Nomination Committee
members of Corporate Governance Committee

Due to other business commitments, Mr Victor CHA, the Chairman of the
Board, was unable to attend the Company’'s AGM held on 21 August
2024 (2024 AGM"). In his absence, Mr TANG Moon Wah, the Managing
Director of the Company, presided over the meeting. The chairpersons
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, and the Corporate Governance Committee, along with
other Directors (except a NED), and the representative of the
Independent Auditor, were present at the 2024 AGM and available to
address shareholders’ questions.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors recognise their responsibility for preparing the financial
accounts for the fiscal year, ensuring they present a true and fair view of
the Company’s and the Group's financial position, performance, and
cash flows. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
FY2025, the Directors have selected and consistently applied appropriate
accounting policies, exercised prudent and reasonable judgment and
estimations, and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis. The
Independent Auditor’s statement regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the Group's consolidated financial statements for the
FY2025, is included in the Independent Auditor's report within the
2024/2025 annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board holds the ultimate responsibility for assessing and guiding the
Company regarding the nature and extent of risks to be undertaken in
achieving its strategic objectives. It also ensures that the Company
establishes and maintains robust and effective systems for risk
management and internal controls, encompassing financial, operational,
and compliance controls.
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The primary features of the risk management and internal control
systems are characterised by a well-defined governance structure,
comprehensive policies, procedures, and a robust reporting mechanism,
enabling the Group to effectively manage risks across its business
operations. Key policies and procedures have been meticulously
developed, implemented, communicated to staff, and are subject to
regular review to ensure their ongoing relevance and effectiveness.
Continuous improvement efforts encompass: (a) establishing core values
and beliefs that underpin the Group's overall risk philosophy and
appetite, thereby fostering a company culture aligned with these
principles; (b) maintaining an organisational structure with clear lines of
responsibility and authority, ensuring accountability for risk management
and internal control duties, and facilitating the flow of information
necessary for ongoing risk analysis and management decision-making; (c)
implementing budgetary and management accounting controls to
efficiently allocate resources and provide timely financial and operational
performance indicators for managing business activities and risks; (d)
ensuring effective financial reporting controls to record complete,
accurate, and timely accounting and management information; and (e)
maintaining a structured internal audit function to conduct independent
appraisals of business units and corporate functions on a continuous
and cyclical basis.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of overseeing risk
management and internal control activities to the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee conducts an annual review of these systems with
management to ensure that management has effectively maintained
them. This review encompasses discussions on the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs, and
budget (collectively referred to as “Resources”) for the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions, as well as those related to
ESG performance and reporting.

To assist the Board and the Audit Committee in supervising the Group's
risk management and internal control systems, the Internal Audit
Department performs independent evaluations of the adequacy and
effectiveness of these systems and regularly reports its findings to the
Audit Committee and the Board. The Internal Audit Charter delineates
the processes and procedures of the internal audit function to enhance
the control framework. Furthermore, the Audit Committee consults with
the Internal Audit Department regarding the sufficiency of Resources for
the Company’s internal audit function.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Effective risk management is essential for the sustained growth and
longevity of the Group’s business. To guarantee the seamless integration
of risk management into the Group’s daily operations and its consistent
application across all levels, the Company has instituted a robust risk
governance and management framework. This framework encompasses
a governance structure that includes the Board, the Audit Committee, a
risk management steering group, and various business lines, thereby
enabling a systematic approach to risk management within the Group.
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The following diagram illustrates the Group's risk governance and
management framework:
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The Company has established a comprehensive Risk Management Policy
to facilitate the identification, evaluation, and management of significant
risks. Each year, the risk management steering group, comprising the
heads of all business units and corporate functions, convenes to gather
and compile risk information from various business lines. This group
identifies risks, including those related to ESG, that could adversely affect
the Group's objectives on a company-wide scale. These risks are
subsequently assessed and prioritised based on predefined criteria. Risk
mitigation plans are developed, and risk owners are assigned to
continuously monitor and implement these plans for significant risks.
The Audit Committee and the Board reviewed and received the report
on the significant risks, their changes in nature and extent since the last
review, and the relevant mitigation plans for the year under review in
April and June 2025, respectively.

The Internal Audit Department serves as an independent assessor,
providing an additional layer of defence for the risk management system.
[t conducts annual independent reviews to ensure that all significant
risks are properly identified and evaluated in accordance with the Risk
Management Policy and that existing risk controls are functioning
effectively. A control self-assessment process has been implemented,
requiring risk owners to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of risk
controls within their areas of responsibility through a questionnaire. The
Internal Audit Department reviews this process and its outcomes, which
contribute to the Audit Committee’s annual assessment of control
effectiveness.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

In addition to the independent assessment of the risk management
system, during the year, the Internal Audit Department also carried out
reviews on (a) the operation of the Hong Kong Projects Department; (b)
the operation of the Discovery Bay Vehicles Control Mechanism; (c) the
operation of Discovery Bay Services Management Limited (ad hoc
reviews); (d) the operation of Discovery Bay Recreation Club, Club Siena
and Peony Chinese Restaurant; (e) the operation of HKRI Taikoo Hui (ad
hoc review); (f) the voting mechanism and arrangement in 2024 AGM of
the Company, and the reviews on the other business units with audit
follow-up. With the implementation of follow-up measures after the
audits, the areas with irregularities have been gradually improved.
Findings on the audits, control weaknesses, if any, and the relevant
recommendations have been presented to and accepted by the Audit
Committee and the Board in November 2024 and June 2025.
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Board, through the works of
the Audit Committee, risk management steering group and the Internal
Audit Department, has conducted an annual review on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group for
the FY2025 and considers that the Group's risk management and internal
control systems for the year were effective and adequate. Management
of the Group has also provided confirmation to the Audit Committee
and the Board on the effectiveness of such systems for the year under
review.

DISCLOSURE OF DISCLOSEABLE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of SFO and the Listing Rules. A
Disclosure of Inside Information Policy has been established by the
Company to set out the procedures on reporting the likely inside
information to ensure that potential price sensitive or inside information
of the Group can be promptly identified, assessed and escalated for
disseminating to the public. The Company discloses inside information
to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information
falls within any of the “Safe Harbours” as provided in the SFO. Before the
information is fully disclosed to the public, the Company will ensure that
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Company believes that
the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Company will immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Company is committed to
ensure that information contained in announcements are not false or
misleading as to any material fact, or false or misleading through the
omission of any material fact in view of presenting information in a clear
and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and
negative facts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company strives to maintain a stable dividend to shareholders and
has adopted the Dividend Policy. Pursuant to this policy, the declaration
or recommendation of payment of dividends is subject to the sole
discretion of the Board. The Board shall consider the following factors
before declaring or recommending the payment of dividends:

° the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

° shareholders’ interests;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

° any restriction on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

° the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plan;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
motion control business or financial performance and position of

the Company;
° taxation considerations;
° statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

° any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

Considering the aforementioned factors in accordance with the policy,
particularly the prevailing economic conditions and the Company’s
financial performance and position, the Board has decided not to declare
an interim dividend or propose a final dividend to shareholders for the
FY2025. The Company will evaluate the possibility of resuming dividend
declarations when deemed appropriate.

The Board, through the Corporate Governance Committee, will
continually review this policy, and reserve the right in its sole absolute
discretion to update, amend and/or modify the policy at any time, and
this policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by
the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate
the Company to declare dividend at any time or from time to time.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE ESG REPORTING
GUIDE

The Group has complied with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock
Exchange and has released its standalone ESG Report for the FY2025
online at the same time with the publication of 2024/2025 annual report,
which captures in detail the Group’s ESG-related initiatives, policies and
performance in Hong Kong, mainland China and Thailand throughout
the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are subject to
shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is determined based on the
current market conditions, their specific roles and responsibilities, and
the Group’s remuneration policy. According to the Remuneration
Committee’s terms of reference, the Committee is responsible for
recommending the remuneration policy to the Board and has the
authority to set the remuneration for EDs and senior management, if
applicable. Generally, under the remuneration policy, EDs and senior
management, if any, are entitled to: (i) a basic salary, reviewed annually
based on a remuneration survey conducted by an independent external
consultant for companies in similar industries; (i) a discretionary bonus,
contingent on the performance of the EDs, senior management, if any,
and the Company; and (i) contributions to retirement schemes and
other fringe benefits.

The Chairman, who is a member of the Remuneration Committee,
participates in recommending remuneration proposals for other EDs and
senior management, if any, for the Committee's consideration and
approval. However, he abstains from discussions and voting when his
own remuneration is being reviewed by the Committee. No Director will
engage in discussions or reviews regarding their own remuneration
under the remuneration policy.
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The remuneration of NEDs is in the form of annual directors’ fee. To
ensure that NEDs are appropriately remunerated for their time and
responsibilities devoted to the Company, the Remuneration Committee
will periodically review and after considering the factors including fees
paid by comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities in
the Company and the prevailing market situation, make
recommendation for the approval of the Board pursuant to the authority
given by the shareholders at general meeting from time to time. For the
FY2025, a sum of HK$100,000 per annum being the basic fee for acting
as a NED, additional fee of HK$100,000 per annum will be paid to each
member, who is NED, of each of the Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company and additional fee of HK$150,000 per annum will be paid to
each member, who is NED, of the Audit Committee. An additional fee of
HKS$50,000 will also be paid to each INED having a seat in any
independent board committee which is required to be set up from time
to time under the Listing Rules.

All Directors and full-time employees are eligible for share options under
the Company’s approved share option schemes. Each grant to Directors
is subject to the approval of the Remuneration Committee, INEDs, and
the Board, considering their respective roles and responsibilities and the
prevailing market conditions. During the year under review, no share
options were granted to any Director or employee.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments (on an individual basis) and those
of the five highest-paid individuals in the Group for the FY2025 are
provided in note 12 of the consolidated financial statements on pages
175 to 177 of the 2024/2025 annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR
RELATED MATTERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC") serves as the Independent Auditor for
the Company. The remuneration for audit services provided by PwC to
the Group for the year under review was approximately HK$8.8 million.
Additionally, PwC was engaged by the Company to conduct an interim
results review and provide other non-audit advisory services related to
corporate governance review, with remuneration amounting to
approximately HK$1.9 million for the year under review. All non-audit
advisory services were approved by the Audit Committee in accordance
with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants of the HKICPA.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has implemented the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as outlined in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules (including any amendments made periodically), as its
own code of conduct to govern securities transactions by Directors (the
“Model Code”"). All Directors who were in office during the FY2025 and
who remain in office as of the date of this annual report have confirmed,
following a specific inquiry by the Company, that they have adhered to
the required standards set forth in the Model Code throughout the
period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (inclusive). The Model Code
has also been extended to apply equally to transactions in the
Company's securities by senior management and relevant employees.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is an employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affair. During the
FY2025, she has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in accordance with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and will
continue to comply with such requirement for the year ending 31 March
2026 and report regularly.

SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENTS

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with the shareholders and other stakeholders. A
Shareholders” Communication Policy has been adopted by the Board
which sets out the Company's policy for maintaining an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and investment community. Full text of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy is available on the website of the
Company and the same is subject to regular review by the Corporate
Governance Committee to ensure its continuous effectiveness. In view
of the below stakeholders’ activities conducted by the Company, the
Shareholders” Communication Policy is considered effectively
implemented during the year under review.
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General meetings serve as a crucial platform for engaging with
shareholders, offering them the opportunity to provide feedback and
share their perspectives on the Group's performance and operations
directly with the Board. During the FY2025, the Company conducted its
AGM on 21 August 2024, where shareholder inquiries were addressed.
Shareholders were also encouraged to submit their questions in writing,
if preferred, with the Company committing to respond within a
reasonable timeframe following the meeting. The attendance records of
the Directors at the AGM are detailed in the section titled “Attendances
of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”, and further
information regarding the proceedings of general meetings can be
found in the section titled “Proceedings of General Meetings”.

In addition to the general meetings, the Company provides extensive
information and corporate communications regarding its financial,
business, governance and operational activities through various
channels to its stakeholders. These include announcements, annual and
interim reports, circulars, ESG Reports, press releases and relevant policies
and procedures such as the Shareholders’ Communication Policy,
Whistleblowing Policy, and Anti-Fraud Policy, etc. This information is sent
to shareholders and/or made available on the Company’s and the Stock
Exchange’s websites.

Shareholders may also address their inquiries and concerns to the Board
through the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary is tasked with
relaying communications pertaining to the Board’s direct responsibilities
to the Board itself, while matters related to routine business, including
suggestions, inquiries, and customer concerns, are forwarded to the
appropriate executive officers under the guidance of the Chairman or
Managing Director. Additionally, other investors and stakeholders should
address their inquiries to the Company’s investor relations officer.
Contact information for both the Company Secretary and the investor
relations officer can be found in the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy.

To enhance communication with various stakeholders, the Company
periodically organises investor and analyst meetings, site visits, media
interviews, and marketing activities. Over the past year, the Company has
conducted more than twenty such engagements (including social
media interactions), where the Chairman, EDs and other members of
management have shared and exchanged views with analysts, media
representatives, and business partners.
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As a crucial stakeholder group, employees’ perspectives on various
aspects of company culture including the working environment,
benefits, relationships and engagement, training and development,
talent retention, and management style, are gathered through a biennial
employee survey. The insightful feedback and opinions provided by
employees allow the Company to accurately target and prioritise
improvements within the identified areas.

PROCEEDINGS OF GENERAL MEETINGS

The general meetings of the Company serve as the primary
communication channel between the shareholders of the Company and
the Board. The Company consistently reviews the proceedings of these
meetings to ensure adherence to best practices in corporate
governance.

Notice of general meetings, along with other pertinent corporate
communications, is provided to shareholders at least 21 days prior to the
AGM and any general meeting where a special resolution is proposed.
For other general meetings, a minimum of 14 days' notice is given.
Detailed information on each resolution to be proposed is provided, and
each significant issue is addressed through a separate resolution,
including the election or re-election of individual Directors. Shareholders
are given the opportunity to ask questions regarding the proposed
resolutions during the general meetings. All shareholder votes at general
meetings are conducted by poll, with the procedures for conducting a
poll explained during the meetings. The Chairman of the Board and
Board Committees, or their duly appointed delegates, along with other
members, attend the meetings to respond to shareholders’ inquiries.
Representatives of the Independent Auditor also attend the AGM to
answer questions related to the audit process, preparation and content
of the auditor’s report, accounting policies, auditor's independence, and
any other relevant questions raised by shareholders. An independent
scrutineer is engaged to ensure all votes at general meetings are
accurately counted, and the poll results are published on the Company
and Stock Exchange websites on the same day as the general meetings.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In accordance with article 72 of the Articles, extraordinary general
meetings may be convened upon the written request of one or more
shareholders who collectively hold shares representing at least one-
tenth of the voting rights of the Company as of the date the requisition
is submitted. Shareholders wishing to initiate such a meeting must
deliver a duly executed written requisition to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong, located at 23/F, China Merchants Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong (the
“Principal Place of Business”). The requisition must specify the purpose of
the meeting and the resolutions to be included in the agenda. If the
Directors do not convene the meeting within 21 days of receiving the
requisition, the requesting shareholders may organise a physical general
meeting at a single location, provided that the meeting is held within
three months of the requisition date. The Company will reimburse all
reasonable expenses incurred by the shareholders due to the Directors’
failure to convene the meeting.

Furthermore, any shareholder (excluding the nominee) may propose a
candidate for election as Director at the general meeting in accordance
with article 120 of the Articles. Shareholders wishing to make such a
nomination must submit (a) a written notice of intent to propose the
candidate for election as Director; (b) a notice executed by the candidate
indicating their willingness to be elected; and (c) the candidate’s
information as required under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules to the
Principal Place of Business. This submission must occur within a period
of at least three days, starting the day after the notice of the general
meeting is dispatched and ending ten clear business days before the
date of the general meeting. The Company will issue an announcement
and/or a supplementary circular, if applicable, to provide shareholders
with the biographical details of the proposed candidate upon receipt of
a valid nomination notice.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. No
change was made to the Company’s constitutional documents during
the FY2025.
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Financial Highlights
BT

2025 2024
For the year ended 31 March HZEIANALEFE HK$'M HK$'M
Results E4 BEAERT BEAT
Revenue WA 1,753.4 3,940.7
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RNATHEE AEGEE (786.0) (468.0)
Basic loss per share (HK cents) BRERERE(BW) (52.9) (31.5)
2025 2024
At 31 March M3A31H HK$'M HKS'M
Financial Position B 3R R BEET BEAT
Total assets BE®E 43,192.8 41,8247
Total liabilities BEER 17,912.9 15677.8
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARERB ANELER 22,475.9 23,3583
Net asset value per share (HKS) BREEFEET) 15.1 157
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HKS)
. e i —
BREEFE(ERT)
18
" 16.8 .
i 159 ' 15.7
15.1
15
14
13
12
11
10
9
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

At31 March A3 HA31H
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OVERALL RESULTS

During FY2025, the Group reported a revenue amounted to HK$1,753.4
million, representing a 56% decrease from HK$3,940.7 million in the
previous year. This decline is primarily due to scheduled completion of
property development projects will not occur until after FY2025, in
contrast to the previous year when Starlight One, a project in Jiaxing, the
PRC made significant contribution to the Group's revenues.

The Group recorded underlying profit of HK$70.0 million as compared to
that of HK$172.6 million for the previous year. After including the Group’s
attributable share of asset impairment provisions, fair value changes (net
of taxes) of investment properties totaled HK$856.0 million, which are
non-cash in nature, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$786.0 million for the FY2025 as compared to loss of
HKS$468.0 million for the previous year.

FY2025 posed significant challenges for the Group, particularly in
property development and investment, while other segments showed
resilience and profitability improvements despite the overall market
slump. In response to the challenging market conditions, the Group
continued its stringent cost control measures, resulting in a 9.6%
reduction in selling, administrative and other operating expenses.
Additionally, the Group deferred non-essential capital expenditure to
preserve its cash flow.

SEGMENT RESULT ANALYSIS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

During FY2025, the Group recognised a segment revenue of HK$303.1
million (2024: HK$2,554.8 million) and segment loss of HK$203.3 million
(2024: loss of HK$221.3 million) from property sales and other services
rendered in Hong Kong and mainland China. There was no new
development project scheduled to launch and complete during the year
whereas during the financial year ended 31 March 2024 ("FY2024"),
Starlight One, a project in Jiaxing, the PRC was launched and made
substantial contribution to segment revenue. As the Group was released
by relevant government bodies from constructing certain common
facilities within development projects as required by approved
development plan, a reversal of construction cost provision of HK$269.0
million was recognised in the year.

Due to the prolonged downturn in the property sector, the Group has
further recognised impairment losses of approximately HK$183.8 million
(2024: HKS$336.3 million) in respect of certain properties held for
development, under development and for sale of the Group and its joint
venture reflecting their net realisable value under prevailing market
circumstances. As at 31 March 2025, the Group has HK$1,285.5 million
contracted but unrecognised property sales.
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The segment recorded revenue of HK$526.0 million (2024: HK$551.0
million) and profit of HK$581.9 million (2024: HK$597.7 million) from its
investment properties portfolio in Hong Kong and mainland China for
the FY2025 with the Group's share of results of HTH, the Group’s flagship
project in Shanghai, the PRC. Slight decline of segment revenue and
profit was mainly attributable to the reduced occupancy rates of major
properties such as CDW Building and West Gate Tower in Hong Kong.
The Group recorded attributable net unrealised fair value losses of
HKS$670.8 million (2024: HK$263.9 million) with reference to the valuation
report from independent valuer. This amount has not been included in
the segment profit above.

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT

The segment recorded revenue of HK$306.3 million (2024: HK$285.8
million) and profit of HK$50.0 million (2024: HK$11.0 million) for the
FY2025. Apart from stabilisation of average riderships, substantial
improvement in segment result for the year was mainly due to the
implementation of new fare rates and stringent cost control measures.

Despite the sluggish property market, the Group continued to provide
high-quality property management services to residential properties in
Hong Kong and recorded a stable contribution to both revenue and net
profit of the Group for the year.

HOTEL OPERATIONS

The segment recorded revenue of HK$2484 million (2024: HK$252.3
million) and loss of HK$43.1 million (2024: loss of HK$22.5 million) for the
FY2025. Compared to the previous year, The Sukhothai Bangkok’s
occupancy increased by 19% while Auberge’s occupancy decreased by 1%,
reflecting uneven recovery in tourist sector of post-pandemic. In line
with the entire Hong Kong hotel industry, Auberge suffered from lack of
long-haul visitors, a rise in budget-conscious visitors from mainland
China whereas food and beverage sector has remained soft due to a
general decline in corporate events and wedding banquets.
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LEISURE BUSINESSES

The segment including mainly DBRC, Club Siena, DBGC, LYC, DBIR and
Peony Chinese Restaurant, recorded revenue of HK$369.6 million (2024:
HK$296.8 million) and profit of HK$42.8 million (2024 loss of 73.2 million)
for the FY2025. The Group has further recognised impairment losses of
HKS7.7 million (2024: HK$52.1 million) for this segment. Compared to the
FY2024, substantial improvement in segment result was mainly
attributed to the higher level of the golf club’s debenture transfer fee
income.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
NET DEBT AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total bank balances and cash of
HK$2,049.5 million (2024: HKS$1,605.8 million) and a net debt of
HKS$10,141.3 million (2024: HK$9,021.4 million) after deducting total bank
and other loans of HK$12,190.8 million (2024: HK$10,627.2 million).

As at 31 March 2025, about 33% of the Group’s bank balances and cash
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, 38% in Renminbi, 11% in US
dollars, 13% in Japanese Yen and the remaining were mainly in
Singapore dollars and Thai Baht.

The Group's debt portfolio comprised of primarily bilateral and
syndicated bank loans to finance its general working capital and the
development projects. The unlisted notes of HK$300 million was issued
under Medium Term Note programme in May 2021.

The maturity profile of bank and other loans were 19.8% (2024: 35.2%)
falling within one year, 9.8% (2024: 27.2%) falling between one and two
years, 67.9% (2024: 34.8%) falling between two and five years and 2.5%
(2024: 2.8%) falling over 5 years.

As at 31 March 2025, 93.5% of bank loans were on floating rate basis
whereas 6.5% of which was on fixed rate basis and the unlisted notes
were with fixed coupon rate. The Group's total bank and other loans
were all denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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Financial Review
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SHAREHOLDERS’ FUND AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2025, the shareholders’ fund of the Group decreased by
HK$882.4 million to HK$22,475.9 million (2024: HK$23,358.3 million).

The Group's gearing ratio was 45.1% (2024: 38.6%) as calculated by the
Group's net debt to the shareholders’ fund as at 31 March 2025.

AVAILABILITY OF FACILITIES

Total available loan facilities as at 31 March 2025 were HKS$18,715.0
million (2024: HK$17,611.0 million), of which 85.0% were committed.

As at 31 March 2025, the unutilised credit facilities were approximately
HKS$6,484.2 million (2024: HK$6,958.2 million). The Group closely
monitors its liquidity requirements and arranges financing for its
development projects and operations as and when appropriate.

The average financing cost was at 5.6% per annum in FY2025 as
compared to 5.9% per annum in the previous year.

With the ample internal resources, unutilised loan facilities, and the ready
access to the loan and debt capital markets, the Group has sufficient
financial resources to fund its current commitments and future potential
investment opportunities ahead.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions and adopted a conservative
approach for its treasury management. The Group closely reviews and
monitors its foreign currency exposure. To manage foreign currency
exposure in certain overseas investments, the Group maintains certain
naturally hedged positions and will make any swap or future
arrangements as appropriate. The Group’s banking facilities are
principally on floating rate basis and interest rate swaps will be employed
to manage interest rate risk for its short- to medium-term borrowings
when appropriate and necessary.

The use of derivative financial instruments is strictly controlled and are
primarily used for management of interest rate and currency exposures.
It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial derivatives for
speculative purpose.
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MAJOR ACQUISITIONS AND PROJECTS

There was no significant investment and material acquisition during
FY2025.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the loans advanced to a joint venture by the Group
including interest payable amounting to approximately HKS$1,978.9
million (2024: HKS1,695.8 million) were subordinated to banks to secure
a banking facility granted to the joint venture for financing the
development project in Tai Po.

In addition, as at 31 March 2025, the Group pledged certain properties
held for/under development for sale at a total carrying value of
HKS$7,781.8 million (2024: nil) to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The Company provided a corporate guarantee in proportionate share to
banks for securing a banking facility granted to a joint venture to finance
the development project in Tai Po. The bank loan balance in
proportionate share of 40% is HK$202.0 million (2024: HK$884.5 million)
as at 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other significant
financial guarantee contract as at 31 March 2025.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of HKR International Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages
116 to 245, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2025;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and its joint
venture

Recoverability of properties held for/under development for sale
and properties held for sale
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Key Audit Matter
BREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERESNSE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group
and its joint venture

BERERHGEQARAMBENRENENMEE

Refer to notes 4, 15 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2025, the investment properties held by the
Group were stated at fair value of HK$13,529.2 million with a
net realised and unrealised loss of HK$765.4 million recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group's
joint venture also has significant investment properties.

Independent external valuers were engaged to determine the
fair value of the investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

We understood management’s controls and processes
for determining the valuation of investment properties
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and the judgements involved in determining the fair
value;

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers;

We obtained the valuation reports and met the
independent external valuers to discuss the valuation
methodologies and key assumptions;
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERENSE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group
and its joint venture (Continued)

BERERHEGEQRAMBEENREMENEE (F)

The fair value of investment properties was generally derived
by using the income capitalisation approach and where
appropriate, the direct comparison approach. The income
capitalisation approach was based on the capitalisation of the
rental income and reversionary income potential by adopting
appropriate capitalisation rates and market rents. The direct
comparison approach assumed sale of property interest in its
existing state based on comparable market transactions, as
available in the relevant market.

We focused on this area because the fair values of investment
properties are subject to significant judgement, estimates and
assumptions involved in determining the valuations.
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We involved our in-house valuation experts and
assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation of investment
properties, based on our knowledge of the property
industry, research evidence of capitalisation rates,
market rents and comparable market transactions for
similar properties, where applicable; and

We tested, on a sample basis, the data used in the
valuation of investment properties, including rental
rates from existing tenancies by agreeing them to the
underlying agreements with the tenants.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
methodologies used in preparing the valuations were
appropriate and the key estimates and assumptions were
supportable in light of available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter
BREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERESNSE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale and properties held for sale

HEESRR/BRPURERBFFLENRO T WE H

Refer to notes 4 and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying values of the Group's
properties held for/under development for sale and properties
held for sale amounted to HK$3,097.5 million, HK$8,976.1
million and HK$1,074.2 million respectively.

Management assessed the recoverability of the carrying values
of properties held by the Group based on estimates of the net
realisable values of the underlying properties. These involved
the estimation of selling prices of the properties based on
current market prices of properties of comparable locations
and conditions, the construction costs to complete based on
the existing development plans and the costs necessary to
make the sales, where applicable.
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Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of properties
held for/under development for sale and properties held for
sale included:

We understood and evaluated management's internal
controls and processes in determining the net realisable
values of the properties and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved in
determining the net realisable values;

We evaluated and tested the operating effectiveness of
relevant controls around the property development
cycle with particular focus on, but not limited to,
controls over cost budgeting for estimated costs to
completion, where applicable;
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERENSE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale and properties held for sale (Continued)
HEEFBRR/BREDPUERSFEHEYENTRE
(%)

If the estimated net realisable values of the underlying
properties were significantly different from their carrying values
as a result of changes of market conditions and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development costs, material write
down for the properties held for/under development for sale
and properties held for sale may result.

We focused on this area because the existence of estimates
and assumptions involved in the recoverability assessment
warrants specific audit focus and attention.
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We evaluated management’s assessment on the
recoverability of the properties, and assessed the
reasonableness of key assumptions and estimates in
management’s assessment including:

(M For the estimated selling prices, we compared
them, on a sample basis, to the current market
prices of properties of comparable locations and
conditions; and

(i) For the estimated costs to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales, we assessed the
reasonableness of the costs necessary to make
the sales and the latest budgets of total
construction costs and tested, on a sample basis,
the construction costs to committed contracts
and other supporting information.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the key
estimates and assumptions in the recoverability assessment
were supportable in light of available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to

continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Mr. Ho Chiu Ping, Dennis (practicing certificate
number: P04731).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
BEERMKESTMEHFT
Certified Public Accountants

EE -]

Hong Kong, 18 June 2025
BHA 20256 H18H

HEHEBEZZESABNFET  RFAEEM
LEBRHAPGRAVBRINEAR/E
Z-AMBKERESFR - RAEXZEE
HEPHAELSTIA RIPDARER T A
AARBEELEEH HEBRFLNEBR
T REEEHERMRETERXER
ERNBEERRBEELN ARG - R
RETEERSTBBEZER-

HERBY ZHBMRENEFTEESREAR
AIEBF (BEEFEZRE : P04731) o
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

GeEEmR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 B IEFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
Bt 5 BEE®BT BEAT
Revenue WA 5 1,753.4 3,940.7
Cost of sales Ei=h=A DN (791.5) (2,550.3)
Gross profit EF 961.9 1,3904
Other income H Al A 6 119.8 1489
Other gains and losses H b Yz & E5 18 7 (93.3) (441.1)
Selling, administrative and other operating ~ $H& * T R Efb & EFM X
expenses (645.7) (714.5)
Change in fair value and losses on disposals I EWE QAN FEEH M HE 2
of investment properties &5 18
Realised losses on disposals HEREEFRER 15 (1.8) 3.0
Unrealised losses REFEE 15 (763.6) (336.4)
Finance costs MiEER 8 (408.2) (409.4)
Share of results of associates DIEEE AR EE (0.4) 0.1)
Share of results of joint ventures SMhEEREEE 153.9 192.0
Loss before taxation MR AT 18 9 (677.4) (173.2)
Taxation I8 10 (93.2) (373.9)
Loss for the year REEBIE (770.6) (547.1)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: T3 AR AN FE (R AT
Owners of the Company ViN/NEETEZ 2 = IN 1 (786.0) (468.0)
Non-controlling interests JE P A% HE 2 15.4 (79.1)
(770.6) (547.1)
HK cents HK cents
A Al
Loss per share B EE 14
Basic E=N (52.9) (31.5)
Diluted g (52.9) (31.5)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

GEEmRkEMZEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &, 220253 A31HIEFE

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEBT BEATT
Loss for the year REEBE (770.6) (547.1)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: 2w (F)/Was
Items that will not be reclassified to profitor loss ~ # T & B D HE B IEH
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit BBEEMNEE 2EHMTE
obligations 0.4 0.7
Investments in equity instruments measured at R A F{EF AEM 2 EKFE
fair value through other comprehensive ZRARTEZE :
income:
Fair value changes during the year FRALELE (2.6) (127)
Deferred tax arising from fair value changes NEEEHELE CELERIE (0.2) ©.1)
(2.4) (12.1)
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified to Rtk edi B2 Emn s BE
profit or loss
Exchange difference arising from a foreign joint BN B R BIEEZ
venture b 5 =58 (120.3) (267.4)
Exchange differences arising from translation of ~ ¥ E H M IBINEKE L 2
other foreign operations N ER 20.3 (283.2)
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration 1 5 3% 40 i B X &) 5 i B 7 B
of foreign subsidiaries b 5 (1.0) 0.9
(101.0) (549.7)
Other comprehensive expense for the year, AEEHMEEMAY  HHRHIE
net of tax (103.4) (561.8)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEE2HRAZRRE (874.0) (1,108.9)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THEGEEE (FAX)/ W BE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KAREER A (889.6) (1,030.1)
Non-controlling interests I AR R 15.6 (78.8)
(874.0) (1,1708.9)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARRR

At 31 March 2025 #2025 3 A31H

2025 2024
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 5 BEE®BT BEAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties "EYE 15 13,529.2 13,8432
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MRS 16 2,850.5 2,635.5
Intangible assets mEAE 6.9 83
Right-of-use assets CREEE 17 79.8 70.7
Interests in associates RN Do ) 18 - =
Interests in joint ventures EENAZER 19 10,224.8 9,908.1
Properties held for development forsale  #ftHEFERE W 23 3,097.5 3,3985
Equity instruments measured at fair value & A FEFF A H 2
through other comprehensive income WHEHECRATA 20 14.9 15
Financial assets at fair value through ERAFEFABEREZ
profit or loss TREE 20 361.0 4239
Investments in debt instruments REBHEKAFTEZ
measured at amortised cost BRITAKE 20 11.5 15
Other assets HmEE 21 187.7 32522
Deferred tax assets EERIRE E 31 88.6 584
30,452.4 30,695.3
Current assets mMENE E
Inventories ey 22 39.0 39.2
Properties held for sale RELEME 1,074.2 1,405.5
Properties under development for sale HEEERPME 23 8,976.1 726138
Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 24 40.1 46.1
Deposits, prepayments and & BRZIER
other receivables H b & W F A 309.5 360.4
Loan to a joint venture BERTEERA 19 - 1194
Amounts due from associates JE W B & A R RUIR 18, 25(b) 3.8 4.
Amounts due from joint ventures FEW A & A R FIE 25(c) 165.1 167.3
Investments in debt instruments RBHEKAFTEZ
measured at amortised cost BHRITAKRE 20 4.2 57.3
Taxation recoverable A iR [6] 7 18 78.9 62.5
Bank balances and cash RITEBRKRIRS 25(a), 34(c) 2,049.5 1,605.8
12,740.4 11,1294
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2025 2024
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 5 BEAER BEAT

Current liabilities mE A E
Trade payables, provision and accrued JENE SRR BER
charges EEtERA 26 958.2 11117
Deposits received and other financial PElmekEME/mAaRE
liabilities 151.6 160.5
Contract liabilities AHAatE 27 1,118.7 97.1
Bank and other loans due within one year ~ — & A I B 2 $R 17 & E Mt B 5% 28 2,408.7 3,744.1
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 7.7 6.3
Other liabilities Hip & & 30 76.7 —
Taxation payable JE 15 7 18 101.0 239.1
4,822.6 5,358.8
Net current assets mEE EFE 7,917.8 5,770.6
Total assets less current liabilities REERTBEE 38,370.2 36,465.9
Non-current liabilities FRBBE
Contract liabilities BHAERE 27 46.2 2265
Bank and other loans due after one year —FRIBIRITREMER 28 9,782.1 6,883.1
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 51.1 422
Other liabilities due after one year —FRIPZAEAMEE 30 2,743.5 27353
Deferred tax liabilities BERERE 31 467.4 4319
13,090.3 10,319.0
25,279.9 26,146.9
Capital and reserves BRK B
Share capital [N 32 371.3 3713
Reserves 1 22,104.6 22,987.0
Equity attributable to owners of the RAGHA ANEERER
Company 22,475.9 23,3583
Non-controlling interests AR = 2,804.0 2,7886
25,279.9 26,146.9

X

The consolidated financial statements on pages 116 to 245 were SB5116B E F24BEFTH KA HEHRERE
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 June  2025F6 A 18BEE S e /F L RETIZ - I

N

2025 and are signed on its behalf by: HTIESEREEE
TANG Moon Wah NGAN Man Ying
Managing Director Executive Director
B w2 BAX
EFRETE HITEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equi
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 B IEFE

2025 2024
Note HK$'M HKS'M
Bt 5 BEEBT BEATT
Cash generated from/(used in) operations & B FT15/(FTA) B & 34(a) 191.2 (2,327.8)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENBEBMNER (46.5) (39.8)
Overseas tax paid B8 INRIE (193.3) (294.5)
Net cash used in operating activities EEEBALR S FHE (48.6) (2662.1)
Investing activities KEEE
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME WERRKHE 2T
and equipment RIE 5.3 56
Redemption of investments in debt BORBHEKAGFEZER
instruments measured at amortised cost TAKRE 63.7 83
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets EEEATFEFABREZ
at fair value through profit or loss SRMEEZMERIE 55.5 28.1
Interest received 24 F B 52.1 511
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYEZFFHIE
properties 26.5 49.1
Repayment of loan to a joint venture ERTEERRZEER 149.3 887.9
Loans to joint ventures BEXRTEEDH (293.2) (872.8)
Additions of investment properties NEREME (62.3) (139.2)
Additions of property, plant and REWE BEREE
equipment (348.7) (237.6)
Additions of intangible assets REBEEE (0.3) (109)
Addition of investments in debt RERBHENATEZEL
instruments measured at amortised cost TAEKRE (11.2) (20.9)
Addition of financial assets at fair value AEERERAFEFTABEZ
through profit or loss TRMEE (4.1) (7.8)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBMARSFE (367.4) (259.1)
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2025 2024
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 5 BEAER BEAT

Financing activities BMEEE 34(b)
New bank and other loans raised MBI REMER 11,817.0 10,710.0
Repayment of bank and other loans BERITMEMER (10,239.0) (11,635.0)
Club debentures redeemed BEREMES (46.9) (18.8)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (9.2) (83)
Interest paid EENEESS (638.3) (601.3)
Dividend paid 2R & - (14.9)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling B [A] 3F % A% AR 3R R A+ AR &
shareholder (0.2) (5.6)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities B Z EBFTE/(FTA) R £
FER 883.4 (1,573.9)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RekReFEEEZ
cash equivalents o/ Om ) 58 467.4 (4/495.1)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHzHEeskASEEIER

of the year 1,605.8 6,212.6
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXFH o ZE (23.7) (111.7)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear FAR 2R & MR & EEEE 34(0) 2,049.5 1,605.8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

1T GENERAL INFORMATION

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
development, management and provision of essential and recreational
services for residential housing and leisure projects in Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island, other property development, property investment and
hotel operations. The Group's associates and joint ventures are
principally engaged in property development and property investment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.

2 APPLICATION OF NEW STANDARD,
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATION

ADOPTION OF AMENDED STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS TO EXISTING STANDARDS

On 1 April 2024, the Group has adopted the amended standards and
interpretations to existing standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”") that are relevant to the
Group's operations and mandatory for annual periods beginning 1 April
2024,

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Presentation of Financial Statements
- Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The adoption of the above amended standards and interpretations has
no material effect on the results and financial position of the Group.

124

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2024/2025

1 EXER

BEREEXEREBERATDNTARAD AR
MEeEREEMRL2BERRBEREEAR
HEOREBEBAXZMAER QA ([ R
D Em-ARBEMMPEER T B L XM
RZHURFHRERARRER —FWE -

ARBBEBREZERRA KRR REWER
AREEEDIERETRRLREEUNK
Bl sE2EERFTRABMBBLRER
HBBRFEERY HUWEER WER
ERBEEEE -EEBRERFARGERALZ
IBXBRAMEERRYMERE -

HEMBRRUARRBZNEEREETZ -

PEFH AR - BT E
ISR ER ST EAR

RMSEITERNREREER 2
RE

R2024F4718 SEEEMETESTMA
eMEMESBEEEMRE A N2024F4H18
Mz FEHEEGER 2 EIEF]ER R
WBER 2B

BAGRTERE 1R BEIBERRE N

(ERTA) R
FAGEAE R ff 75 R e 2 FE
CHEN) BfE
FRMBHREEL ERELHPNEE
F165% (BRI A) BfE
BEREESH MBHROZ7
(BAERT) -ERAHEE
AIBER ZREE
R B E B E K
B 8
BEEEUNETRE HEBRELH
R HEHREEL
Ve ACCEIRY)

RMALEETEARRBY EE KB X
ARMEAABERERTE -



NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS TO EXISTING STANDARDS
WHICH ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following
new and amended standards and interpretations to existing standards
were in issue but not yet effective and have not been adopted early by
the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 21 and  Lack of Exchangeability
HKFRS 17

Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7%

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7%

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 11

HKFRS 18% Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements
HKFRS 197 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures
Amendments to Hong Kong  Presentation of Financial Statements
Interpretation 5 — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28"

(1) Effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2025

(2) Effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2026
(3) Effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2027
4) To be determined

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact to the
Group and considered that there will not be any substantial changes to
the Group’s material accounting policies and presentation of financial
statements.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for mortgage instalment receivables,
investment properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment’, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset taken into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Group.
Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and

circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.
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When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group's voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders” meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT CONSTITUTING
A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the
purchase price first to investment properties which are subsequently
measured under fair value model, and financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.
Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase
gain.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

Ajoint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint
ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net
assets of the associates and joint ventures other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

WS RABRRE 2K EQF

EEBERBATEBREB Z2EERARGA
Bl - B &= B Bl K e 7R P U B {8 Bl AT & Bl &
ERAEEE TARBEAKRBEERS
BZAFEIREREME (HRRBAFER
AAE)VNLEREEREREE BEER
REMBRENBEERRZEEAFEZEE
TEEZEEMABINEEREBE ZRXHTE
ELmESZEERE RS-

RBERAREE DA S

BERREREHEAEATENCEE -
EAFENRSERBEHR VB REER
RREZHEN BYEEZEBRESZ
ek AR 4

BERAR-—BAAELH BLHEAHR
Eﬂﬁzxﬁfkﬁé“inQE@ﬁ%
BREFN - KHAZHELDAOBEYZERR
%ﬁﬁﬂ%'1\ﬂﬁﬁ¥WﬁWZ%%$
EAERHBEZET —BRAEREFE -

BERNRRAEERRZEBEREERBREI
ERE A AZERATBHRERAN - AE
BagitRERRz2HE R REGEE A
BREDERAEBRRAEBRL T ZHURS
FEEAEAZG S BRRGEE - BEE
wE RBERRRAELEDNRZEHENTIE
WKFﬁAWﬁ#R%ﬁw* YR E%HA
B UEREBSNZBERTKEE DA
ZEBZEREMEERE ZEBELARE
““Téé&ﬁ@ax&ﬁmiﬁ% B Sh)
ﬁ@?%kﬁ'ﬁ#aiﬁ@%ﬁglﬁ
B EREE=REZY- Pal (Sl /NEC]
/AM“T%EEEEMQW%@ﬂﬁaE
PRz (BEENAE EBKEBRRZE
BRARRAELNRREFES D 2 RBER)
B SETHEBRESGE—TEBE-ER
REBELEZLZTRETETRRETZBE A
Ak &R RMEL R S EREINEGE -

BBAREREESFRADT 2024/2025 F3# 129



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, ie. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract inception. It
represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not
directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods
or services to the customer.
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Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or
services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in an
amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group's
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances, the
contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer of
the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for the
promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the period
between the advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the same basis as
other borrowing costs.
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Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have
incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental
costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

LEASES

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative standalone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of buildings and office equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Except for those that are recognised as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.
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Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and

any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

REERKBEH SEZZBERNNEERN

RREEARTERERE RAEHEN
RIRER  MEHERSOFNRBEUETE 8

SEERBEMM B ZIEEERNRFTE -

HEMREHE:

B 7 5% (836 B & B E 5 500 B ] &
WHEES:

BT R R T2 A R E R
945t B 6 (2 D B4 B B0 2 SR B 3

EFHSERBENBGEEREREN 2
LN

L

BEEERZTRENESEAEREE
AT R R )

HESRREESTEEERRZLE
- AGFARIEEENSR -

RABBHE HEAERIEEEIEE
RIEH B

HEEXK

fisd tHZR A TR -

YHEE

SEREECRARARE

BEEEBMA—RKZRBHEEENE
AEmEnEERE: &

HMERENENSHEBERNNER
ERAWE mMZEFERNETAERARR
BRI E B KIEVIB L ©

BBAREREESFRADT 2024/2025 F3# 135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liabilities based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model. Variable lease
payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a rate are
estimated and included in the total lease payments to be recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when they
arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group'’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customer” to
allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in a foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group's
interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group's operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation, attributable to owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences is re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and is not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under
development, the Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as
the properties are ready for the Group's intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before taxation because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on the tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than freehold land and construction in progress as
described below). Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the
entire properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in asset revaluation reserve.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to accumulated profits.
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Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other than
freehold land and construction in progress, less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.

Hotel properties
Buildings, commercial and
leisure facilities

3-40 years
5-50 years, or over the lease term if shorter

Leasehold improvements 5-10 years, or over the lease term if shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 3-7 years
equipment

Plant, machinery and 5-15 years
equipment

Ferries, launches and motor  3-20 years

vehicles

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

BEBKARBELIHRERYEINFTET
RAERRRE G A E R F HIMEE R A
BRI R EE R -

NiPER ) S 3-40%F

BF - A KKE 5-504F 8k i B AT

g B & S HR

HEWERE 5-104F sk W B 52 -
B AHE R

R BB RRE 3-74

R - 23 M ER 5-154F

e MRk RE 3-204F

BEFAERFS MRBERTENEZRE

BERARRT B EAEH cFEREAD
HEAK -

ME BERRBEREREREERREBHE
BEAZEESTSELRREHENRE S
GRER DHEXREDE BERKHBER
BMEEZEMNEENREEMGHRAESR
EREERZEZEET YRNEBSER -

BREMRE
RENERBIFRBASR/XEREE
ME -

REVMENEREHEYE 2SHEMERE
RRAEHAEEEYRSEEREEEMHES M -

BREVMENFRAANE BRENEERRE
ERX - -RINBERE REVENRFE
AE UMM EMNBENRKEALEHER
AEHFHE -

REMELRVFEEIFEEZBAENELS
BN EE AR

BBAREREESFRADT 2024/2025 F3# 141



A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to
owner-occupied property evidenced by the commencement of owner
occupation, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall
be its fair value at the date of change in use.

The Group transfers a property from properties held for/under
development for sale to investment property when there is a change in
use to hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation
rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced
by the observable actions taken to support the change in use. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER DEVELOPMENT
FOR SALE

Properties held for/under development for sale are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to
make the sales.
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Properties under development for sale are transferred to properties held
for sale upon completion. Properties under development for sale
included in the current assets are expected to be realised in, or is
intended for sale in the Group's normal operating cycle.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are completed properties and are classified under
current assets. Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost relating to the development of properties,
comprising lands and development costs, are included in properties
under development for sale until such time when they are completed.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all
anticipated costs to be incurred in marketing and selling.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"), are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the gross carrying amount on initial recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost and debt instruments
designated as at FVTOCI

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the subsequent reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit- impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit
or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.
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(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss
("ECL") model on financial assets (including investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, loan to a
joint venture, loan to an investee, other receivables, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from joint ventures, bank balances) and other
item (financial guarantee contracts) which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL
on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate

groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (a) it has
a low risk of default, (b) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (c) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a
party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation.
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(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the
cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
expected loss is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest
rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and other
receivables, are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to associates
and joint ventures are assessed for ECL on an individual basis);

Past-due status;
Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised at
the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises reversal of
impairment or impairment loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of
trade receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
accumulated profits.

Classification of debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities, except for derivative financial liabilities, are
subsequently measured at amortised costs, using the effective interest
method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank and other loans, trade payables,
deposits received, advances from non-controlling shareholders,
advances from joint ventures and club debentures are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Club
debentures were issued to members at the principal amount and is
recognised initially at fair value. The difference between the initial fair
value and the principal amount is recognised as deferred income.
Deferred income is recognised to profit or loss over the terms of
debentures.
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A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes/state-
managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to accumulated profits. Regarding to the share
options of the subsidiary, when share options are exercised after the
vesting date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
of a subsidiary will be transferred to share of net assets of subsidiaries
within non-controlling interests.
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GOVERNMENT GRANTS/SUBSIDIES

Grants/subsidies from the government are recognised at their fair values
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant/subsidies will be
received and the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Government grants/subsidies relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate. Government
grants/subsidies relating to the purchase of property, plant and
equipment are deducted from the cost of the property, plant and
equipment.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the financial statements in the financial period when the
dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders/directors, where
appropriate.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimation, that the directors of the Company have made in the process
of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the investment property
portfolio of the Group and concluded that none of the investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, the directors of the
Company have determined that the “sale” presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The Group has not
recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment
properties to the extent in which the disposal of those investment
properties are not subject to income taxes.

The directors of the Company also determined the investment
properties held by a joint venture whose business objective is to
consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the
directors of the Company have determined that the “sale” presumption
set out in HKAS 12 is rebutted.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Management had made the following estimations that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements and a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2025 at their fair value of HK$13,529.2
million (2024: HKS$13,843.2 million) (Note 15). The fair value was based on
valuation of these properties conducted by independent firms of
professional valuers (the “Valuers”). In determining the fair values of the
Group's investment properties, the Valuers applied a market value basis
which involves, inter-alia, significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements, representing appropriate market rent, capitalisation rates
and adjusted market price that has taken into account of property-
specific adjustments including location and timing of referenced
transactions. The management of the Company has reviewed the
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

As at 31 March 2025, the fair value of the investment properties held by
a joint venture amounted to HK$22,928.1 million (2024: HK$22,978.8
million) (Note 19) and the Group’s share of the value of the investment
properties amounted to HK$11,464.0 million (2024: HKS$11,489.4 million).
The valuation of such investment properties was conducted by an
independent firm of professional valuers (the “Valuer”). In determining
the fair value of the joint venture’s investment properties, the Valuer
applied a market value basis which involves, inter-alia, significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements, representing
appropriate rentals and capitalisation rates.
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Management reviews the recoverability of the Group's properties held
for/under development for sale and properties held for sale amounting
to HK$12,073.6 million (2024: HK$10,660.3 million) and HKS$1,074.2
million (2024: HK$1,405.5 million) respectively with reference to current
market environment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may exceed its net
realisable value. Write-down for estimated irrecoverable amounts is
recognised in profit or loss when the net realisable value is below cost.
The estimates of net realisable value are based on the evidence available
at the time the estimates are made of the amount the properties held
for/under development for sale and properties held for sale that are
expected to realise. Actual realised amount may differ from estimates or
changes in facts and circumstances may result in downward revision of
estimated net realisable value of these properties held for/under
development for sale and properties held for sale and additional write-
down may be required.

The Group determines whether interests in joint ventures are impaired
by regularly review whether there are any indicators of impairment of
the investments by reference to the requirements under HKAS 28 (2011)
“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” and HKAS 36. For
investments where impairment indicators exist, management estimated
the recoverable amounts of the investments, being higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use.

The measurement of ECL of the loans to joint ventures is measured as
either 12m ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, through the
management’s critical assessment on the recoverable amounts based on
cash flows from underlying assets, the actual and expected changes in
business performance and general market default rate. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WA RS ZER

The Group is organised into five operating divisions: property S B D AR EELEINM: WERE  WER
development, property investment, transportation services and property & * X BRE R W EE R - B IE E 5 RIKH
management, hotel operations and leisure businesses. Fach of the 275 & & EEAFAHR KR —EZE M 2|
operating divisions represents an operating and reportable segment. pal

(i) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE (i) WADE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZ2025%F3A31ALFE

Transportation
services and

Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development  investment management  operations businesses Total
RBERBR
MERRE NERE MEEE  BIEER UNCES:S @t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEAT BEAT BEET HEER HEER HEBAER

Types of goods o services: ERRRBESE:
Sales of properties HEME 277.1 - - - - 2771
Hotel revenue BIEBA - - - 248.4 - 248.4
Other services rendered REH MR 26.0 92,5 301.5 - 367.7 787.7
Revenue from contracts with REZFAHZBA

customers 303.1 92,5 301.5 248.4 367.7 1,313.2
Rental income AL ON - 4335 4.8 - 1.9 440.2
Consolidated revenue, asreported &R A A » M2 H 303.1 526.0 306.3 248.4 369.6 1,753.4
Geographical markets: WEME:
Hong Kong BB 131.8 503.0 306.3 143.0 369.6 1,453.7
Mainland China FE R 1713 204 - - - 191.7
Japan AX - 26 - - - 2.6
South Fast Asia Rign - - - 105.4 - 105.4
Total @it 303.1 526.0 306.3 2484 369.6 1,753.4
Timing of revenue recognition: W ARERRESR
Ata point in time 7 5 {8 5 9 B 277.1 - 2774 93.2 240.0 887.7
Over time I B 26.0 92.5 24.1 155.2 127.7 4255
Total @it 303.1 92,5 3015 248.4 367.7 1,313.2
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

HEWMFIANALEE
Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment management operations businesses Total
RBRE R
NEER MERE NEER  BEEH INEES @t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEBT BEBT BEET HEAR BEHET BEHETL
Types of goods or services: EnSRBES:
Sales of properties HEME 25219 = = = = 25219
Hotel revenue BEBA - - - 2523 - 2523
Other services rendered REHEM RS 329 956 2834 = 2954 7073
Revenue from contracts with RERFPAHZEA
customers 2,554.8 956 2834 2523 2954 34815
Rental income AN - 4554 24 - 14 4592
Consolidated revenue, as reported ~ #R A A + 12 3R 25548 5510 2858 2523 2968 39407
Geographical markets: WEmE:
Hong Kong N 2189 529 28538 1797 2968 15104
Mainland China FE R 21750 197 - - - 21947
Japan AAX = 21 = = = 2]
South East Asia REB® 1609 - = 726 = 2335
Total @5t 2,554.8 5510 2858 2523 296.8 3,940.7
Timing of revenue recognition: W AT
Ata point in time T 5 {8 B 9 26 25233 = 26022 1036 1710 3,058.1
Over time FE s A 315 956 232 1487 1244 4234
Total @t 25548 956 2834 2523 2954 34815
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(i) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Revenue from sales of residential properties is recognised at a point in
time when the completed property is transferred to customers, being at
the point that the customer obtains the control of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and collection of
the consideration is probable.

The Group receives 5% to 70% of the contract value as deposits from
customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreement. However,
depending on market conditions, the Group may offer customers a
discount compared to the listed sales price, provided that the customers
agree to pay the balance of the consideration early while construction is
still ongoing. Such advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities
being recognised throughout the property construction period for the
full amount of the contract price.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental
costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Revenue from provision of various transportation services in Discovery
Bay, including ferry, land transport and tunnel operations, is recognised
when the related services are provided.

Revenue from property management represents charge-out collections,
which consist of payments in respect of the operation of the properties
which are payable by the tenants, are recognised over time using output
method when the services and facilities are provided. The Group applied
the practical expedient in HKFRS Accounting Standards by recognising
revenue in the amount to which the Group has right to invoice, since the
Group is entitled to bill a fixed amount in advance for each month
according to the terms of the relevant agreements. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to
the unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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Hotel revenue from the room rental is recognised over time during the
period of stay for the hotel guests using output method. Revenue from
sales of food and beverage and other ancillary services provided is
generally recognised at point in time when the goods and services are
provided.

Revenue from using the club and ice rink facilities in Discovery Bay by
customers is recognised over time during the period in which the
customers are entitled to use the facilities.

Revenue from sales of food and beverage and various services provided
under leisure businesses is generally recognised at point in time when
the good and service are provided.

(iii) TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION FOR
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT CONTRACT WITH
CUSTOMERS

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as
follows:

KEHEFRAZBERARBEZAANED
B A HOERER MR - KA ERHEE RIR
HEMEERSE 2 WA —RREHRSE @ &R
75 By B 5 {8 By ] A R 00

BP N6 =8 £ A & Fr KOB K5 R e 2 WA
K& F A #E(E R 3% it 2 ) BE s ] R R o

HABEBAIE‘R 2 ERFEERZEARSE 2
WA —RR IR E G &R B & 3 (8 B 2
HER -

(i) 7EEREBNEBRREFEN
ZBRTENEENXZER

M2025%3A31H 2024538318 DL E &
TEHET(RERKIBOREKN)NRSE
B RTEHERRARRZIHOT

Sales of properties

HEME
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEETR BEAT
Within one year —F R 1,285.5 92.8
Over one year —F M E - 678.7
1,285.5 7715

These amounts disclosed above do not include transaction price
allocated to performance obligations which have been satisfied but not
yet recognised due to variable consideration constraint.

EXFBEBECRESETRERAIZERER
HEEXERAERZOEZRENETNR
HIETK °

BBAREREESFRADT 2024/2025 F3# 161



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Segment information

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by

operating and reportable segments for the year:

Bz ARERE -

Transportation
services and

UTRIBRBEERAZRIBAIMAFES

Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment  management  operations  businesses Total
RBRBR
MEZRR NERE NMEEE BEEE  KEER @t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
HE#BRT HEBR BEEBT HEBn HEBT BHEBR
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £2025F3A31H
L5E
Revenue KA
Segmentrevenue - sales toexternal A ERMRA — £ & -
customers derived by the Group, an HENRRAE
associate and joint ventures REEINER 2
HEHR 1,614.4 2,164.0 306.3 248.4 369.6 47027
Excluding revenue ofan associateand IR & AR R A &
joint ventures RELZWA (1,311.3) (1,638.0) - - - (2,9493)
Consolidated revenue, as reported BAEWAN WMER 303.1 526.0 306.3 248.4 3696  1,753.4
Results E4
Segment results - total realised results D EMELE — £ 8
of the Group, associates and joint BEAAIREE
ventures (note a) NCIPARE- B
B (fia) (364.7) 839.4 50.0 (43.1) 4238 524.4
Excluding realised results of associates 11 B% 3F & B 7 1 B &
and joint ventures not shared by RAREERARL
the Group EEREE 161.4 (257.5) - - - (96.1)
Results attributable to the Group SEEGESR (203.3) 581.9 50.0 (43.1) 4238 4283
Unallocated other expenses AOBREMAR (14.5)
Unallocated corporate expenses AAERAER (144.0)
Finance costs and corporate level BBEBRARARER
exchange difference ZERER (279.7)
Net unrealised losses on fair value REMELNTEED
change of investment properties LABHEETE
(note b) (M 7Eb) (763.6)
Net unrealised gains on fair value change £ Bl fE 5 & & 22 A1 R
of investment properties attributable R B EER 2
to the Group's interest in a joint AFEEH K
venture, net of deferred tax BHWHFE
MBREEF A 29
Loss for the year AEEERE (770.6)
Non-controlling shareholders' share of ~ FE¥E B IR 2 16
profit for the year AERET (15.4)
Loss for the year attributable to owners XA 7B AFE(S
of the Company XEEEB (786.0)
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Transportation

services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development  investment management operations businesses Total
@R R
MEBRR  WERE WEEE BEEE  KEESR M@t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKSM
BEAT HEER BEET AEALT AEAT BEER
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE2024%F3R318
F5E
Revenue LN
Segment revenue - sales to external SHRA—5E -
customers derived by the Group, an BERRRAE
associate and joint ventures REEINEEP 2
HEE 34429 2,302.0 2858 2523 296.8 6,579.8
Excluding revenue ofan associateand ~ HIBR B & AR R A &
joint ventures RELZWA (888.1) (1,751.0) - - - (2639.1)
Consolidated revenue, as reported BERAN WMER 25548 551.0 2858 2523 2968 39407
Results E4
Segment results - total realised results D EMEE — £ 8
of the Group, associates and joint HE DR REE
ventures (note a) DRZBEHREE
25 (M ta) (2816) 864 110 (225) (732) 4978
Excluding realised results of associates  ## B 3F £ B 7 1 B &
and joint ventures not shared by AAREERARL
the Group EEREE 603 (266.4) = = = (206.1)
Results attributable to the Group SEREG%E (2213) 597.7 110 (225) (732) 2917
Unallocated other expenses AOBMEMAR (267)
Unallocated corporate expenses APERAER (1647)
Finance costs and corporate level BBEBRARARER
exchange difference ZERER (340.2)
Net unrealised losses on fair value REMELNTEED
change of investment properties LARBHEETE
(note b) (f5Eb) (3364)
Net unrealised gains on fair value change £ Bl fE 15 & & 22 Al R
of investment properties attributable R B Y E R 2
to the Group's interest in a joint AFEEHZE
venture, net of deferred tax BHWHFE
B ELES R 292
Loss for the year AEEERE (547.1)
Non-controlling shareholders' share of ~ FE¥E IR IR R 216
loss for the year rERER 79.]
Loss for the year attributable to owners N2 &) 5 A FE (G
of the Company rEEEB (468.0)

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £
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Notes:

(a) The segment results of the Group include the entire results of associates and joint
ventures, excluding the net unrealised gains or losses on fair value change of investment

properties net of deferred tax arising from change in fair value.

(b) The net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment properties for the year
ended 31 March 2025 of HK$763.6 million (2024: HK$336.4 million) represented the unrealised
losses on fair value change of investment properties of HK$763.6 million (2024: HK$336.4

million).

Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by/(loss from) each
segment without allocation of unallocated other expenses, unallocated
corporate expenses, finance costs and corporate level exchange
difference, net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties and net unrealised gains on fair value change of investment
properties attributable to the Group’s interests in a joint venture, net of
deferred tax. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external customers.

No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating and
reportable segments is disclosed as they are not reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker nor otherwise regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker for review.
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Other segment information

Hitb 2

ok

Transportation
services and

P& #

Property Property property Hotel Leisure  Unallocated
development investment ~management operations businesses amounts Total
RBRE K
NERE WERE MEEE FEEER KBER X2ELE @t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEER BE®r BE®Br BEBx BEET BEER
For the yearended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%3 A31H
LEE
Amountsincluded inthe measureof ~ FTEH BERFTELE
segment profit or loss: ZEH:
Revenue from inter-segment sales* DEEZ HERA - - (8.9) - (0.6) - (9.5)
Depreciation of property, plant and mE BRERREZ
equipment nE 26.5 16.2 143 56.8 63.0 36 180.4
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRESEZHE 3.8 - 0.7 - 0.5 3.5 8.5
Impairment loss reversed onloansto BRI ERFAE AR
joint ventures ZREEE - - - - - (2.0) (2.0)
Impairment loss on investmentsin debt 1% 5 pk N5t & 2
instruments measured at amortised EETIAREZ
cost AEEE - - - - - 6.0 6.0
Impairment loss on properties under HEEREFYEL
development for sale REBE 6.7 - - - - - 6.7
Impairment loss on propertiesheld for ~ H{ELEWE 2
sale AEEE 78.8 - - - - - 78.8
Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised on (% [E1)/BER W ¥
property, plant, and equipment BER&E
REEE - - (4.9) - 7.7 - 2.8
Impairment loss on trade receivables BWE SRR
REEE - 159 - - - 0.2 16.1
Net (gain)/loss on financial assets at BAFEFABREZ
FVTPL RAE ()
EE3E - (21.5) - - - 224 0.9
Net loss on mortgage instalment RSB BERZ
receivables EBETE 0.4 - - - - - 0.4
Net loss on deregistration of subsidiaries 1 &4 it B 722 A1 s it 2
ErE3E - - - - - 25 25
Net gain on disposal of property, plant & ¥ % » BiFE Kk
and equipment REIWRFE - - (0.2) (0.3) - - (0.5)
Interest income MEBA (44.1) (0.8) - (0.2) - (248)  (69.9)
Finance costs HEER 149.1 - 13 - 0.6 257.2 408.2
Income tax charge ERZ 27 31.0 34 (0.2) 16.2 40.1 93.2
Share of results of associates DI E AR EE 0.4 - - - - - 04
Share of results of joint ventures DEEERREE 106.5 (257.5) - - - 29  (153.9)
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Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure  Unallocated
development  investment ~ management  operations  businesses amounts Total
RBRE R
MERRE  WERE MEER BEEE KBEE KOoELE @it
HKSM HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEAT BEAR BEAT BERT BEAT AERT BEAR
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE204F3A831H
R
Amounts included in the measureof ~ FTEH HEEFTELE
segment profit or loss: ZeH:
Revenue from inter-segment sales* AEEZHERA = - @1 - 0.1 - (82
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BERSEZ
equipment neE 208 186 147 504 730 4] 1816
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZME 37 = 08 = 05 33 83
Impairment loss reversedon loansto B EIEHFAE A7
joint ventures ZRERE - - - - - (04) (04)
Impairment loss on investmentsin debt 2 #5R A £ 2
instruments measured at amortised EBIAREZ
cost HEER - - - - - 155 155
Impairment loss on properties held for £ HEFHENE 2
development for sale REER 1643 - = = S S 1643
Impairment loss on properties under HHEFRFMEL
development for sale REER 131 S = = S S 131
Impairment loss on properties held for ~ #{EHEME 2
sale HEER 943 - - - - - 943
Impairment loss on property, plant,and ~ ¥1% ~ BiE kR E 2
equipment REER = = 54 = 521 - 575
Net (gain)/loss on financial assets at BRATEGFABSEZ
FVTPL cREEWE)
BREE - (55) - - - 196 141
Net loss on mortgage instalment dverebalitigdrd
receivables EREE 53 = = = = = 53
Net (gain)/loss on deregistration of HERBLARERZ
subsidiaries (Wezm)/ BEZE (05) 09 = - - (18) (14)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, ~ HE¥ % - BiE Kk
plant and equipment REZER/
(Was) 28 - - 10 (0.1) (04) - 05
Interest income MEBRA (376) (68) = (02) = (319) (765)
Finance costs HEER 1233 0.1 13 - 06 2841 4094
Income tax charge/(credit) BB X/ (Ee) 2966 339 (13) 46 49 352 3739
Share of results of associates AMEBERREE 0.1 = = = S = 0.1
Share of results of joint ventures SEREDREE 1036 (266.4) - = S (29.2) (1920)

*

Inter-segment sales are entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements, if

any, governing those transactions, in which the pricing was determined with reference to

prevailing market price or actual cost incurred, as appropriate.
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Revenue from major products and services FEEmRBRBE2ZHBA

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major WU TAEBEFTFEZERERBZWA DT :

products and services:

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEAT BEBTT
Sales of properties SHE M 277.1 2,521.9
Rental income el A 440.2 4592
Hotel revenue B 5 WA 248.4 2523
Other services rendered 124 H AR 75 787.7 707.3
1,753.4 3,940.7

Geographical information i & & ¥

For each of the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the & 202593 8318 K2024F3831H I & F
Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, mainland China, Japan & £BZ 2N ES - FEAM - BA K
and South East Asia. REE o

The Group's revenue from external customers based on the location of S BERBINBEFEE (A E - & Rkt
properties and goods delivered or services rendered, and location of MR ZFEM AEE  ESW AT S » K
properties in the case of rental income, and information about its non- I EFTEM AEE) ZIWARBRBEZEE N
current assets by geographical location of the assets are detailed below: ~ B BE| D ZIERBEEER 2 FBWOT

Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets (note a)

RENMBEEZHWA ERBEE (MzEa)
2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HKS'M
BEETR ER-N: BEEAT BEAT
Hong Kong BB 1,453.7 1,5104 17,129.8 17,742.8
Mainland China AR E A 191.7 2,194.7 4,439.0 42516
Japan =N 2.6 2.1 169.4 167.0
South East Asia (note b) R s (ftsEb) 105.4 2335 1,767.7 16174
1,753.4 3,940.7 23,505.9 23,7783

BRAREMREERIRA T 2024/2025 F# 167



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

Notes:

(a) Non-current assets excluded those related to financial instruments and deferred tax
assets.

(b) Revenue from respective country within “South East Asia” contributed less than 10%
of the Group's revenue.

Information about major customers

The revenue from individual customer contributed less than 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for both years.

6 OTHERINCOME

BY&E

@ FRPDEETEEERTAREERBLE -

() FAIERAERIERNBERZ KA DR EBURAZ10% e

FREIEEFZER

RERMEFE REEBAERLZWALR
EBEBWAZ10% °

6 HMA

2025 2024

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEATR BEBTT

Bank and other interest income RITREMF B U A 69.9 765
Other income (note) = N D) 49.9 724
119.8 148.9

Note: Included in other income are government grants and subsidies of HK$19.1 million (2024:
HK$36.7 million) recognised by the Group during the year, which are mainly contributed by
Anti-epidemic Fund, 5-year Special Helping Measures and other government subsidies that
compensate the Group for staff costs and other expenses incurred.
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7 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7 HKWBEREE

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEAER BEAT
Other (losses)/gains include the following: Hib (B58B)/WE2ETHSE :
Net (loss)/gain on deregistration of subsidiaries 1 #5 Fff & & &1 s£ it 2
(B518)/ Y s 7 58 (2.5) 14
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) SNEERE H Wz (B18) F 88 18.4 (783)
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant HEME WMEESHZ
and equipment Was/(E518) F 8 0.5 (0.5)
Impairment loss on property, plant and M- BEREEHREERE
equipment (2.8) (57.5)
Impairment loss on properties held for HEERBEEMEZRERSIE
development for sale - (164.3)
Impairment loss on properties under HEEERRPYEZRERE
development for sale (6.7) (13.1)
Impairment loss on properties held for sale BIEHEMEZ RERE (78.8) (94.3)
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL EAFEFABEZEREE
B 1R F R (0.9) (14.1)
Net loss on mortgage instalment receivables FEW IR H At 5k 2 B 1B %5 (0.4) (5.3)
(73.2) (426.0)
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of EHEEBEBEXNT ZRERIE
reversal, include the following: (0B #EE) 2 4E T 5 & 1A
— Impairment loss reversed on loans to -BEERTEERRZRE
joint ventures &5 18 2.0 04
— Impairment loss on trade receivables -ERBSERZBERBE (16.1) -
— Impairment loss on investments in debt -REBHEKAGFECEBIA
instruments measured at amortised cost KEZRBERBE (6.0) (15.5)
(93.3) (441.1)
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8 FINANCE COSTS 8 HIKEH

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEART BEAT
Interests on TAEBEZFE
Bank and other loans RITREMER 638.3 6013
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder FE 128 AR AR TR A 3K 131.8 1323
Lease liabilities HEAE 2.0 2.1
Bank and other loans arrangement fees RITREMERLTHER 29.9 335
802.0 769.2
Less: Amounts included in the qualifying assets ~ J3l : sF AR B EEZ & 58
(note) (B 3E) (393.8) (359.8)
408.2 4094

Note:  To the extent funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of financing ~ Mis : IR —REEE S AIEE THESERPMWERE
certain properties under development for sale and assets under construction, the ZEEME AUEETEEBRENMZEERASENE

capitalisation rate used to determine the amounts of borrowing costs eligible for the  ZANbE % 3 & 4 580% (20244 : 6.19%) °
capitalisation is 5.80% (2024: 6.19%) per annum.
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9 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

9 BRBLAIEE

2025 2024
HK$’'M HKS'M
BEART BEAETT
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after FRFLATESIBE 0B/ (BT A) T 5
charging/(crediting): %I
Auditor’s remuneration % SLRD B
Audit services EE R 8.8 8.7
Non-audit services T R 1.9 42
Cost of properties sold EHEMER AR 219.9 1,669.9
Reversal of provision for certain construction e THREREMEREZED
obligation (Note 26) (Fff 5 26) (269.0) =
Net cost of properties sold EHEMERANFE (49.1) 1,669.9
Salaries, wages, bonus and other benefits ITE %4 HENHMEF 570.6 586.8
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RN N ET B 5K 25.6 270
Staff costs incurred (including directors’ EEXABEIRAN(BRESTHE)
remuneration) 596.2 613.8
Gross rental income under operating leaseson: & ZFHE T 2 & Uk A B %8 :
Investment properties REME (423.8) (446.0)
Other properties Efh ) % (16.4) (132)
Less: Outgoings W 711 70.2
(369.1) (389.0)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - ME L RE 2T & 180.4 1816
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEEZITE 8.5 83
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10 TAXATION 10 #iIE
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEER BEAT
Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at 16.5% NG TSl B PR RR B v A 4R B K
(2024: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable 16.5% (2024 €F : 16.5%) 5F & 2
profit for the year BEAENFH 46.9 418
Overseas tax calculated at rates prevailing in EERREREBERA R ESNE
respective jurisdictions Z BN IE 82.8 89.5
Land appreciation tax ("LAT") TR R (44.2) 1578
85.5 289.1
Deferred taxation for the year REEIRLERIE 7.7 84.8
93.2 3739

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing
in the relevant jurisdictions for both years.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of the PRC
on LAT effective from 1 January 1994 and amended on 8 January 2011,
and the Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the PRC
on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the sale or
transfer of real estate in the PRC with effect from 1 January 1994 are
subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including payments made for
acquisition of land use rights, costs and expenses for the development
of the land or for construction of new buildings and supporting facilities,
or the assessed value for old buildings and structures, tax payable
relating to transfer of the real estate and other deductible items
prescribed by the Ministry of Finance.
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The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation

AEEHRAXHESABERABKHAER

per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: ZHERWT
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEAER BEATT
Loss before taxation BRI AT E 1R (677.4) (173.2)
Less: Share of results of associates W DR E AR A 0.4 0.1
Share of results of joint ventures DIEEEAREE (153.9) (192.0)
(830.9) (365.1)
Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate of ~ Z A TS B L R 165% 5T H 2
16.5% m A (137.1) (60.2)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose T 78 7R T Ug A 2 Bt 75 5 28 (23.6) (13.2)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax TR HMAZ 2 RMBGE
purpose 203.9 1734
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMEBE BT E 63.4 73.1
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 1§ FA i@ KRR 2 TR IBE 1B (2.3) (0.5)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEEERZEZWBER
operating in other jurisdictions HEARZEE 11.3 653
Effect of LAT in the PRC PELTHIEEN T E (33.1) 1184
Withholding tax on undistributed eamings of RN B A &l R 7 Ik & F < FEHFL
foreign subsidiaries 5.3 18.8
Others HAty 5.4 (1.2)
Taxation A 93.2 3739
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11 LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO Jg ARTAERABERFE
L]

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company comprises: ARBHEEABGEAFEREERE:
2025 2024
HK$’'M HKS'M
BEART BEAT
(@) Net unrealised (losses)/gains on change @ FREREMEAFEEDH
in fair value of investment properties REH (F1E)/ W= F 58
during the year
— The Group - & (763.6) (336.4)
Attributable to non-controlling interests FEVE AR #E 2 B R 89.9 433
(673.7) (293.1)
— Joint venture, net of deferred tax -5 AR IRIELEHIE 2.9 292
(670.8) (263.9)
(b) Losses excluding net unrealised gains (b) MBRIEEMELTFELZSH 2
or losses on change in fair value of RER WSS EBEEFE
investment properties &5 18 (115.2) (204.1)
Net accumulated gains on change in fair FAEHEMERBAFER
value of investment properties, net of BaERzRENERTE
deferred tax recognised in profit or loss in B8 Rt sFE - Mk
prior years for properties disposed of IR E R I8
during the year 10.8 24.1
(104.4) (180.0)
Sub-total /NEF (775.2) (443.9)
Less: Net accumulated gains on change infair ~ Jfl : FRNEHEWERBAEFEE
value of investment properties, net of EaBRoREMELTE
deferred tax recognised in profit or loss in B8 Rt lsFE - Mk
prior years for properties disposed of IR IEF I8
during the year (10.8) (24.1)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the KX & #E A A 5 AN F [ E5 18
Company (786.0) (468.0)
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12 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

(i) DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION ARE

AS FOLLOWS:

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the thirteen (2024: thirteen)

directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

1R EEMERAERSHE
EZME

(i) EEMEHFBEOT :

B ER138 (2024F  13B)EEZAZM
W

HZ2025F3831HILEE

Performance Equity- Retirement
Salaries related settled benefits
and other incentive  Ex-gratia share-based schemes
Fees benefits payments Payment  payments contribution Total
NEREE
&R Dkt RBRAEKEF
we HtEA BRR BEFE BRI FEHER am
(note d) (notee)
(HzEd)  (Midke)
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET HEER HEET BEEn HERT HERT BEER
Executive Directors (note a) HITEE(MEa)
Cha Mou Zing Victor BB - 115 0.8 - 16 - 13.9
Tang Moon Wah HimE - 6.4 03 - 1.0 - 7.7
Cheung Ho Koon (note f) ROEE (FIEED) - 1.8 - 29 0.4 0.1 5.2
Lee Ivan Wank-hay (note g) N ) - 2.1 - 21 0.2 - 4.4
Ngan Man Ying BN - 37 0.1 - 0.5 0.2 45
Non-executive Directors (note b) FHTES (M)
Wong Cha May Lung Madeline TEXE 03 - - - 0.6 - 0.9
Cha Mou Daid Johnson ERE 0.1 - - - 0.4 - 0.5
Cha Yiu Chung Benjamin LR+ 0.1 - - - 0.4 - 0.5
Independent Non-executive Directors B3 3F 117 % =
(note ) (MzEe)
Cheung Wing Lam Linus KK R 04 - - - 0.2 - 0.6
Chiu Kwai Fong Florence (note h) HBEF (KzEh) - - - - - - -
Fan Hung Ling Henry it 0.4 - - - 0.2 - 0.6
Barbara Shiu B 0.4 - - - 0.2 - 0.6
Tang Kwai Chang HEY 0.4 - - - 0.2 - 0.6
Total Bt 2.1 255 1.2 5.0 5.9 0.3 40.0
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE204F3831BILEE

Performance Retirement
Salaries related Equity-settled benefits
and other incentive Ex-gratia  share-based schemes
Fees benefits payments Payment payments  contribution Total
DRGSR
Fek IR A RAKER
e HEd BHE REFE EWIMZR  EMR ek
(note d) (note e)
(BaEd)  (Btske)
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEBT REET BOEEXT REAT BEET RBERT BE8ER
Executive Directors (note a) HITEE (M)
Cha Mou Zing Victor B = 114 75 S 12 = 201
Tang Moon Wah HimE = 64 17 = 08 - 89
Cheung Ho Koon RAHE - 36 09 100 04 02 151
Lee Ivan Wank-hay ZILER - 27 0.1 = 02 - 30
Ngan Man Ying BxXH - 37 09 = 04 02 52
Non-executive Directors (note b) FHMITES (MaEb)
Wong Cha May Lung Madeline TEXE 03 - = = 04 - 07
Cha Mou Daid Johnson s 0.1 = = = 03 = 04
Cha Yiu Chung Benjamin ER@F 0.1 = = = 03 = 04
Independent Non-executive Directors B3 JF$117 % =
(note ¢) (Fi5Ec)
Cheung Wing Lam Linus KR 04 - - - 02 - 06
Fan Hung Ling Henry BRE 04 = = = 0.2 = 06
Ho Pak Ching Loretta (note i) e & (FEE) 0.1 = = = = = 0.1
Barbara Shiu BEH 03 = = = 02 - 05
Tang Kwai Chang HEY 04 = = = 02 = 06
Total st 21 278 111 100 48 04 56.2
Notes: Bt 3
@) For Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in @) FTRAITMHAITESTHEZTEABRETEAARGT E

connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

(b) The Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as Directors of the Company.

(© The Independent Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services as Directors of the Company.

(d) The performance related incentive payments is determined with reference to the
operating results of the Group and comparable market statistics, and individual performance
of the directors.

(e) The ex-gratia payment was given to Executive Directors to recognise their long
services and contributions to the Group.

0 Mr Cheung Ho Koon resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect from
20 September 2024.
(9 Mr Lee Ivan Wank-hay resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect

from 1 January 2025.
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(h) Ms Chiu Kwai Fong Florence was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from 26 March 2025.

(i) Ms Ho Pak Ching Loretta retired as Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 23 August 2023.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join. No directors waived any emoluments
during both years.

(i) EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the five highest paid individuals of
the Group included five (2024: four) Executive Directors, whose
emoluments are disclosed above. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
emoluments of the remaining one employee are as follows:

(h) BEFSLZLTH055F38 268 REZTAEEARAB
VIEHITES -

0] AR EZ T BH2023F8A23ARRBRIAQGBLIE
HITES -

RMFER SEYEREFEIMERRER
EMAKEZMES RNMER BEEEK
ZEAMME -

(i) EEME

HZE2055F3A3HILEFRE SEREZHESH
MATEERRZ(204F : MZ)MITEE &
FMN EXHEE B E2024F38318 L F
E #HT—ZEENHFHOT :

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEBT BEAT
Salaries and other benefits FekHMEFR - 32
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RRAE FIET &) 5K - 0.1
- 33
The emoluments of the aforesaid employee were within the following ~ FillE 8 Z Bl& B R T 542 R -
bands:
2025 2024
HK$3,000,001- HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 & 7T -3,500,000 % 7T - 1
13 DIVIDENDS 13 BRE
2025 2024
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEAETR BEATT
No final dividend paid for the financial year W EIRMNEE2024F3 8318 1E
ended 31 March 2024 (2024 final dividend B FE 2 REARR B (2024 4F -
paid for the financial year ended 31 March IR ELZ= 202343 31 B IEBT
2023 of HK1 cent per share) FEZREAREGREW) - 14.9
No interim dividend paid for the financial year I & R {5 & = 202543 A31 8 1k
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: no interim BMIBFE 2 RS (20244 -
dividend paid) I #OR P HIRR B - =
- 14.9

The directors of the Company did not propose any final dividend for the
financial years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

ARG EEDEIREMAE Z22025F k2024 5F
SAHIEMBFEE Z REHKE -
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- 1=
14 LOSS PER SHARE 14 BREE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners AR B A A B FRERNLEEEFEIE TR
of the Company is based on the following data: BTIEBHE -
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEART BEAT
Loss EBE
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic and FTEEREARBEERE 2 EE
diluted loss per share (786.0) (468.0)
2025 2024
Number of shares g2
Number of ordinary shares in issue duringthe T ESRERNEIEB 2 ANFEE #E1T
year for the purpose of calculating basic loss T A% 2 E
per share 1,485,301,803 1,485,301,803
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary share: BEgaBNEBR 2 oE:
Adjustment in relation to share options issued  BLANA B #6172 IR D Hi#E(E L 2
by the Company T - -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for &% & i% # & &5 18 2 hniE £ 15
the purpose of calculating diluted loss per L@ A
share 1,485,301,803 1,485,301,803

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, diluted loss per sharewas R R D HE A RBEIER - WEH Z=2025F
the same as the basic loss per share since the share options had anti- &2024%F3 A3 1B It FESRBEHFEEETR
dilutive effect. BEAREERAR -
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15 WEWE

Investment
Investment property under
properties construction Total
REYE TEREWMHE ot
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
ER- 3% BEEBT BEBR
Fair value AF¥E
At 1 April 2023 M2023F4 A1 H 14,157.2 - 14,157.2
Exchange translation differences N ZER 413) = 413)
Additions NE 139.2 - 139.2
Change in fair value and losses on disposals ~ R IEzHER Z A FE
recognised in profit or loss BHYREECEE
— Realised losses on disposals -HERZEEIREE (3.0) = (3.0)
— Unrealised losses - KRB EE (336.4) = (336.4)
Disposals k= 49.1) = 49.1)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment ~ EE =¥ % -« [RE L& &
(note a) (FfsEa) (21.5) - (21.5)
Adjustment of cost for renovation of certain L& TR & ¥ % 2 81 #
investment property AR ST E (1.9) = (1.9)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024F3H31H K
2024F4H1H 13,843.2 - 13,8432
Exchange translation differences M X ZE R 136 - 136
Additions NE 27.7 346 62.3
Change in fair value and losses on disposals ~ R 1Bz ER 2 A F1E
recognised in profit or loss BHYLEE L EE
— Realised losses on disposals -HERZEERERE (1.8) - (1.8)
— Unrealised losses -REREBE (655.4) (108.2) (763.6)
Disposals L& (26.5) - (26.5)
Transfer from properties held for development 2 # B HE SR W
for sale (note b) (Kt 5%b) = 3336 3336
Transfer from properties held for sale (note b) & # B 5 1E HE W %
(Bt 5EDb) 684 - 684
At 31 March 2025 R202563H31H 13,269.2 260.0 13,529.2

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the use of certain property of the Group had
been changed from capital appreciation and leasing out for rental income to owner-
occupation. The investment property amounting to HK$21.5 million at date of transfer was
transferred from investment properties to property, plant and equipment at the date of

commencement of owner occupation.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2025, properties with a total carrying value of
HK$402.0 million at date of transfer were transferred from properties held for development
for sale and properties held for sale to investment properties at the date of transfer, which is
evidenced by the observable actions taken to support the change in use.

B3

@)

(b)

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £

REZ204F3A3ALEE  SEETYEZAR
HEAERHAERAS)SAEXFTaR RERE
HEBEANSEEB T REMENREETHBEEARZBH

REBE2055F3A3BIEFE  RERABKREER
AROEBBTZMERERABAHEEFERMERISFE
PEMEEREZRENE(URIHREREMFRERZA
BRITHAEE) -
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For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group disposed of

certain investment properties and the details of which are as follows:

RE E20255F NM2024F3831BHIEFE &8
HEETHREMEZFBUOT :

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M

BEEER BEATT

Net sales proceeds received EWIEE TS RIBFRE 26.5 491

Original cost of acquisitions Wk 2 R ARE (17.5) (28.0)
Accumulated gains on change in fair value BEFECERZATEES

recognised in prior years ESlE (10.8) (24.1)
Realised losses on disposal recognised during FALERBER2EEIREIE

the year (1.8) (3.0)

The Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The management works closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The management reports the findings to the board of directors of the
Company every half-year to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair
value of the property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best use of
the property is the current use.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried
out on the respective dates by the following valuers with appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations.

SEZRERF=7AEKRMAEMETHRE - &
BEERSERINMEEMEREIE UYL
BENGEESEREENBGARE EEE
BH¥FRARRNEETTERER UREY
ERFEERBDZRA -

REFVEZATERE DEZESEEHE
REDHERERE-

&= B PR 2025F3 8318 K2024F3831H 2 %
BYWENTFE DRUTEAGBEEER LR
HBEERBES 2 EUMEHRELCR 2 HE
MR SBHETZHEET -

Name of valuer Location of investment properties  {ii {E £l & 18 REYEREZHE
Cushman & Wakefield Limited Hong Kong and mainland China BERTERAT BERTEAM
Land Coordinating Japan Land Coordinating =N

Research Inc. Research Inc.
N&A Appraisal Company Thailand N&A Appraisal Company 2=

Limited
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VALUATION TECHNIQUES

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong is
determined either by using income capitalisation approach or direct
comparison approach. The income capitalisation approach is calculated
by capitalising the rental income derived from the existing tenancies
with due provision for any reversionary income potential. The direct
comparison approach assumes sale of property interest in its existing
state by making reference to comparable sales transactions as available
in the relevant market.

The fair value of investment properties located in mainland China and
Thailand is determined by using direct comparison approach assuming
sale of the property interest in its existing state by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant market.

The fair value of investment property located in Japan is determined by
using income approach by capitalising the net rental income derived
from the existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary
income potential.

fHERKI

MNREENREDENRFELNERKRAE
FOELERLBEMETE - WA B R(LE
BRENCHBREEP WEHNES B AER
HEMBEARLOWANBEEREMNE -
BEERLEAER2EMAMSAFSALA LK
ZHERXRGBEADEREZRBAREHLEY
EMETE °

MNRPBEALREENRENENRFET
ERERLEEAZ2ERAMSAFLA LK
ZHERGBRUADEEZRBERELEY
EMETE -

MR BEBARANKREMEN R FETERRAE
ERENMCNRBHEPL WA HEE WA FER
BERYETABEERBEEKRANEE EEM
B -
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SUMMARY OF FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AND LEVEL 3
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, all investment properties of the
Group are valued by reference to a Level 3 fair value measurement.

Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs:

ARFEERARE=BHRAFETE
M=

M2025F3 831 K2024E3 8310 - £B 2 A7
ERBMENZEES="BRAVEHELE -

TREJNERTABERHARE:

Unobservable inputs (note a)

FABEH A 8E (MeEa)
Market rent (note b) Adjusted market price (note c)
Fair value Capitalisation rate (per square foot per month)  (per square foot)
miA S (HaEb) KAETSEERE (Mo
AYVE BEXRR (BAGFEAHR) (BEHR)
Investment properties (note d)
REWE (HEd)
Hong Kong
Industrial HK$298.3 million 3625% t0 4.125% HKS$13 to HKS33 N/A
(2024: HK$329.7 million) (2024: 3.5% to 3.875%) (2024: HK$13 to HK$36)
T% 2983BEATT 3625% ZE 4.125% BB TEIBT TiE A
(20244 : 3297 EEBTT) (20244F : 35%ZE3.875%) (20244 : 13T E36HTT)
Commercial HK$9,703.6 million 3.5% to 7.25% HKS18 to HKS68 N/A
(2024: HK$10,155.4 million) (2024: 3.25% to 7.25%) (2024: HK$18 to HK$74)
[EES 97036 B BB T 35%Z7.25% 18BILE688 T T iE A
(20244 : 101554 B EHTT) (20245 1 325%%725%) (20244 18/ T E 7438 TT)
Residential HK$2,354.0 million N/A N/A HK$5,400 to HK$38,100
(2024: HK$2,507.5 million) (2024: HK$6,500 to HK$38,600)
F=E 23540B BB T T iE A TEA 540078 7L £ 38,1007 7T
(2024% : 25075 B BB T) (2024 % : 6,500 7T = 38,6007 7T.)
Mainland China
HE A
Commercial HK$394.0 million 4.5% RMB7.9 N/A
(2024: HK$414.7 million) (2024: 4.5%) (2024: RMBS.0)
[EES 3940EBATT 45% ARKETITT T A
(20245 : 147TEHEBT) (20244 : 45%) (2045 : AR®807T)
Residential HK$51.5 million (2024: nil) N/A N/A RMB1,400 (2024: N/A)
F= SISEBBIIL(04F )  TEA TEA AR 14007 (20244 « @A)
Thailand
EiS
Residential HK$344.3 million N/A N/A THB2,500
(2024: HK$313.4 million) (2024: THB2,400)
F=x MMIBEAT TiEA TEHA 25003 &k
(20244 : 3134BBHET) (2024 % : 2,400 #k)
Japan
BA
Commercial HK$123.5 million 5% N/A N/A
(2024: HK$122.5 million) (2024: 5%)
[EES 1235588 T 5% TE A TiE A
(20245 1 1225BEBTT) (2024%F : 5%)
Investment property under construction
ERREME
Hong Kong
B
Residential HK$260.0 million (2024: nil) N/A N/A HK$25,600 (2024: nil)
Ex=2 2600E BATT (20245 - &) TEA TEA 25,6007 7T (2024 4F : %)
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Notes:

(a) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) the higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; (ii) the higher the market rent, the higher the fair
value; and (iii) the higher the adjusted market price, the higher the fair value.

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual factors,
such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property.

(@] Adjusted market price takes into account the recent transaction prices for similar
properties adjusted timing of reference transactions and property-specific adjustments

including nature, location and condition of the property.

(d) Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to the
market rent and adjusted market price, but inversely correlated to the capitalisation rate.

There was no transfer among different levels of the fair value hierarchy in
the current and prior years.

=

) ATABRRGABBRQAFERIBERE/ONEAR(LE
e ATERE: OFSESES A FELES R
KRBT SERES ATEES -

b AEBHERALBMERYEIBLERERNRE
(BlnEm R RPN 2 ER -

© RKRAETSEREMREAEZ2ZZFHRZAA
MELPARZBREEDEAL(REDEZNLE R
RIER) °

 BREVENRAVEAEENSHEHSREHABTSE
REIERER BRERCKRB2KIAM -

RAFEEBEFE RFEERZTRARE
Az A e
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16 W% BMERKHE

Furniture, Plant, Ferries,
Commercial fixtures  machinery launches
Hotel ~ Freehold and leisure Leasehold and and  andmotor Construction
properties land  Buildings facilities improvements equipment  equipment vehicles i progress Total
KARRE BARKE  BENE G KB BE KE BB Ak
BENE i gz RiE %8 RRE Rk RAE EBIE @it
HKYM  HKSM HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKYM  HKSM
BE%r AEEAR AEER  AEAR BEEn HE%EnT FEEER BAEERR  BBEEx BEER
Cost RE
At1 April 2023 Ra3E4818 15249 2335 8449 1,080.7 5016 2594 640 691.7 542 52549
Exchange translation differences EREH (36.1) (144) (60) = (08) (09) = (04) (12 (598)
Additions RE 160 = = = 131 198 = 165 1722 2376
Disposals/write-off &/ M (324) = = 01 (173) () = (110 (08 (663)
Transferred from investment properties  E&ERENE - = 25 = = = = = = N5
Reclassification ENNR 104 - - - 692 - - - (796) -
At31 March 2024 R04E3A318 14828 2191 8604 10806 5658 2736 640 6968 1448 53879
Exchange translation differences ERER 360 148 23 - 01 03 - 03 65 557
Additions AE 156 = = 10 140 147 08 314 3017 3792
Disposals/urite-off /58 (153) = (16) (o) ©3) 33) = 33 = (301)
Reclassfication BHAR 910 - - - 201 - - - () -
At31March 2025 R2025%3F31A 1,610.1 2339 856.5 1,081.5 593.7 285.1 64.8 7252 3419 57927
Depreciation and impairment FERAE
At1 April 2023 Ra3E4A18 8632 = 2120 5218 3058 1618 619 4803 = 26068
Exchange translation differences ERER (€1} - (04) = 07) 08) = (03) - (333)
Provided for the year TEERRE 550 = 148 299 27 162 05 25 = 1816
Disposals/write-off &/ (286) - = - (160) 46) = (110 = (602)
Impaimentoss BEBE = - - - 29 88 - 8 - 575
At31 March 2024 R04E3A318 8585 = 2364 5517 3417 1814 624 5203 = 27524
Exchange translation differences ERER 312 - () - 02 03 - 03 - 319
Provided for the year rEFHE 567 - %1 71 13 157 06 219 - 1804
Disposals/write-off HE /M (153) - (09 - @7 (35 - 29 - (253)
Impairment loss recognised/reversed) 132/ (B ) REE B = = 35 = 27 (14) = 00) = 28
At31March 2025 R2025%3F31A 931.1 - 263.0 578.8 376.2 1925 63.0 537.6 - 2,922
Carrying values REE
At31March 2025 12025535310 679.0 2339 593.5 502.7 2175 92,6 18 1876 3419 2,850.5
At31 March 2024 RO4E3IA3A 6243 2191 6240 5289 241 922 16 1765 1448 26355
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ltems of property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land and
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis, over

their estimated useful lives as follows:

Hotel properties

Buildings, commercial and leisure facilities

3-40 years
5-50 years, or over the

KARBIHMBPERIRUINZYE  BE
REBEBBEAT R AIERFHAERR

E:

R YES
BT A RIKE

3-404F

5-50FF SR B AE - A

lease term if shorter B3ii AHEEHR
Leasehold improvements 5-10 years, or over the HEMEEE 5-10F S fWER & - 8l
lease term if shorter R EHARR
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-7 years B B REE 3-7%F
Plant, machinery and equipment 5-15 years B - s kR 5-15%
Ferries, launches and motor vehicles 3-20 years Eim s AM Kk RE 3-20%
17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17 EHEEE
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and
buildings equipment Total
et KW -HEBE
kEgF kEE mEt
HK$'M HK$'M HK$’'M
BEEBT BESBT HBHEABR
At 31 March 2025 202563 A31H
Carrying amount BRE A 79.7 0.1 79.8
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B £2025F3A31HLEFE
Depreciation charge TEXH 8.3 0.2 8.5
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHHEERAMNMAX 2.9
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLESE 9.1
Renewal of right-of-use assets BEIERAEEE 17.6
At 31 March 2024 7202453 A31H
Carrying amount BREE 704 03 70.7
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE204F3A3BEFE
Depreciation charge EXH 8.1 0.2 83
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHHESENRY 4.0
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLERE 83
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEFRAREE 0.9

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £
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For both years, the Group leases various offices, ferry pier, leasehold land,
warehouses and equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 6 months to 50 years, but may have
termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has termination options in certain leases. The Group assesses
at the initial measurement of leases, it is reasonably certain the Group
will not exercise the termination options after considering the significant
initial cost incurred on the leased properties and the removal cost that
may arise.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain that a
termination option will not be exercised, upon the occurrence of either
a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is within
the control of the lessee. During the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024, there is no such triggering event.

RERMESFE SEEARZEARAE K
WmissE HELH AELREBELZEMRE-
HEAHWTANFERAE0FNEEFH
1B 7] BE B 75 4% L 4 - 7H BRAR M R B ERER
?E?EP”Eﬁ%IET\H{I%?k&{I%#oEé?%‘i%ﬂ,ﬂsﬁ
RAGETAHMEEROERER SEEAS
IR EZ Y EEE & K H) 7l 58 B BT EﬁﬁE‘w

SERE :FT EFHEARILE RUBFE
HER SELERHEVMEMELZERX
%}]t‘aﬁfzﬁ&—J RRELEZHBRAKEERETE
T EITERLLE-

BN i EAERABRAZEHNEEARZEKR
SHAERBRLESY SEHEEHNFHEES

LEEMTHRIEEETETE  RE Z2025
FR224F3A3EBEFERNMEREZSHE
BEM-

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS 18 B & N 7] = #E = / & U B
DUE FROM ASSOCIATES =N ,?ﬁt 18
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBT BEATT
Cost of unlisted shares IEEMIRG 2 AR - -
Share of reserve D - -
Share of post-acquisition losses, DG EE R EE
net of dividends received Bk E WA B - -
Amounts due from associates (Note 25(b)) JE Uk B 2 N B 3R IE (B 52 25(0)) 589.4 589.3
Loss allowance provision MR B R (585.6) (585.2)
3.8 41
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The summarised financial information of the Group's associates as at

31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 is set out below:

EE B Z D E MN2025%E3 8318 K20244F
SAEZMBERBESHIMOT

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M

BEART BEATT

Total assets BEBAE 12.5 136
Total liabilities BfERRE (1,901.7) (1,901.4)
Net liabilities BEFHR (1,889.2) (1,887.8)
Group's share of net liabilities SENHEEFE (585.6) (585.2)
Revenue WA - -
Loss for the year REEEE (1.4) 03)
Group's share of results for the year SELSEARFEEE (0.4) ©.n

Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024 are set out in Note 42(jii).

The financial information in respect of each of the Group's associates is

not material and no separate summarised financial information of each
associate is presented.

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

The interests in joint ventures include the Group’s 50% equity interest in
Dazhongli Properties Limited (“Dazhongli”). An analysis is as follows:

£ B R2025F3A318 R2024F3A31H &+
D& N F) 2 FE B ER M FE420i0) ©

FHEEESBEARZHBERNLEEL
e Ty PG ot
BME -

19 & T 2R

AERNRAZEZOEEBRRARTEYERR
NEI(AFRE]) Z50%E  HommT :

N

2025 2024
HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEAT

Interests in: NENEZIE
Dazhongli AP B 8,265.4 8,123.0
Other joint ventures Hiha & Qa] 1,959.4 1,785.1
10,224.8 9,908.1
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DAZHONGLI

Dazhongli and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli group”) are engaged in the
operation of investment properties and hotel properties in Jing'an
District, Shanghai, the PRC.

RpE
RFEREMBARITATEREDRER
BURFELEETELRZERENERBEE
/e

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M

HEBT BEAT

Cost of unlisted shares FEETR’RGS 2 KA 0.1 0.1
Cumulative exchange differences REtEN E5 (216.5) (96.2)
Share of post-acquisition profits DG EE R T 4,055.6 3,795.2
3,839.2 3,699.1

Loans to Dazhongli BERTARFE

— Non-interest bearing (note a) - % 8 (Krska) 4,426.2 44239

— Interest bearing (note b) -F B (M &Eb) - 1194
8,265.4 8,242.4
Amount included under current assets FARBEEZETE - (1194)
8,265.4 8,123.0

Notes:

(a) The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand. The Group has no intention to exercise its right to demand repayment of these
loans within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The directors of
the Company believe the settlement of these loans is not likely to occur in the foreseeable
future as they, in substance, form part of net investment in Dazhongli group as the proceeds
of the loans have been substantially used by Dazhongli to inject as registered capital into its
PRC subsidiary. Accordingly, the amount is classified as non-current asset and included in the
Group's interests in joint ventures for the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(b) The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured and interest bearing at 1.71% per annum.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the loans were fully settled.
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The summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
Dazhongli group as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 is set out

below.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

K B & E R2025F3A31H &2024F3 A8
SNEZERENBERBEFHIMOT -

BERAEEREIARELZFREMBERE -

2025 2024
HKS$'M HKS'M
BE®RTT BEBTT
Non-current assets EmENEE
Investment properties HEYME 22,928.1 22,9788
Property, plant and equipment Y- BB MR 1,546.9 16354
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 40.5 489
24,515.5 24,663.1
Current assets mENEE
Bank balances and cash RITHB MRS 787.0 8226
Other current assets HittmEEE 268.3 246.5
1,055.3 1,069.1
Current liabilities mEAaE
Bank loans — secured RITER-BIRH 216.7 2206
Loans from shareholders fi% R E =& 8,905.7 9,131.5
Other current liabilities HihRBBE 1,279.5 138338
10,401.9 10,735.9
Net current liabilities MEBEEFRE (9,346.6) (9,666.8)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAE 15,168.9 14,996.3
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Bank loans — secured RITE R - B K 4,779.4 50784
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIEEE 2,500.2 24209
Other non-current liabilities HEMIERBAGE 210.8 98.7
7,490.4 7,598.0
Net assets BEFE 7,678.5 73983
Group's share of net assets SENEEEFE 3,839.2 3,699.1

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £
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For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M

BEBBT BEAT

Revenue WA 1,638.0 1,751.0
Direct operating expenses BEEEBLTH (549.3) (551.8)
1,088.7 1,199.2

Other income H g A 19.8 137
Change in fair value of investment properties KREWMEAFEE 7.7 780
Other expenses HEfb (249.8) (263.1)
Finance costs - (163.8) (234.9)
Taxation A (181.8) (201.6)
Net profit after taxation for the year NFE R A 520.8 5913
Group's share of results for the year SEOSEARFEHEEA 260.4 295.6

Note: The investment properties were measured at 31 March 2025 at fair value of
HK$22,928.1 million (equivalent to RMB21,158.7 million) (2024: HK$22,978.8 million (equivalent
to RMB20,831.5 million)) which was based on the valuation conducted by Cushman &
Wakefield Limited, who has appropriate qualification and recent experiences in the valuation
of similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation of investment properties was
determined by using income capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation approach
was calculated by capitalising the rental income derived from the existing tenancies with due
provision for any reversionary income potential. The fair value measurement of investment
properties was valued under Level 3 fair value measurement, which was measured based on
the significant unobservable inputs including the estimated market rent and capitalisation
rate. The investment properties are held within a business model of the joint venture whose
business objective is to consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale.

Level 3 valuation methodology

Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs:

M REBERITERARETZHE BEMER
2025%F3A3AZAFEE2NIBEESTHERARYE
21,1587 8 B 7T ) (20244F : 22,9788 B EH T (HEN AR K
208315EHBIL)) R ARETHEBME T RENEEE
FTEAGBABEEARRANLH - REMEHEDIFERK
ABRNEAMEE - WMABRNEEABEBERCRBEERS
Uz BR #) L U \ EE [R] S ) VS A T B B M A\ A B T
FE - REMEZATEAEDNRE=ZERATEFTEM
B HEDNEREXTABEH ASR(BEHTTERS
RERER)FTE - REMEUNRL AT CHERRE
A MABERZERENEBESHERRSREMERR
BEZBRISPLENZ  MIFEFBLEER -

EZBARMERE
TRENERTABRG AR :

Unobservable inputs (note a)

FHBEGE AHE (M5Ea)
Market rent (note b)
Fair value Capitalisation rate (per square metre per month)
mizHE < (M &Eb)
ANF¥E BEX{=R (BABF¥HK)
Investment properties (note c)
REW* (M)
Mainland China
A A
Commercial HK$22,928.1 million 3.5%t0 6.25% RMB260 to RMB1,146

(2024: HK$22,978.8 million)
229281 B & BT
(2024%F : 229788 B BB IT)

GES 3.5% & 6.25%
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(2024%F : 35%%6.25%)

(2024: RMB253 to RMB1,189)
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Notes:

(a) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) the higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; and (i) the higher the market rent, the higher the
fair value.

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual factors,
such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property.

(© Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to the
estimated market rent, but inversely correlated to the capitalisation rate.

OTHER JOINT VENTURES THAT ARE NOT

B &L

@ TABEHABBEAFERZBRANER X
e XTEBRE: RoTSESER  AFELES -

b AEBHERALBYERYELBLERERNRE
(PIInERERN 2 2R -

© REVENAFEFERGEHATSES2EMHRE
BEEARERAZ R -

HMERREAZAEAT

INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2025 2024
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEEAER BEAT
Cost of unlisted shares FE_E TR 9 2 PR AR - -
Share of reserve DG - =

Share of post-acquisition gains, DIE W B s
net of dividends received kB Wk B 24.7 230
24.7 230
Loans to other joint ventures (note) ERTEMEERAR () 1,934.7 1,762.1
1,959.4 1,785.1

Note: The loans to other joint ventures are unsecured and repayable on demand. As at
31 March 2025, the loans to other joint ventures included an amount of HK$141.1 million (2024:
HK$162.6 million) bearing interest at 2% (2024: 2%) per annum over 1-month Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR"). The remaining balance is non-interest bearing. The amounts
of the loans to other joint ventures are classified as non-current assets as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024.

The summarised financial information in respect of other joint ventures
as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Bt & - ,\TA%EM.\%'&Tﬁéﬂﬁwﬁi&@?ﬁ%mﬁ% S
2025F3A3NA  ERFHMEGERRBIEI4IBEST
(20244 : 162.6§F%7§7E)#§ BRAEBRITRAEFSEM
FEFNE2%(2024F  2%);tEZ B B TEBRALE - BN
i‘ﬁﬁt/\“ A2 & B R202563 8318 &2024F3A31H
PEARERBEE -

H A % QT R2025F3 8318 %2024%3 A
SNEZHMBERBEENNMT :

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M

BEEAER BEATT

Total assets ﬁém (=l 5,798.9 7,098.7
Total liabilities BfERRE (6,307.8) (7,340.7)
Net liabilities BEFR (508.9) (242.0)
Group's share of net assets SESREEFE 24.7 230
Revenue WA 1,311.3 888.0
Net loss after taxation for the year REFBRBZFER (266.9) (99.1)
Group's share of results for the year SEDhAFEEE (106.5) (103.6)

Details of the principal joint ventures of the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 42(iv).

£ B R2025F3 8318 M2024F3H831H & £
ZERENA ZHFEBEHRM T2 °
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20 INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY
SECURITIES

20 ERERAZB R ZRE

Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2025 using
M2025F3 831 A AFETE

2025 Level 1 Level 3
EF—BHR FZER
HKS$'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEABTT BHEETT BHEABTT
Investments in debt instruments REENATECER
measured at amortised cost TAKSE
Debt securities (note a) B E % (isa)
Current mEh 4.2
Non-current JE M &) 11.5
15.7
Equity instruments measured at BRAVEFAEMEE
FVTOC! WaRstE82’RATA
Listed equity securities (note b) ETRAES (M 5ZEb) 11.0 11.0 -
Unlisted equity securities (note ) FEETRAFES (M3t 3.9 - 3.9
14.9 11.0 3.9
Analysed for reporting purposesas: A EFHRE M ZHTUOT ¢
Non-current FE 7 & 14.9
Market value of listed equity securities - 71 % K & % 2 T (&
Listed in Hong Kong REEET 1.4 1.4 -
Listed overseas REINETH 9.6 9.6 -
11.0 11.0 -
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAERZLZ
Unlisted equity securities (note d) EETRAE S (H3Ed) 360.8 - 360.8
Listed debt securities (note e) T EBES(HiEe) 0.2 0.2 -
361.0 0.2 360.8
Analysed for reporting purposesas: B EFHRE M2 HTUT ¢
Non-current IER B 361.0
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Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2024 using
R2024F3 31 HATFET=

2024 Level 1 Level 3
F—ER F=EBH
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEATT BEBTT BEBIT
Investments in debt instruments BEENATECER
measured at amortised cost THEKE
Debt securities (note a) B E S (Miaa)
Current i 57.3
Non-current FETRB 115
68.8
Equity instruments measured at BRATVEFAEMEE
FVTOCI W82 RALA
Listed equity securities (note b) EHRAES (M 5Eb) 10.2 10.2 =
Unlisted equity securities (note c) FEETRAFEFH (M o) 13 - 13
11.5 10.2 13
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  ASE2WRE MW Z OO T ¢
Non-current ER B 115
Market value of listed equity securities £ T IR AN 35 %4 2 T &
Listed in Hong Kong REBE™ 19 19 =
Listed overseas RN ET 83 83 =
10.2 10.2 -
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEFAERZ
Unlisted equity securities (note d) Ik TR ARE 5 (i sEd) 3599 = 3599
Listed debt securities (note e) ETEBES (Kiie) 430 430 =
Unlisted debt securities (note f) IEEMESE = (B aEe) 210 = 210
4239 430 380.9
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  ASZ2RE B Z DA T :
Non-current ERE 4239
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Notes:

(a) The Group intends to hold the assets to maturity to collect contractual cash flows
and these cash flows consist solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

(b) The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income for the fair value
changes of certain equity investments. These investments are not held for trading and not
expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.

The fair value of listed equity securities amounting to HK$11.0 million (2024: HK$10.2 million)
are determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant
exchanges in active markets as at 31 March 2025.

(0 The unlisted equity securities of HK$3.9 million (2024: HK$1.3 million) represent
investment in unquoted equity investment in a private operating company which is not held
for trading purpose.

The fair value of the unquoted equity investment is determined by using valuation techniques
including price-to-sales multiples of comparable companies and discount for lack of
marketability. A slight increase in the price-to-sales multiples would result in a slight increase
in fair value and vice versa. An increase in the discount factor would result in a decrease in fair
value and vice versa.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant unobservable
data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

i)

@ SERFEZXSEEEZIHUNEBMANRSR
MZERERER/RINEAERREEAS ZFE -

0 EEEBEETRAREZATESDNAMDE
W3 o BB - % R A R ER 5 AR TR AR
TEEE.

FTRABHFZ AFENOE BB L(2024F : 1028 &%
T TR ER2025F3ANBEERMIB 2 HEBRS 2™
BEAREmMET -

© 3OABABITQ04F 13EEBTT) ZIELTRAEAZ
FERERTIBEEERR AL AR ZERBERA

ERERAREZAFEDEAGERDG(BETLRA
A THERBOMETLRREZTHRBDERIR - T
EEHER T SRR FEEHEN  R2IFA - BR
RBENBERRTERD  R2TA -

HREEERAFREREEEAMEY TEKN WAL EH
HETABRESEED Y EBRBEHREDN -

The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows: FEEMBRAZRFRZEESHWT ¢
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BHEET BEET
Balance at beginning of the year FHHER 1.3 109
Converted from convertible loan during the year FRNEABRKRERER 5.5 =
Net fair value loss to other comprehensive income REMEERET 2 ATFEFES (2.9) (9.6)
Balance at end of the year FRE 3.9 13
(d) As at 31 March 2025, the unlisted equity securities represent investments in private  (d) M2025F3A31H  ELETRABHALERERES

equity funds of HK$121.5 million (2024: HK$141.7 million) and unquoted equity investment of
HK$239.3 million (2024: HK$218.2 million) which are measured using valuation techniques
based on inputs that can be observed in the market in addition to unobservable inputs such

as company specific financial information.
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ZEBEINSABBETQIUFE 14 7EEST) RERER
A E2393E BB (2024F 21828 8% L) HERM
BEREE - ZERORZEALHBAREITHEEM B
BREAUEEEARE(MATETHBER)MEE -



In accounting for the fair value measurement of the investments in private equity funds,
management has determined that the reported net asset value of the private equity funds
provided by the general partners represent the fair value of the private equity funds. The
general partners used different valuation methodologies to measure different underlying
investments of the funds. The general partners measured the unrestricted actively traded
public equity and debt investments at the closing price or bid price of the identical assets as
at measurement date. The general partners also used methodology based on relevant
comparable data whether possible to quantify the adjustment from cost, transaction prices or
latest financing price when adjustment if necessary, or to justify that cost, transaction prices
or latest financing price is still a proper approximation of fair value of the underlying
investments held by the investment funds in determining the net asset value. The factors to
be considered in assessment may require the judgement. For those investments that have
achieved positive and sustainable operating performance, the general partners adopted
Earning Multiples Methodology. The valuation using this methodology is calculated by
applying the most appropriate and reasonable multiple derived from reference to market
based conditions of quoted companies or recent private transactions. If the multiples are
derived from public company comparable, it is discounted for considerations such as
illiquidity and differences between the comparable companies and portfolio companies,
based on company specific facts and circumstances according to the general partner’s
judgment. The general partners also adopted discounted cash flow methodology. The cash
flows are projected based on the budgeted cash flows of the portfolio companies, which are
adjusted for current market environment. The significant unobservable inputs include
discount rates ranging from 6.25% to 13.5%. The discount rates are derived from observable
return of comparable companies, which are adjusted for considerations such as different
capital structure, sizes and other specific risk of the portfolio companies. The higher the
discount rate, the lower the fair value and vice versa.

For unquoted equity investment, the Group applies a minority interest discount on the net
assets value of the investee adjusting with the fair value of the underlying properties to
determine the fair value. The valuation of the underlying properties is determined by income
capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation approach is calculated by capitalising the
rental income derived from the existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary
income potential. The fair value measurement of the underlying properties is measured
based on the significant unobservable inputs including the estimated average market rent
ranging from RMB114 to RMB323 (2024: RMB114 to RMB321) per square meter and
capitalisation rate of 4.25% (2024: 4.25%). The higher the market rent, the higher the fair value.
The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant unobservable
data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

RALBREESCREZATEFEZGHRENS B8
EEETHLRARAFMBRHRZERLEREESZEE
FEALEREESZATE EBEABARBIRMGE
FE UFETRAESZHEBERE TREBARIERE
ERGEAHZEMENXEABTEFRHIIIZERZA
EREREHRE LTBEABANSEAEZBERTER
BEABATLERBEZFE LKA  XHEEHE
FREERZAE(WEAE)  KFHAKE X FEEK
BREERNAECEEFETHREESMISAHERA
BREZAFEZAEROE -TFEPETEEZEZA
FEHE - RZECERNTIEARAFBEZEERRAZIRE
s TBEBARMNBAGBE L - EA LM EZEE
TEBEAKS2E LT RABREHRZIARS 2T 5 EE
BHEMBZHRAEREGEBZBEETTE - WEBGEER
BEARALRAR EBREREBAZHAHREARZ
HEEERBR EERABHETRRAILRAGEEESR
ERARIZEZZRENTHE LT REBANKMUIELRS
MEZ - ReREZBANERKRELAEG ARz EER S
e WEEAMBREETAE EXTIHREG AR
B EEIEIE R (N F625%F135%) ° BiIR R Ty R 8 A L &
ARIZABROAF WRIEREEEG ARIZTRE R4
BAEREMEERRERRETAZ - WRERES
AFEBE RZITHA-

RERERAKREMS  SEHREURZEEFERER
DHREESEZITE UEEYEZAFEELAE U
BEAFE - BEVEEEDNFERRAEREEMERE -
WABARZBBENMEUREEL WEMA R KA ER
HEMEBEIBERANBEREMNTE HEWEZA
FEAEDNEREATTERGASE(REGSFHE
SHREBFARNTFARBE114TTE ARE3237T (20245 -
ARBINATEARE3217T) K& KL F425% (20245 -
425%))itE - MBS HE AFEAIBES BRI
= AFERMIE-

HREEERAFHEREEEAMEL NEX - ML EH
HRATABRESBEEH X EREREREDIN -
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The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

ELMBRAES < EBMT

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M

HEBRT BEAT

Balance at beginning of the year FRER 359.9 384.0

Net fair value loss in profit or loss RERPZAFEEBR (1.9) (128)

Acquisition during the year FRUHE 4.1 =

Proceeds from disposal HEBRIEA (0.9) (7.5)
Exchange translation differences EHEH (0.4)

Balance at end of the year FRER 360.8 359.9

(@ Even though the Group’s business model is to hold debt securities assets in orderto  (e) BEERBEZEBEAARBEBERIFEENKRE

collect contractual cash flows, the cash flows of these investments do not meet the HKFRS 9
criteria as solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The fair value of the debt securities as at 31 March 2025 is HK$0.2 million (2024: HK$43.0
million) which is valued by reference to the Level 1 fair value measurement deriving from
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. The weighted average effective interest
rate is 5.4% (2024: 5.6%) per annum.

) The unlisted debt securities of HK$21.0 million as at 31 March 2024 represent
investment in an unquoted convertible loan to a private operating company. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, the unlisted debt securities were settled partly in form of a conversion
of convertible loan to ordinary shares, cash repayment and an extension of straight loan.

As at 31 March 2024, the fair value of the unquoted convertible loan was taking reference to
the tranches of settlement partly in form of converted share at a price based on the latest
round financing without adjustment and partly in form of a loan adjusted by ECL upon an
extended maturity.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant unobservable
data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

MReRE BHEBREZHSAEREEASERHR
BEEASBEANEZNRMATE BT EHBIRELAEOR
ZHE °

M2025F3A318  EHFHZAFBER2E &S (2024
FBOABAL) RATENLEETRT S LAREE
CHREMELE " EBRAFEAEMGEE  MEFHER
F F 3 /55.4% (2024 F ¢ 56%) °

() MR2024F3 8318 210 BB T2 ETELKES
BRERA—ELERARHZERETRRER - RE
F2025F3A3NBIEFE FLTEBEFILH UK
BREREBRALTER BRENRREREEERZER

s
4 °

M2024F3A3H  EREABRRERZATFEDNLELZ2ZE
BOERGEH —HRECRERARE) BRUBRRNH Z2ER
EBAUNERINHEARCEHEESRARZERFER#E
TZoBLEEE -

HREEERAEHREREEEME L TEK  HILE
HRATABESBEEH X ERBEREREDIN -

The movement in the unlisted debt securities is as follows: FLETEHIEF2EHNOT :
2025 2024
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEER BEAT
Balance at beginning of the year FRER 21.0 223
Net fair value loss in profit or loss REBEFRZAFEFERE (0.2) (13)
Proceeds from repayment BRETBHIE (10.0) =
Conversion into shares BB M5 (5.5) =
Reclassification to secured loan BEMSBERERER (5.3) -
Balance at end of the year FRER - 210
There was no transfer among different levels of the fair value hierarchy in the current and ~ RAFERBEFE RFEER 2 TR E K 2 H I &

prior year.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND VALUATION
PROCESSES

The Group determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
for Level 3 fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to
the extent it is available. The valuation is performed at the end of each
reporting period. Where there is material change in the fair value of the
assets, the cause of the fluctuations will be reported to the management
of the Group.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in
determining the fair value of assets are disclosed above.

21 OTHER ASSETS

AFPESAERMGEERE
SEAF-ERATFEABETAENHE
B9 R B AR -

R AFER SERATELTRERE
AMBABERE HERSBRSHRE
T-HMEEZAFELRERES HEY
ZRARAEEEEERS

ERETEERAYEMERAZHAERTL RS
ABBEZEHNN EXHE -

21 HEE

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAR BEAT
Mortgage instalment receivables (note a) FE U %2 18 55 HA 4t 5 (Fft % a) 23.8 110.2
Loan to an investee (note b) MR EHRER(HEb) 106.3 106.2
Other assets Hih & E 57.6 10838
187.7 325.2

Notes: B 5E
@ The mortgage instalment receivables represent the financing provided to the buyers (@) EURIES MR RH TEEERMEER A

of development properties of the Group. The amounts bear interest at prime rate minus 2.5%
to prime rate (2024: prime rate minus 2.5% to prime rate) and are receivable by instalments
over a period of not more than 25 years (2024: 25 years) from the sale of relevant properties.
The receivables are secured by a first mortgage or a second mortgage over the respective
properties. The portion of mortgage instalment receivables due within one year of HK$48.1
million (2024: HK$86.1 million) is included as other receivables in current assets.

(b) The Group owns a 15% interest in an unlisted company incorporated in Singapore
which holds a commercial complex comprising a retail mall, 2 office towers and a residential
rental apartment in Tianjin, the PRC. The loan to the investee is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The Group has no intention to exercise its right to demand repayment
of these loans within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the amount is classified as non-current asset for the purpose of presentation in

the consolidated statement of financial position.

B WHEHFIEZFBEN R F25%E R EBF K8 (2024
FRBEFERHEZREEMNER) TEEABMES
& N EB B 25 (2024 4F < 256 ) M HAUR (Bl o it 8 UK it 5K
TABRAMERES —RIBRE L BIER - B D AB4s)
BEATQ4F 861 BEBT) R —F ARz ERIZ
BOBMHREAARDEEZ Lt ERABRA -

) EER-REFMEEBRIZELTAANES
IS ZATRTERRRE - EEEEAR B
—EEY L MERAEARR -BEEEEAR - H
AEREHSERAREN LEREREREE - £0E
B E M KR R 1218 A AT HAER - BREER
SEH-AL R2IREARBRARTS  SHLE
BHIfEERBEE -
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22 INVENTORIES 22 FE
2025 2024
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEBETT BEBIT
Consumables S 39.0 392

23 PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

23 HHEGFER/ZET

DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE LYE S
2025 2024
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEEAT BEAT
Current: i
Properties under development BEABAHLEERTPME
for sale in Hong Kong 5,627.0 4,467.6
Properties under development BERBIIMIEEERPWE
for sale outside Hong Kong 3,349.1 2,794.2
8,976.1 7,261.8
Non-current; FEME
Properties held for development BEABERNBELESFERME
for sale in Hong Kong 2,166.2 2,5239
Properties held for development BEABIIMIELERFERDE
for sale outside Hong Kong 931.3 874.6
3,097.5 3,398.5

At the end of the reporting period, total borrowing costs capitalised in
the properties held for/under development for sale were HK$844.5
million (2024: HK$519.1 million). The properties under development for
sale amounting to HK$7,565.8 million (2024: HK$7,261.8 million) are
expected to be completed after twelve months from the end of the

reporting period.
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24 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit periods allowed by the Group to its customers are dependent
on the general practices in the industries concerned. For property sales,
sales terms vary for each property project and are determined with
reference to the prevailing market conditions. Property rentals are
receivable in advance. Payments for clubs and hotel services are
receivable on demand.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance
for credit losses, presented based on the payment due date at the end of
the reporting period:

24 EWE FERRK

KRERTEEPZEEMRTFERA—RED
BEE - ROEXHEMS HERRREME
HEME Y2REFTAEET -WEHES
AREBN SMREERE2ERARE
KB UL -

UTRERESERIREEEREE R
BEMRZIANRBHE2NN 2 RE D

2025 2024

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEBRT BEAET

Not yet due & 7R E 23 13.5 12.7
Overdue: #H

0-60 days 0-60% 14.9 26

61-90 days 61-90K 1.9 34

Over 90 days B30 K 9.8 74

40.1 46.1

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade receivables balances
are debtor with aggregate carrying amount of HK$26.6 million (2024:
HK$33.4 million) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the
past due balances, HK$9.8 million (2024: HK$7.4 million) has been past
due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default because based
on the Group's historical information, the counterparty is of a good
credit quality and usually settles after due date. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

The Group has provided allowance for receivables overdue beyond 120
days because historical experience is such that receivables that are past
due beyond 120 days are generally not recoverable. Management
closely monitors the credit quality of trade receivables and considers the
trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good
credit quality.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.

MR2025F3A31H  SBZ2RERKE FHERREH
BIERKEBEIH2EREE  RAES
HB266AEET(20245 1 3B4EEBIT) - @
B HEFR 98B BB TQ04F 745 BB
T BB B0 RE A o ERRIBREEENB
TER RZEFHEEEERT BEFR
A RBEN RUERAREN - SEUE
MEZEHEATEEAERR -

EEE BB IBEI20K 2 FE W IR AT e &
B AR BEAELER ZSOHBER
ORZEWER—MBIAIKE - EEER
NERBKRBSERERCEEER  URAE%
SV HEARRREZRRESERREER LT
ZIEEE%-

BRABERN A2 FIEHRHT TS -
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25 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) BANKBALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2025, bank balances and cash represent cash held by the
Group and short-term bank deposits at market interest rate ranging from
0.01% to 4.03% (2024: 0.01% to 5.68%) per annum and included an
amount of HK$0.1 million (2024: HKS$1.5 million) which is sale proceeds
arising from property sales held by stakeholders.

In addition, as at 31 March 2025, bank balance and cash included
restricted bank balances for construction of pre-sale properties of
HKS$587.6 million (2024: HK$191.5 million) placed in designated bank
accounts, and will be released in accordance with certain construction
progress milestones.

(b) AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, non-trade nature, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

(c) AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.
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25 Htt S MEE

(a) RITERRRS

M2025F3A3H  RITEHRER S AEERF
BEzHReRMEFFENF001%E403%
(20244 1 001%E568%) 2 M HRITF K I
BRE—F¢E A0 EEBTQ04F 1588
BIL) 2T ZEREAMEHEEZHERN
BIE THREARFH -

AN 20253831 H  RITEBEESE
ERERBEVETRNEERTERZRE
PRl SR 1T 45 45876 B B 8 7 (20244F © 19158
EELT) ITBEEETREREERRZGE
R R o

(b) PEWLHEE 1 RFIR
EURBEARFARARER FEFUEL .
GBRARERER-

() BRESERATRE
ERAEARRARBER LERARE

SAEIE -

BRRER A2 FHBERKE4



26 TRADE PAYABLES, PROVISION AND
ACCRUED CHARGES

As at 31 March 2025, included in trade payables, provision and accrued
charges are trade payables of HK$195.1 million (2024: HK$87.4 million),
an aged analysis presented based on the payment due date at the end
of the reporting period is as follows:

26 ENEZRMN BERE
ATEA

M2025F3A31H  BHESHER BERE
TERTREREENESERFIGIEEET
(2024%F : 874BBBETT) LW TARREBRK
REBNZBEEN ZRE DT

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M

BEATT BEETT

Not yet due = 2K 5l 23 1143 62.8
Overdue: #H

0-60 days 0-60K 69.2 20.8

61-90 days 61-90K 1.8 0.7

Over 90 days BB K 9.8 31

195.1 874

The average credit period on purchases of goods and payment for
subcontractor works is 90 days.

As at 31 March 2025, the trade payables, provision and accrued charges
included (i) construction cost accruals of HK$433.2 million (2024:
HK$335.4 million); and (i) provision for certain construction obligations
of HK$80.6 million (2024: HK$349.5 million). In the course of the property
development activities, the Group is obliged to construct certain
common or public facilities within the development projects in
accordance with the development plans approved by the relevant
authorities. Provision for such construction costs has been made when a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made and the details of the
movement of the provision are set out below:

FEEREINSBIRRXE FTHEEE
ABOK

M2025F3A31H  BHESHER BERE
FFTERABEOER ZENXA43328 BHF T
(20245 : 3354 & B TL) R E TEEX
YE BT 1E B #5806 8 B 78 JL (2024 4F 1 3495H B
BIL) EETEETYVEBRRTH ZARSD
ERBEBEERIEZERETE RBEEBR
ENEEETAERRARERE - EEE RN A
HEBEMEAEZSBIELAISETRE - 5
ZERERANELBE MBEEHZFE
ER| R N

HK$’'M

BEAERT

At 1 April 2023 20234 H1H 3525
Provided during the year FABERE 80

Reversed during the year F AR E (11.0)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 20243318 K&2024F4H1H 3495
Provided during the year FABERSE 0.1

Reversed during the year (note) R E (B FE) (269.0)
At 31 March 2025 7202553 H831H 80.6

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2025, as the Group was released by relevant
government bodies from constructing certain common facilities within development projects
as required by approved development plan, provision for construction costs of HK$269.0

million was reversed.

MisE : REZ2025F3A3HLEFE AR EEERBRA
BB REHENHE TR EREERBEERANET
DA R ) B K - B B R S A 2600 B BB T ©

N
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27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27 EHNEE
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBT BEETT
Property sale deposits MEHERS 1,054.5 22438
Advance payments from customers BEPEMR 110.4 98.8
1,164.9 3236
Less: Amount included under current liabilities Wt ARBAEBEZEHE (1,118.7) (97.1)
Amount included under non-current liabilities FFAENRBEBECEE 46.2 226.5

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised inthe TR BN AR FEF % D E R A B 45

current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. EHBEEME-
2025 2024
HK$’'M HKS'M
BEER BEETT
Revenue recognised that was included in contract 5T AFHI &N B EEHRHEER
liabilities balances at the beginning of the year: WA
Property sales deposits MEHEERS 49.4 2,013.7
Advance payments from customers EFPEMAR 47.7 407
97.1 2,0544
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28 BANKAND OTHER LOANS

28 BITREMER

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEATT BEAETT
Bank loans (note a) IRITE R (M sEa) 11,892.1 10,328.7
Bonds and notes (note b) BEH R EE (KiiEb) 298.7 2985
12,190.8 10,627.2
Less: Amount included under current liabilities Wt ARBAGB B (B
(including bank loans with a repayable on BB R R EREEEK
demand clause) ZIRITE ) (2,408.7) (3,744.1)
Amount included under non-current liabilities STAERBEEZERE 9,782.1 6,383.1
Bank and other loans are repayable: RITRHEMERAR TR
B -
On demand or within one year BERS —FR 2,408.7 3,744.1
Between one and two years —FEWERN 1,199.2 2,888.2
Between two and five years MEERFA 8,284.2 3,696.4
Over five years HBiEAFE 298.7 2985
12,190.8 10,627.2
Secured FHEA 3,361.3 =
Unsecured = 4 37 8,829.5 10,627.2
12,190.8 10,627.2
Bank loans that contain a repayable on demand B 5 7] Bl Z K E B E K 2 R1T
clause (shown under current liabilities) and ERMreadEyr) BER
the scheduled payment is (note c): A (MsEo) :
Within one year —F R 470.0 1000

Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2025, the bank loans included an amount of HK$500.0 million (2024
nil) carrying a fixed interest rate at 5.73% per annum. The remaining balance carried interest

at an average margin of 1.12% (2024: 1.02%) plus HIBOR, other relevant interbank offered

rates or other benchmark interest rates per annum.

(b) On 10 April 2013, the Company established a US$1.0 billion Medium Term Note
Programme (“MTN Programme”). On 25 May 2021, a 10-year Hong Kong dollar fixed rate

notes in the principal amount of HK$300 million at a coupon rate of 3.25% per annum was

issued under the MTN Programme.

() The amounts due are based on scheduled payment dates set out in the respective

loan agreements.

M2025F3A318 - R17TE KB 5008 8B T

(204F  E)RBFSBWZEECHMEFB2EHE - AT &
BRIZEF1.12% (2024 F : 1.02%) 2 FHER B EMEBRT
AEFEE HMBBMRITRAEFRS RNt EER

M2013F4A108 - KR RRMLI0BERETZFHER

BT HZEEaTE]) - R2021F5A258 » BEBETFHERE
STEIERTASBTEI0EEB T Z10F HIRTF3255%=
EHRFBEZHBTELSZIRE -

FEFRDIESENER B AR ERPTE -
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29 LEASE LIABILITIES

29 HEA®E

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAR BEAT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEAE:
Within one year —FA 7.7 63
Between one and two years —FEMFNRN 6.9 20
Between two and five years MEERFR 6.4 37
Over five years HBiEhF 37.8 365
58.8 485
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months 38 : R B A &5 R 12M8 A R
shown under current liabilities B HAE 8 2 RIA (7.7) (6.3)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months RIERE BB R 1218 A &2 H
shown under non-current liabilities BEZHIE 51.1 422

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

NEBAEEER CEEE U EEE
CHERESIMOT

Japanese Yen Renminbi Thai Baht

H AR £33

HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEAT BEAERL BEAT

At 31 March 2025 720253 A31H 1.3 15.2 0.9
At 31 March 2024 R2024%F3A31H 04 3.7 17
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30 OTHERLIABILITIES

30 HE &

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEATT BEAETT
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder FEIE AR AR SR E K (M 7Ea)
(note a) 2,087.9 1,956.0
Club debentures (note b) gRESH (FlsEb) 732.3 7793
2,820.2 2,7353
Less: Amount due within one year included WoEFARBBE-—FRIBHZ
under current liabilities QL] (76.7) =
Amount due after one year —F 1 B HA kA 2,743.5 2,7353
Notes: B EE
@ The amount represents an advance from a non-controlling shareholder of subsidiaries (@) ZHBANB AR EIERBRERR  AUEMNZS

to finance operation of those subsidiaries. The amounts carry interest at 1-month HIBOR plus

2.5% per annum. The amount is unsecured and not repayable within one year.

(b) Club debentures are non-interest bearing, unsecured, redeemable on their maturity
dates in 2047. These debentures are issued to members of the following clubs operated by
the Group and the principal amount of the club debentures issued are as follows:

MEBAREERS ZFRR—MEAREBRITRAERE
M25% 2 FREFERNS - ZRBRBEA  BHER—
FREE-

b EFEFASLE EERRITR047FAEEZE
HEEE - WEBFDBETTTIREEREE 2GR
SR ERTZEMBESFZASBOT :

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS$'M

ER-Yi¥ BEET

Discovery Bay Golf Club HMRESRAKRE 582.7 6296
Discovery Bay Recreation Club I RERES 149.6 149.7
732.3 779.3

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of club debentures at amortised cost and deferred
income amounted to HK$567.2 million (2024: HK$596.5 million) and HK$165.1 million (2024:
HK$182.8 million) respectively.

M2025F3A3H  REHEKAFEZEMEFUAREL
WA ZEREED R A56728 &%t (20244 : 59658 & %
J0) K 1651 B 8B TT (2024%F 1 1828 H BB L) °
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31 DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities)/assets recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting years:

31 IR IR

KT AE®RAZ T EREHE (B F)/EE
BRERBITRBEREEE Y 2D

Fair value Distributable
Accelerated  change of profits of
tax investment Tax foreign Others
depreciation properties losses  subsidiaries (note) Total
RENE BN R
N B8 AYE AR Hit
e 28 HEFRE RN (W) @st
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEEET HERT AEERT HERT HEER HEER
At 1 April 2023 R2023%4 818 (310.3) (57.1) 882 (135.5) 1172 (297.5)
Exchange translation differences EHER 0.1 24 - 6.1 02 838
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (HBR)/ETAER (226) 21 326 (188) (78.1) (84.8)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3H31H (33298 (52.6) 120.8 (148.2) 393 (3735)
Exchange translation differences EHER 0.1 08 08) 24 () 24
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (HBR)/ET AER (14.1) 18 76 (.2) 22 7.7)
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H (346.8) (50.0)  127.6 (151.0) 414  (378.8)

Note:  These mainly represent net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in relation to

unrealised profit of certain property development projects.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporting purposes:

Mie: WHEBRTRETHERREB RER B AE
RZBLEHAEE/(BE)FHE -

RERSAFBRARME - & TEEREA
BERABEREEZ S EREEHE - AT
SRR 2 HRE /RN IE S & (K 35
BIDH

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M

BEE®ETT BEETT

Deferred tax liabilities BEFIEEE (467.4) (4319
Deferred tax assets BEREE E 88.6 584
(378.8) (373.5)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$2,845.8 million (2024: HK$2,356.7 million) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$773.3 million (2024: HK$654.5 million) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$2,072.5 million (2024: HK$1,702.2 million) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams.
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32 SHARE CAPITAL

32 A

Number
of shares HKS$'M
iR & BEET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each BREESE L2 ERER
Authorised: AT
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 2023F4H1H « 2024F3H318 -
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 202454418 K202563A31H 4,000,000,000 1,000.0
Issued and fully paid: EETRHAR:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 7R2023F4H1H « 2024F3H318 -
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 20244 A1 H K%20253A31H 1,485,301,803 3713

33 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted two share option schemes on 8 September 2011
(the “2011 Scheme”) and on 25 August 2021 (the “2021 Scheme”)
respectively (collectively, the “Schemes”) which permits the directors of
the Company to grant share options to all directors (including any
Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors), full-time employees
and any consultants (employed on a contract basis) of the Group to
subscribe for shares in the Company. The 2011 Scheme was terminated
on 27 August 2021 but the share options granted prior to the
termination continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
2011 Scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no share option was exercised
but 440,000 and 1,075,000 share options were lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the 2011 Scheme and the 2021 Scheme respectively. As at
31 March 2025, the number of shares in respect of which share options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2011 Scheme
and the 2021 Scheme was 35,090,000 (2024: 35,530,000), representing
2.36% of the shares of the Company and 79,845,000 (2024: 80,920,000),
representing 5.38% of the shares of the Company in issue at that date
respectively.

33 P HESTE

KA F D BIR2011EFE9 A8 ([2011F 512 1)
2021568 A258 ([2021 E 521 ) 54 T 7R (&
BHOBETE(ZEFTE]D  ZS5HEBH
ARARBERNEEZAEES (BETMWAIT
BEENIHNTES) 2HEERITAUAL
FREAZEMBRLUREARRARD 2K
1 HARE ~2011 T8I B R2021 F8 A27 H &R IE -
BEREIEANRHZRDEEESE S KIL A
BIE2011 F5HEI1T(E ©

REE2025F3A31BIEFE - BHERMDEE
YE1T1$ » 1844000017 F.1,075,00017 X 15 HAHE 2
2 IR 3% 2011 F 51 2] %2 2021 F 51 BIE TR KK -
20253 A31H » B E20114F 51 8 & 2021 4F
FrEE R B ARITEMNRDBES R
% 17 8k B 35,090,000 3% (2024 4F : 35,530,000 A% )
179,845,000 f% (2024 5 : 80,920,0000%) » 9 Bk
KNTRZ BB BTG #92.36% 5 5.38% °
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Details of the movements of the share options granted are as follows: ERLROEBE 2 EBFBOT
Granted Lapsed  Outstanding Granted Lapsed
Exercise Outstanding  duringthe  during the asat  duringthe  duringthe Outstanding
price per asat yearended yearended 31March2024 yearended yearended asat
Category of share 1 April 31 March 31 March and 1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March
participant  Date of grant Exercise period HK$ 2023 2024 2024 2024 2025 2025 2025

REZE REZE R20245 REZE REZ
B8R  R2023F 2024 F 2024F  3A31AR 2025 F 2025F  R2025%F
fTEE 48108 3A31A 38318 202454818 38318 3A31A 3A31A

SHEER REAH T8 B MATE LFERE LFEXX HMATE LFERE LFEXX R 1T
Director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3.845 8,580,000 = = 8,580,000 = = 8,580,000
) 201782888 2017428288 F 2027528278
Director 12March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 14,080,000 = = 14,080,000 - - 14,080,000
3 018%F38128 201838128 FE2028%38118
Director 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3.028 28,600,000 - - 28,600,000 - - 28,600,000
E=x 021511 A248 202111 BB Z206F11 3B
Director 4Qctober2023  note 1636 - 31,600,000 = 31,600,000 = - 31,600,000
E= W3F10A48 M
Ex-director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3.845 5,390,000 - - 5390,000 - - 5,390,000
MES 01782888 2017F2A288F 207428278
Exdirector ~ 12March2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 7,480,000 - - 7,480,000 - (440,000) 7,040,000
AES 018F3A 128 201838128 ZF2028%F38118
Ex-director 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3028 7,200,000 - - 7,200,000 - - 7,200,000
MESR 1 E1AME 2021F11 B4BEZ2026511 B23H
Ex-director 4 October 2023 note 1636 - 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 - - 4,500,000
MESE W3F10A48  HiF
Employee 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 220,000 - (220,000) - - - -
E& 2018%3A 128  2018F3A12BE2028F3F 118
Employee 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3.028 3,720,000 = (740,000) 2,980,000 = (330,000) 2,650,000
EE 20111 B248 202111 B4 B E2006% 11 A238
Employjee  40ctober2023  note 1636 - 6,180,000 (140,000) 6,040,000 - (745,000) 5,295,000
E8 203F10848 M

75270000 42,280,000 (1,100,000) 116,450,000 - (1515000) 114935000

Exercisable at the end of the year
FRATE 74,310,000 94,237,500

Note: 50% vested on 4 October 2024 are exercisable from 4 October 2024 to 3 October I 7¥ : 50% R 2024F 10 54 H 5 B 7] KR2024F10H4H &
2028, while the remaining 50% vested on 4 October 2025 will be exercisable from 4 October 2028410 A3 B IR A TTHE * M8 T 2 50%7 2025410 4 R
2025 to 3 October 2028 5B AT 202510 A4 B £20285F 10 A3 H B WATHE ©
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In respect of fair value of options granted during the year ended
31 March 2024, the inputs into the model were as follows:

AREE204F3831HIEFEREKRDER
EAFEME BARBZHEAZENT :

4 October 2023

2023F 10 H4H

Spot price & & HK$1.630
16307 7T

Exercise price TEE HK$1.636
163678 7T

Expected volatility T8 BB 18 26.17%
Risk-free rate 4 [ f K| 3 4.13%
Expected dividend yield TE B IR B e R 2.38%
Exercise period 171 EA 50%: 4 October 2024 to 3 October 2028

Remaining 50%: 4 October 2025 to 3 October 2028
50%: 202410 A4 B E 2028510 A3 A
2 T 50%: 2025910 H4 B £2028F 10A3H

The fair value of the share options is determined using the Binomial
Option Pricing Model. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair values of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimates. Expected volatility is based on the historical share price
volatility of the Company over the past 5 years. Expected dividend yield
is based on the historical dividend payment of the Company. The risk-
free interest rate is interpolated from the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority’s Hong Kong Exchange Fund Bills/Notes as at the date of grant.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$7.2 million (2024: HK$5.4
million) for the year ended 31 March 2025 in relation to share options
granted by the Company to the directors and employees of the Group.

RO A FESEAB -_BEARDBAEE
BRABET AEBROPEZAFERER
ZEBEBRIRBEEFZRAEREE
T HHREREARFBESFUAERE
KIEEE - HHR B W E X TIREARF N
ERERMNBERFE ERARMETHAEFTE
TRMEERBBIEESER/BEFNELR
HifE® -

REZE2025F3A3IB IEFE  EEHX AR A
BEyEBEESREEZROBEER I LR
F/2BE BB (2045 54HEBTT) ©
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) RECONCILIATION OF LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

TO CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)

RE oYk

34 MEBREREBERMHE

(a) BRBIATESIREEERE/ (FFA)

OPERATIONS
2025 2024
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 7 BEABT BEAT
Loss before taxation B 7% A1 &5 18 (677.4) (173.2)
Adjustments for: MATIEEEH 2T
Finance costs B ER 8 408.2 4094
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEMEZEZNE 16 180.4 1816
Amortisation of intangible assets M EE 2.2 2.1
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEEZTE 17 8.5 83
Amortisation of bonds &5 2 B i (0.1) (06)
Impairment loss on investments in debt REBEKAFE 2 EH
instruments measured at amortised cost TEA%E 2 RERE 7 6.0 155
Impairment loss reversed on loans to joint BEERTEERALZ
ventures BB B e 7 (2.0) (0.4)
Impairment loss on trade receivables B E 5 R 2 BB E 18 7 16.1 -
Impairment loss on properties held for HEERBEEMEL
development for sale B E 1R 7 - 1643
Impairment loss on properties under development  #t HE X R R ¥ 2
for sale B R 7 6.7 13.1
Impairment loss on properties held for sale BIEHEMEZ RERE 7 78.8 943
Impairment loss on property, plant and M- BELEEZ
equipment BB E 18 7,16 2.8 57.5
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL BAFEGFABZY
TREERIEFE 7 0.9 14.1
Net loss on mortgage instalment receivables EUIRIE D A R 2
& 15 % R 7 0.4 53
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEW %  BRE M RE 2
equipment (U )/ B8 558 7 (0.5) 0.5
Net loss/(gain) on deregistration of subsidiaries NG = i
B/ (W) %58 7 25 (14)
Share of results of associates DAGEE A A EE 18 0.4 0.1
Share of results of joint ventures DMEEERREE 19 (153.9) (192.0)
Realised losses on disposals of investment HEREMER
properties BEIREE 15 1.8 30
Unrealised losses on change in fair value of WEWMELNFEES 2
investment properties REIFEE 15 763.6 3364
Interest income A B WA (69.9) (76.5)
Equity-settled share-based payments NS EE ARG &
B2 % 7.2 54
Change in working capital: LEEED):
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FER /(8 ) 0.3 (7.5)
Decrease in properties held for sale R e & W R D 222.4 1,7788
Decrease in properties held for development HEEGFEEWERD
for sale 23.8 20.7
Increase in properties under development for sale  fH H € 3% & 1 ) 3£ 32 41 (1,377.5) (2,149.5)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables FEUE 5 BR X (38 hn)/m (12.8) 15
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayments e BRNREREM
and other receivables JE W SR IR R A/ (38 0) 6.7 (45.3)
Decrease in mortgage instalment receivables FE W IR 18 5 HR 4 SO 102.1 2620
Decrease in amounts due from joint ventures FEUE & R R FRIE R D 2.2 248
Decrease in trade payables, provision BRESERD  BHER
and accrued charges e & AR (157.0) (54.3)
Decrease in deposits received and Bl REMERAE
other financial liabilities Ve (53.5) (1,234.6)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHaEEm CRd) 851.8 (1,791.2)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 2EME/(FTRA)BEE 191.2 (2,327.8)
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(b) RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TN XRFIEBRETHMELBBEZEEH (B
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities 3R & MR &2 F) - MEEHELEZ B
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or B EF S REC X ARAKRBE S REB N E
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement AR E R EXRT N EAREZBE LR E

(b) MEEFHRELEEGEZHE

of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. ZBafE-
Advance
from a non-
Bankand  controlling Club Lease Interest Dividend
otherloans shareholder debentures liabilities payables payables Total
RITR FER
HttER RRER gFfEs HESE EGNE EARE st
HK$'M HK$'M HK$M  HKS'M  HK$'M  HK$'M  HKS'M
HEAT BEET BEET HEEn BEART RAEER HEAR
At 1 April 2024 R204E4A18 10,627.2 1,956.0 779.3 485 - - 134110
Financing cash flowss HERERE 1,578.0 - (46.9) (9.2)  (638.3) (02 8834
Interest expenses MERZ - 474 - 20 3588 - 4082
Interests capitalised in the qualifying assets ~ RAEBREEB AL
Z M - 84.4 - - 3094 - 3938
Dividend to a non-controlling shareholder ~ [4] 3k 1 i A& 5k
¥ - - - - - 0.2 0.2
Renewal of lease EIRE - - - 175 - - 17.5
Others it (14.4) - = - (299 - (443)
At 31 March 2025 ®202563 A31A 12,190.8 2,087.8 732.4 58.8 - - 15,069.8
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Advance
from a non-
Bankand controlling Club lease Interest  Dividend
otherloans  shareholder ~ debentures  liabilities  payables  payables Total
BRIR FEIRRR
EhER  REEX gMEr BEAE ENNE ERKRE @t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEATL BEAT BEAT AERT BEAT AEAL BEATL
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4R1H 11,579.1 18238 798.1 539 - - 142549
Financing cash flows HEREME (9250) = (188) (83) (6013 (205) (15739
Exchange translation differences ERER (278) = = = = = 278
Interest expenses FEHY = 476 = 2 359.7 = 4094
Interests capitalised in the qualifying assets  RAEIREEE R
ZH 8 - 846 - - 2752 = 3598
Dividend to a non-controlling shareholder 1A 3F 122 I AR B UK f+f
K& - - - - - 56 56
Dividend declared EERRE - - - = = 149 149
New lease entered Wi HE - = = 09 = = 09
Renewal of lease EiHE - = = 05 S = 05
Others it 09 - - 06) (336) - (333)
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H 10,6272 1956.0 7793 485 - - 134110
(c) ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND () RERRESEEHBELERDN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEER BEAT
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIA S 2,049.5 1,605.8

The market interest rate of the bank balances at 31 March 2025 was in
the range of 0.01% to 4.03% (2024: 0.01% to 5.68%) per annum. The

directors of the Company consider the carrying amount of the Group's
bank balances and cash at the end of the reporting period approximates

their corresponding fair values.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group performed
impairment assessment on bank balances and concluded that the
probability of defaults of the counterparty bank is insignificant and

accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.
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35 PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the loans advanced to a joint venture by the Group
including interest payable amounting to approximately HK$1,978.9
million (2024: HK$1,695.8 million) were subordinated to banks to secure
a banking facility granted to the joint venture for financing the
development project in Tai Po.

In addition, as at 31 March 2025, the Group pledged certain properties
held for/under development for sale at a total carrying value of
HKS$7,781.8 million (2024: nil) to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group.

36 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

35 EEHRA

M2025F3A318 AFE—REE QR ERIR
TEEHE EARBBRREBEEZES £H
BB TZAEERR4197898 &8 T (2024
F:16958FEBT) CER(BEESMSFE

MERITIERERE -

e AN 20253 A31H  EEIR R E & E
77818 H BT (2024%F ) IWIFE FTHHE
BER/BRIME EASBEERTEER
B2 IER -

36 MEEREL

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEATRT BEATT
Guarantee given, to the extent of the Group’s LAEEREL B AR -
proportionate share, in respect of a banking MEEARERIAL ER
facility granted to a joint venture for the RERITEEBEEDR < BIR
development of projects (note) (%) 202.0 884.5

Note: No provision for financial guarantee contracts has been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements as, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair
value of the financial guarantee on initial recognition and the amount of provision to be

recognised subsequently was insignificant.

37 COMMITMENTS

M ARARAEERAVNMERNUBERZATE
RERBTRERANBRESBITER  RYBRELUB
BRANERAMBERSOZBE -

37 EiE

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEART BEAT
Contracted but not provided for: EENBRERE -
Capital expenditure in respect of investment WEMENRYE BE
properties and property, plant and equipment LEEsBEARE 81.9 67.9
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38 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

THE GROUP AS LESSOR

Property rental income earned from investment properties and other
properties during the year ended 31 March 2025 was HK$440.2 million
(2024: HK$459.2 million) in aggregate, of which HK$423.8 million (2024:
HKS$446.0 million) was generated from investment properties of the
Group. As at 31 March 2025, investment properties and other properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$13,538.5 million (2024:
HK$13,853.5 million) were held for rental purposes. Depreciation charge
for the year in respect of other properties was HK$1.0 million (2024
HKS$1.1 million). The properties held have committed tenants for a period
from one to thirteen years. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum leases
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as
follows:

38 HEZH

SEAHEA

HEMEREMYEREZF2025F3A318 Lk
FEANBRB2WERAS WAL L E44028 8
I (20246 1 4502 A EB L) » HF 423888
BT (2024F 1 446 0B BB L) RESEEKRE
W5 o 720253 A318 0 BREE A $£13,5385
BEBIT(2024F 13835ABBT)Z”E
MEREMMERERHERR - AFERE
BMEMDEZIE S HAE108 88 (2024
FLBEBBL I EYVEEAANHES
H—EZ2+=F1F5 - RFE5HPX £@E &
FETH MABEAATHECERER T
MBSz ARFERESTOT

2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M

BEER BEAT

Within one year —F A 279.1 3392
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFRF(BEEEMS) 207.5 211.1
486.6 550.3

39 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

HONG KONG

In order to comply with Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) with employer's
voluntary contributions has been established on 1 December 2000.

For the members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of the
relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000 effective 1 June 2014 for the MPF Scheme,
which contribution is matched by the employee. The Group also makes
voluntary contribution in addition to the mandatory contribution.

The amount charged to profit or loss represents contributions paid or
payable of HK$19.3 million (2024: HK$20.1 million) to the MPF Scheme
by the Group, less forfeitures on voluntary contribution of HK$1.0 million
(2024: HKS1.0 million) arising from employees leaving the Group prior to
completion of the qualifying service period.
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At the end of the reporting period, there is no forfeited contributions,
which arose upon employees leaving the retirement benefits schemes
and which are available to reduce the contributions payable in future
years (2024 nil).

MAINLAND CHINA AND OVERSEAS

The employees of the Group in mainland China and overseas are
members of state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by
the respective local governments in relevant jurisdictions. The Group is
required to contribute and recognise a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligations of the
Group with respect to these schemes are to make the specified
contributions and recognise the respective retirement pay in accordance
with terms set out in the schemes and relevant jurisdiction requirements.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-
mentioned schemes in the relevant jurisdictions amounted to
approximately HK$7.3 million (2024: HK$7.9 million).

40 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (i.e. bank and
other loans as disclosed in Note 28, net of cash and cash equivalents)
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, accumulated profits and other reserves .

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a periodic
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

RBEHR IRAEE TREZFRKRE
A8 R Yz R ik 4R AT R R 2R
BUF 2 R P IR (2024 4F ¢ B) -

BB A s K% A

SETBEAMEEINMEE SHERBIAER
EEZHMTBRNER ZBEERKENE 2
KB - EBERIENAZEEANLLAA
MR A R ESBERBEMNAIZE
o EFEME SEZE-—BEETRE
HAAREZHFK XRBEZFAI ZERK
BRRZERCAETERSBEZERRKRE -
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40 EXE e EE
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CEBRBEABTFREERIE -
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41 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

41 €T H
ERITBEZER

2025 2024
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEEATT BEBTT

Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFAEBEGZERMEE 361.0 4239
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT ECSREE 9,079.8 88289

Equity instruments measured at FVTOC RAFEFAEMEEKE

AECZRATA 14.9 15

Financial liabilities TRBE
Amortised cost B gH P AR 15,472.6 13,703.0

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity instruments
measured at FVTOC!, financial assets at FVTPL, investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, amounts due
from associates, loans to joint ventures, amounts due from joint ventures,
bank balances and cash, other financial assets, trade payables, deposits
received and other financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

The Group does not have significant exposure to foreign currency risk as
majority of the Group’'s sales and purchases are denominated in currency
which is the functional currency of the respective group entities except
for certain bank balances, loans to joint ventures, financial assets at
FVTPL and investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost
which are denominated in foreign currency, other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities.
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The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

SEERRBEENIIEIEZEERAE
ZERmEEMT

Assets Liabilities
BE =R

Currency g 2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M

BEERBT BEET BHEEBERT BAESAR

US dollar ETT 4,696.2 4,656.6 - -

Renminbi AR¥ 296.2 2746 - -

Japanese Yen H 258.6 271.1 - =

Euro dollar BT 3.9 223 - =

Thai Baht £ 18.3 126 - -

Singapore dollar oo 10.7 108 - =
Sensitivity analysis HBE 24T

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of US dollar, Renminbi S B X B & ZE T ARELKBEE4AZE

and Japanese Yen. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US dollars for an entity with Hong Kong dollars as its
functional currency since Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US dollar.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% decrease in the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnels and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. The analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% weakening of the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the relevant
foreign currency and a positive number below indicates an increase in
profits for the year and in exchange reserve. For a 5% strengthening of
the functional currency of the respective group entities against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profits for the year and exchange reserve.

Tﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬂ c HMNBIITEERITTHE S - Bt HUKRE
RIIE \L?E*““(Lxlﬁnf”ﬁﬁﬁlj]’aé‘ﬁb%)u
ETINEZ &

TRAJNSEHREREEER 2 YRER
BB INE B R T (5% 2 BURRIE © 5% A M E
EEBEABABERINERRAAZ SR
RWREEBHEXRSEAREH 2
- REDMEREAIINEIE 2 WK

EEBEBE IRBEHRABREAREIUAR
BREER 75%@ 8 - THOMBEABBERE
BZNEERALEMINERE R FE T

REBRXRTAFE @M MELFEEBE M-
HEEEEEB W ER L BRINE R
5% 2 THE - B & 8 AR F RN R E L #E
ERERZFEZE -
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Increase in profits

Increase in
exchange reserve

%3 F 42 Hn BE 5 & 4% 38 n

Currency B 2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M

HEE®BT BEAT BHEBT BEARD

US dollar ETT - = 212.6 2126
Renminbi AR 14.8 137 - =
Japanese Yen = 12.9 135 - =
Euro dollar BT - 1.1 0.2 0.1
Thai Baht ES 7 0.4 0.2 0.5 04
Singapore dollar Frons T 0.5 0.5 - =

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent foreign exchange risk as the exposure at the end of the
reporting period does not reflect that during the year.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost and debt
securities at FVTPL (see Note 20), fixed-rate loans to joint ventures and
fixed-rate bank deposits, borrowings (see Note 28) and lease liabilities (see
Note 29). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank deposits and borrowings (see Notes 25(a)
and 28), loans to joint ventures, advance from a non-controlling
shareholder (see Note 30) and mortgage instalment receivables (see
Note 21). It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of HIBOR, other relevant interbank offered rates or other
benchmark interest rates arising from the Group's borrowings.
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Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of
the reporting period. The variable-rate bank deposits have been
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the management of the Group
considered that the interest rate fluctuation is not significant. For
variable-rate bank borrowings, advance from a non-controlling
shareholder and mortgage instalment receivables, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability and asset outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnels and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group's:

profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 would decrease/
increase by HKS$59.1 million (2024: HKS$53.3 million). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
bank borrowings, advance from a non-controlling shareholder and
mortgage instalment receivables.

The Group is exposed to market price fluctuation through its investments
in both listed and unlisted securities. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a diversified portfolio. The level and volatility of
the prices of securities may be affected by general economic and market
conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation rates,
economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including taxation law), trade
barriers, currency exchange controls, and national and international
political circumstances, if applicable.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to price of securities investments at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective securities investments had been 5%
higher/lower:

profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 and investment
revaluation reserve as at 31 March 2025 would increase/decrease by
HK$18.1 million (2024: HK$21.2 million) and HK$0.7 million (2024: HK$0.5
million) for the Group respectively as a result of changes in fair value of
equity and debt securities instrument measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI
respectively.
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As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by
the Group is arising from:

the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position; and

the amount of financial guarantee contracts in relation to financial
guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 36.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts, except that the credit risks associated with
mortgage instalment receivables is mitigated because they are secured
over properties.

Except for debt securities at FVTPL, the Group performed impairment
assessment for financial assets and other items under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit
risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are
summarised as below:

Loans to joint ventures and an investee/Amounts due from joint
ventures and associates

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group regularly
monitors the business performance of the joint ventures, associates and
an investee. The Group's credit risks in these balances are mitigated
through the value of the assets held by these entities and the power to
participate or jointly control the relevant activities of the associates and
joint ventures. The management considers that the counterparty has a
low risk of default, after taking into the consideration of the value of the
assets held by these entities and the operating result of these entities.

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually or based on provision matrix. The
trade receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment histories for
recurring customers. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
aging to assess the impairment for its customers because these
customers consist of a large number of small customers with common
risk characteristic that are representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.

Based on the internal assessment, the management considers that the
balances are of low risk and not credit impaired for ECL assessment if the
counterparty has a low risk of default or counterparty has past due debts
but usually settles after due date while the balances are of doubtful and
credit impaired for ECL assessment if there has been significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition through information developed
internally. For the balances that are classified as doubtful, the Group has
made full provision at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

The management considers that the amount of loss allowance at 31
March 2025 and 31 March 2024 were considered as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, having assessed the
nature of the business.

Investments in debt instruments and bank balances

The Group only invests in debt instruments issued by issuers that have
strong credit ratings to mitigate counterparty risk. Credit exposures to
debt instruments are monitored and reported regularly to the
management.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that the Group
has guaranteed under the respective contracts was HK$202.0 million (2024:
HK$884.5 million) as at 31 March 2025. At the end of the reporting
period, the management of the Group has performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee contracts.
Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts issued
by the Group is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across
diverse industries and geographical areas. Other than concentration of
credit risk on loans to joint ventures and amounts due from joint
ventures, the Group does not have any other significant concentration
of credit risk.
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The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s major
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

TRFANESEBAFELAHREEBRIGZE
ZeRMEEMABZEERR

Gross
External Internal carrying
At 31 March 2025 Notes creditrating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
NREASEAFHRZ
202563 B31H Wz MBEETR ABEETR BPEEERE fREAE
HK$'M
BEET
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBHERAGTECEREE
Loans to joint ventures included in 19, N/A Low risk 12m ECL 6,770.1
interests in joint ventures and 25(c) FEA & B B NREAEHEEFSE
amounts due from joint ventures
AARERAIZER BN
TaENRAREKRAEZE AT
IR
Loan to an investee included in 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 106.6
other assets TEH 1% & b NREAEREERSE
AAARMBEz MBRRE
HERER
Investments in debt instruments 20 Caa-C N/A Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 66.7
measured at amortised cost CaaZ(C TER EREHRNZRANEERE-FERE
REBEN A ECEBIARE
Bank balances 25(a), Aal-Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 2,049.5
RITER 34(c) Aa1ZBaa2 T EA NEARMEEER
Trade receivables 24 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 40.1
EUYE HERR TER B Rk ERFHAACRMEERE-BEERE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 18.4
TER R IR EREHACEBEERE-FERNE
Amounts due from associates 18, N/A High risk Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 589.4
A NIE ) 25(b) FEA = Bk ERFHRNCRBEERE-FERE
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Gross

External Internal carrying
At 31 March 2024 Notes credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
REAKERFHRN
202453 4318 izt BEETFR ABEEFR BBEEER REAE
HKS'M
BEBTT
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHEBAGTECEREE
Loans to joint ventures included in 19, N/A Low risk 12m ECL 6,610.7
interests in joint ventures and 25(0) TiE A 1K 2 B AR EHEEEE
amounts due from joint ventures
AAREBRAICERZIERT
AERRRERSERARIFIE
Loan to an investee included in 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 106.6
other assets TEA 1K &k REAEBMEEEE
AARMEE MBERE
HREX
Investments in debt instruments 20 Al1-B1 N/A 12m ECL 455
measured at amortised cost AT EB] ~EHA REAEMEEESE
REEKAGTECEBIR B2-Caa N/A Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 216
K®E B2Z Caa TEm EREFHACEREERR-BEEHE
C N/A Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 434
TER CREHN EHREEER-FEMHE
Bank balances 25(a), Aal-Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 1,605.8
RITHER 34(0) Aal EBaa2 TER REARHEEER
Trade receivables 24 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 46.1
W E 5ER TER vEN CREFAN BHEEBE-BEERE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 25
NEHA P FREHA BREEFE-FERE
Amounts due from associates 18, N/A High risk Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 5893
JE W & 1 R R IE 25() NER =ER EREHA EREEER-EERE
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The table below shows reconciliation of loss allowances that have been
recognised for loans to joint ventures included in interests in joint ventures,
loan to a joint venture and loan to an investee included in other assets.

EREC-ERT BERRARFARME
EZAHBRESRERER ZBERR
AR -

TREIMAAGERFZERZERTA
_§D 7\
s ¥

12m ECL

REARHEEREE
Loans to Loan to
joint ventures an investee
EXRTF mEBRE
BEAH HREX
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBR BEET
At 1 April 2023 20234 A1 H 231 04
Reversal of impairment under ECL model BRIEBHEEFEER ZRERED (0.3) =
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3H31H 228 04
Reversal of impairment under ECL model BIBEHEHEEEEER 2 RERE 2.1) 0.1)
At 31 March 2025 202563 A31H 20.7 0.3

Loss allowances recognised for loans to joint ventures and loan to an
investee are measured at 12m ECL, there is no transfer from 12m ECL to
Lifetime ECL during the year as there is no significant increase in credit
risk for these financial assets.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management and ensure the availability of funding of committed credit
facilities, renewal of loan facilities upon maturity to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Group maintains significant flexibility to respond to opportunities and
events by ensuring that committed credit lines are available to meet
future funding requirements. Management monitors the utilization of
bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. As at
31 March 2025, the Group has available unutilised overdraft and bank loan
facilities of approximately HK$6,484.2 million (2024: HK$6,958.2 million).

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board
of directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework for the management of the Group's short,
medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms except
for the bank loans with a repayable on demand clause. For non-
derivative financial liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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HERHHEREH T EAER B REEME-
EEEERRTEEZHHBEN - LERN
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EEEXRBRITEEEARDESZEER
TR R2025F 38318 EEBEAEAIHEFERE
MABACESZINIRITERENCL42E B
T (20245 1 69582 A BB TT) ©

ARREZFENRPESCAREEALZZR
B REBREEZEH HTHEERHED
ERBELERFREY —BAEIRDE
TREREEER -

TERFINEESHAEREHEERA R
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EREN) -ETESREBEMS - IR
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EZRER - WHNERLEFHNEAE
RS BARBREMRIAZE -



Liquidity risk table TEBEDREREE
Repayable
on demand Total Carrying
or within Over undiscounted  amountat
1year 1-2 years 2-5years 5 years cash flows 31 March
REXF RER W3A318
—-FREE —ZmME ZERF AEFNL REeRLE ZKREE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BE#ET HEBEET HEAR BEAT BEET HE#ER
2025 20255
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiTESRERE
Trade payables and accrued charges ERESERRRETER 310.0 - - - 310.0 310.0
Deposits received and other financial liabilities 2 W& & MM SR A & 151.6 - - - 151.6 151.6
Bank and other loans BAREMER
- fixed-rate -EB 384 384 549.5 309.9 936.2 798.7
- variable-rate -%8 2,906.6 1,612.6 8,063.7 - 12,582.9 11,392.1
Other liabilities Hit B fE 183.7 21325 - 7793 3,095.5 2,820.0
Financial guarantee contracts HEREREND 202.0 - - - 202.0 -
3,792.3 3,783.5 8,613.2 1,089.2 17,278.2 15,472.4
Lease liabilities HEBRE 10.0 8.8 8.1 55.9 82.8 58.8
Repayable
on demand Total Carrying
orwithin Over  undiscounted amount at
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5years cash flows 31 March
RERH REE  RW3A318
—FNEE —EMF ZERF  RENLE BReng®E  REE
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEETL RERT REERT RBEER BEET HEAR
2024 20045
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTESRAE
Trade payables and accrued charges ERNESERRRESER 1800 - - - 1800 1800
Deposits received and other financial liabilites 2 WIXE REMEBERE 1605 = = = 1605 1605
Bank and other loans BIREMER
- fixed-rate -TER 9.7 9.7 291 3194 3679 2985
- variable-rate -F8 42269 3,145.5 3,990.2 - 11,3626 10,328.7
Other liabilities AthEfE 1251 1251 4340 25498 32340 27353
Financial guarantee contracts MEERED 8845 - - - 8845 =
5,586.7 3,2803 44533 2,869.2 16,189.5 13,7030
Lease liabilities HEBRE 82 39 87 530 738 485

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £
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The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, all bank loans are classified in
respective time band based on the agreed repayment terms except for
the bank loans with a repayable on demand clause.

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
“Repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate undiscounted principal
amount of these bank loans is HK$470.0 million (2024: HK$100.0 million).
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such bank loans, if any as at 31 March 2025
will be repaid within one year (2024: within one year) of the reporting
date in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table below:

FRHAFTACRABIAIAZSE
P BRI E 7 B8 5L R B R 2
HARBHAEZRBELRD -

MN20259F3 A31 8 K2024%3A318 - AR
BRI EERS UBBEEEED
O ABAABREEREZBKRRZRITER
B oh o

BB BEREREERRZBRITERT A
FRSBS MBS —FRNEE] R
DEF - R2025F3831H  ZERITERR
BhIR 2 A& B 47008 878 t (2024 F ¢
T000BEBAETL) KERKEH M BMKRIE -
ARREERABTBTETFERNBERES
KA ER e A A Al EFHIE - R2025%3 A
NNEZZERTER(ME) BRBE X HE
FrEflTERASH RREAHBS —F
(2024%F - —F)NEE FBHEINRTER:

Total
Within undiscounted Carrying
Tyear 1-2years 2-5years cash flows amount
KRELE
—FER —ZWME ZEZEF BEeRAHE REE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT HEBT BEEATR BEBT HEABR
At 31 March 2025 720253 H31H 494.1 - - 494.1 470.0
At 31 March 2024 R 2024%F3 A31H 100.9 — = 1009 100.0
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FAIR VALUE

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end
of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than
not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the
likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which
are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as
follows:

the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices; and

the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in unlisted equity
securities which are measured at fair value using valuation techniques
based on inputs that can be observed in the market in addition to
unobservable inputs such as company specific financial information (Note
20).

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs on the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

AFE
LM BEEREOMTANSEINE T H
RERSEREERBRUAENZ2HER
CHENESeHE - BRERBEHRNEY
SERSRAUEBARBELEXNEME
e AR WLAMGFETHTRIEERRE G
FRER AR REME M RE - T Ut A BE 1 AR SR
RETAHANEBURERRZEEBERENA

BEME -

TREERERABZAFEIRATTR
BT :

BFHEZEKRREHETRERRBMS
BEEZERMEEZATFENDZETEE AR
BmEE: &

HteMEERERBEBEZAFEDNR
B-—REEZEIEERNA  ARUERADR
DT METE °

RAMBRRERBIFLTRAESTEE
ZFEENERGERGERAEREM SR
ABEETABRG ABENRRNEYB
BERIR A FERE(5E20)

ARBEERR REEMBERRAARH
RAARzEREERERABEZREESR
HAFEBES -
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The financial instruments are measured in the statement of financial
position at fair value in accordance with HKFRS 13. This requires
disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value
measurement hierarchy:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the
use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to estimate the fair
value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level
2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present
value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield
curves.
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The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined
using forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period, with
the resulting value discounted back to present value.

Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used
to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

As at 31 March 2025, mortgage instalment receivables at FVTPL of
HKS$71.9 million (2024: HK$196.3 million) is measured with valuation
techniques using significant unobservable inputs (level 3).

The determination of fair value is subject to the valuation policies and
procedures formulated by and the oversight of the Group’s
management. These policies and procedures facilitate the exercise of
judgement in determining the risk characteristics of various financial
instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows and other
factors used in the valuation process. Judgement may also be applied in
adjusting prices of less readily observable external parameters. The
management considers the appropriateness of the valuation model
inputs, as well as the valuation result using various valuation methods
and techniques generally accepted within the industry.

There is no transfer among level 1, level 2 and 3 during the year.

The following represents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year
ended 31 March 2025:

ERINESHNZ A FEMNBRS RN
EHEXEE MASEEAEERME-

Hi s flr - GIanBhRB S RE DN B
NEETEBREMIAZATFE-

P2025F3A31H A TFEFABREZER
RO HERNIBE B Tt(2024F 19638
EAT)NERERTATEREASE(E=
BH) 2 GERMETE -

AP EZEEXEBEREHRE 2 HAERK
REFRARAMEEE ZFTBREREFH
PREEETSBERMIAZERER MR
R ARKBReREREEBRETERZ
H i B 32 B 1F 0 2l o BB A BB 2 50
MEB2ERETAIERHE BEEZE
BEERLGABEBE EEE  AREME
NARZBEBHEEDEERMBHZHE

=]
/%III °

FRN F—EBR B_EBERARE=ZEHKR2H

IWTAHE205F3A3IBIEFEZE=ZEBH
TEA®E:

Mortgage

instalment

receivables

at FVTPL

RAFETA

BRZER

RED MR

HK$'M

BEBL

At 1 April 2023 R2023%4 818 4636
Addition f& 314
Repayment B (293.4)
Net loss on mortgage instalment receivables FEWIZ 1B o At SR E 185 RE (5.3)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 202453 A31H K&2024%4H1H 196.3
Repayment B (72.6)
Derecognition upon repossession U [ 5 51 B B 3R (514)
Net loss on mortgage instalment receivables FEWIZ 15 » HA it SR E 1B F RE (04)
At 31 March 2025 R20256F3A31H 71.9
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42 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES

AND JOINT VENTURES

0] Details of principal subsidiaries incorporated and have their

principal place of operations in Hong Kong are as follows:

31 March 2025
2025F3A31AH

(

) EEBEMALREIEE

BZXTENBARFEET

31 March 2024
2024F3A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
NEER BRITRE SEEERE BEITRA SERERE FEXB
HK$ % HKS %
B BT
Ace Spring Limited 1 100 1 100  Property investment
HEERATF MERE
Beaufort Hotels Limited 1 100 1 100  Provision of hotel management
services
REEEER RS
Cardiomed Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
TEEEARAR REZER
Discovery Bay Commercial Services Limited 2 50*% 2 50* Commercial leasing agent
RREBEREER L BEHERE
Discovery Bay Enterprises Limited 400,000 50*% 400,000 50* Operation of a shipyard
EEMIE
Discovery Bay Financial Services Limited 2 50*% 2 50*  Provision of financial services to first
MRERBRBEERA A hand purchasers of properties in
Discovery Bay
MEEMEZ—F
ﬁ%kh%%%ﬁ
Discovery Bay Golf Club Limited 2 50*% 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
RERESAXREERA REEEMR
Discovery Bay Hotel Limited 2 50* 2 50* Hotel operator
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31 March 2025
2025%3A31AH

31 March 2024
202453 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
NEER BRITKRE SEEERE BETRA SEEGERE TEXR
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
Discovery Bay Ice Rink Limited 1 50* 1 50%  Ice rink operator
RRERKSERRA BKGEE
Discovery Bay Marina Club Limited 2 50*% 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
BREEEEERAR REEMARIE
Discovery Bay Property Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of property agency
MRENERRDA services
RENERE RS
Discovery Bay Recreation Club Limited 2 50*% 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
BREREEERAF REB MR
Discovery Bay Road Tunnel Company Limited 2 50*% 2 50* Road tunnel operator
RMREBBERRAR BEEE
Discovery Bay Services Management Limited 2 50*% 2 50* Estate manager and principal lessee
MRERBERFRAA of communication network in
Discovery Bay
ERERE kR ERA
BEZEEARA
Discovery Bay Transit Services Limited 2 50*% 2 50* Provision of bus and garage services
RRERBRBEERLD A REBTREERS
Discovery Bay Transportation Services Limited 2 50*% 2 50* Provision of ferry services
RRENEREER LR REERRB
Dorro Properties Limited 500,000 100 500,000 100 Property investment
BENEZARAF MERE
Emerald Property Limited 1 50% 1 50* Property investment
BRNEERAF NERE
Fame Wood Limited 2 100 2 100  Property investment

BIBRAERRA

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £

NERE

231



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

31 March 2025
2025F3A31AH

31 March 2024
202443 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
AEIEE BRITRE SEEERE BEITRA SEEERE TEXB
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
Gamnet Property Limited 1° 50* 1° 50* Property investment
EENERRAA MERE
Grace Investment Limited 2 100 2 100  Property investment
EEREBARATA MERE
Greenyield Limited 2 100 2 100  Property investment
ABHRAA MERE
HKR (PRC) Limited 2 100 2 100  Investment holding
ERRETE)ERAR REER
HKR Limited 2 100 2 100 Property management
EBEENERER A MEER
HKR Properties Limited 2 100 2 100  Property investment
EERZWMB)BERAA MERE
Hong Kong Health Resort Limited 4 100 4 100  Property investment and
investment holding
NERERREZR
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited 389,243,374.35%* 50%  38924337435** 50*  Property development and
BEREERRAA investment holding
MEERIREER
Jasper Garden Limited 1° 50% 1 50% Property investment
EEEBRAA MERE
Kinter Limited 1 100 1 100  Property investment
BEARAT MERE
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31 March 2025 31 March 2024

202563 A31H 202453318
Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
AEIEE BRITKRE SEEERE BEITRA SEEERE FEXH
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
Lam Island Development Company Limited 2,000,000 99.99 2,000,000 99.99  Property development
HEBSEERAF MEER
Lee Wo Company, Limited 300,000 100 300,000 100 Property investment
FMMER LA MERE
Macro Future Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
BRARRAF REZER
Moonstone Hill Limited 1 50*% 1 50* Property investment
HALER LA MERE
Noble Glamour Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
SEARAT REZER
Opal Property Limited 1 50% 1 50*  Property investment
BIRMEFARAR MERE
Parocka Investments Limited 20 100 20 100  Property development
MEER
Pearl Development Limited 2 100 2 100  Property investment
BEERERAF MERE
Peony Restaurant Limited 2 50* 2 50* Restaurant operator
HAFERERAF EELE
Quebostage Limited 2 100 2 100  Property investment
BHBR LA MERE
Regal Galaxy Investment Limited 1 100 1 100  Property investment
FRBREABRAR MERE

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £
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31 March 2025
2025F3A31AH

31 March 2024
202443 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
NEER BRITRE SEEERE BETRA SEEERE TEXB
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
Royston Investment Limited 2 100 2 100  Investment holding
REEEREBER QA REZR
TCS Project Management Limited 2 100 2 100  Provision of project management
services
REER EE RS
The Sukhothai Hotels & Resorts Limited 1 100 1 100 Provision of hotel management
services
REBEER RS
Topaz Holdings Limited 1 50*% 1 50%  Property investment
RIEERERAR MERE
Victor Century Investment Limited 1 100 1 100  Provision of financial services to first
BAKEERDA hand purchasers of 2GETHER and
properties in Discovery Bay
mEBERBSENEZ
—FERRHEMBRYE
Wells Estate Services Limited 100,000 100 100,000 100  Property management, estate
BRMERBAERDA manager and investment holding
MERERERURKEZR
Wells Property Management Limited 1,000 100 1,000 100  Property management and estate
HERMEERARDA manager
NERBERER
World Forum Investment Limited 1 100 1 100  Property development
IAREBRAT MEER
Yintaly Construction Company Limited 2 100 2 100  Property investment

ENRETRERAA
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* According to the shareholders’ agreement of Hong Kong Resort Company Limited ("HKRC"),
the Group is able to control more than half of the voting powers of the board of directors
(which determines the relevant activities) of HKRC and its subsidiaries.

** In addition to 1 ordinary share, 100% in the value of HK$389,243,373.85 deferred
shares are also held by the Group. The deferred shares held by the Group are shares whose
shareholders are neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at any general meetings nor
to receive any dividend out of operating profit and have very limited rights on return of assets
of the company.

a Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company also

includes HK$276,000,000, representing 276,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

b Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company also
includes HK$218,000,000, representing 218,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

c Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company also
includes HK$267,000,000, representing 267,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

d Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company also
includes HK$213,000,000, representing 213,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

e Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company also
includes HK$207,000,000, representing 207,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

f Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company also
includes HK$133,000,000, representing 133,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

* REZEHAXAERAD(ELBEE]) ZBRRWMZE
SEAUEHEEREREAMBRARAZEFECREHM
BRE)BRYH IR

= REBBRT ARSI £B 5 F100%E A&
38924337385 B L 2 BMIER D - KEERIFTBERELERMH 2
BRAFEEFNERBN HETARTEASERAE L&

BoREEANEREEERMN PR ZEMBKE  REH
BRARERERZEEDRER -
a BIREERIBIL EBRIN  ZRRZBEEST

A% 7S 71 B2 45 {E B 276,000,000 7 7T A 2% 276,000,000 A% 2 7] & (5]
BERR -

b BRIREEAI0BLT 2 E@RIN ZARZE BT
A% 7N 75 62 4E {8 18 218,000,000 7 7T X 3% 218,000,000 A% 2 7 f& =]
B -

c MIBREERI0BT E@RIN ZARIZE BT
% 7 75 £ 4E {8 {8 267,000,000 7 7T X & 267,000,000 A% 2 7 f& [
BERR -

d BRIREEA10E T2 BRI - ZARIZE T
% 7S 75 B2 45 {E 8 213,000,000 7% 7T X 2% 213,000,000 A% 2 7] & (9]
BRh -

e BRIREBEARIOBTZE@RIN ZARZE BT
A% 78 75 B2 4% 1B 8 207,000,000 7 7T X 2% 207,000,000 A% 2 7] f& 2]
B -

f BRI EEAI00BTZ EBBIN Z AR ZE BT
fi& 7 75 62 45 {E B 133,000,000 7% 7T X 2% 133,000,000 A% 2 7] & (=]
BRh -
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(i) Details of other principal subsidiaries are as follows: iy HMETEWMBARFBHT :
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
2025%3A310 2004%3A31R
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued interest of issued interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/  attributable share capital/  attributable
Name of company registration operation registered capital to the Group registered capital  tothe Group  Principal activities
B3 TEEE BRTREA REEL BEARE KEERG
ARER BRBE hE EMEREE kiE HAMEAZAE hiE TEEH
% %
Abraham Holdings Limited Liberia Hong Kong Nil 100 Nil 100 Securities investment
MEESH BR & & EHRE
Abraham Investment Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ note* Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Securities investment
ERAEBRER M 1%7 (E EHRE
Beaufort Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$10,197,932 100 HK$10,197,932 100 Investment holding
HERS i 10,197,932 7T 101979328 T REZRKR
Brentall Investments Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
ERAEBRER BA 127 EH REZRKR
CDW Building Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$5,100,002 100 HKS5,100,002 100 Property investment
HERE Bk 5,100,0027% 7t 510000278 7 ES S
GenRx Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  note** Us$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
BHEBRERAA SREBRER e 127 (B K& R
Hanbright Assets Limited British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong US$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
SREBRER BA 127 (B RAZR
HK Resort International Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$3 100 HKS3 100 Investment holding
REES BE 3BT 3BT RAZR
HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore 545,000,000 100 585,000,000 100 Investment holding
A A 5,000,003 7T 50000003 7T RAZR
HKR China Limited British Virgin Islands ~ note** Us$1 100 Y 100 Investment holding
ERRETEBRAA SREBRER W™ 1£5 (B RAZR
HKR Company Limited British Virgin Islands ~ note** Uss$2 100 US$2 100 Investment holding
SREBRER W™ PEYH ET RAZRK
HKR Japan KK Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 JPY10,000 100 Property investment
BA SR 10,0007 E 10,0008 B ES &
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31 March 2025

31 March 2024

2025%3A31H 20437318
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued interest of issued interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/  attributable share capital/  attributable
Name of company registration operation registered capital to the Group registered capital  tothe Group  Principal activities
AR/ TEEE BRAREA KEEY BETRA, REER
ARER B b dMERZEE KiE HEMERAZEE e FTEEHR
% %
HKR Shanghai Limited British Virgin Islands  note** Us$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
EREELBERAR REARAREE  WE~ 127 (E REZR
HKRJ Development Co, Ltd.® Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 JPY10,000 100 Property development
B BA 10,000 A B 10000F & ESE
HKRJ Hospitality Management GK * Japan Japan JPY1,000,000 100 = - Hotel management
B B 1,000,000 A AEER
HKRJ Resort GK * Japan Japan JPY1,000,000 100 JPY1,000,000 100 Property investment
B B 1,000,000 A 1,000,000 A NERE
Pine Isle Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
REEBREE BB 127 (E REER
Prinia Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore $$2 100 582 100 Investment holding
g B 2R W REZR
Sathorn Park Co,, Ltd. Thailand Thailand THB933,600,000 100 THB933,600,000 100 Hotel operator and owner
RE RE 933,600,000 3% & 933,600000% £ GERERER
Sky Phoenix Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
REEBRES BF 127 E3 REZR
NEEEMMBBRRE" PRC PRC HK$760,000,000 100 HK$760,000,000 100 Investment holding
i o 760,000,000 7 760,0000007%5 7T REER
BE(LS)EEHRAERAA  PRC PRC US$1,500,000 100 US$1,500,000 100 Property management
G G 1,500,000 % 7T 1500000 72 nRER
BR(EGEXEBERAA PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 100 RMB20,000,000 100 Property development
i i A R #20,000,000 ¢ AR %20,0000007 NEER
RAEANEEARAR" PRC PRC HK$915,000,000 100 HK$915,000,000 100 Property development and
H F 915,000,000% 7T 915,000,000 7T investment holding
NEERRREER
ERRREXRERAA PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
i i AR %8,000,000 7 AR 8800000070 ESE
ERRTEXRERAH PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
i i AR %8,000,000 7 AR #80000007C ESE

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £
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31 March 2025 31 March 2024
2025%3A31H 20434318
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued interest of issued interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/  attributable share capital/ attributable
Name of company registration operation registered capital to the Group registered capital  tothe Group  Principal activities
ML/ TEEE BRAREA KEER BETRA, REER
ARER B b aMEXZEE KE AMERCEE i TEEK
% %
ERRREXRERAA PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
HE i A R %8,000,000 7T AR #80000007C NEER
ERRREXRRAA PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
HE i A R %8,000,000 T AR ¥80000007C ESE
BELHERERAF PRC PRC US$14,000,000 100 US$14,000,000 100 Property investment
HE i 14,000,000 % 7t 14000000% 7T NERE
MEEEMIMNERAF PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
HE i A R %8,000,000 7T AR ¥80000007C ESE
MEMEERMMERDF  PRC PRC RMB1,000,000 100 RMB1,000,000 100 Property investment
i i A R %1,000,000 7 AR 10000007 NERE
o The company is engaged in securities investment business of the Group and has no ~ * ZARREEECEFREEXR EMRABRELZ
specific principal place of operation. FELEMI -
o These companies act as investment holding companies and have no specific ~ ** ZERRAREAERAT  AMEARECEES
principal place of operation. B o
a The Group can enjoy all economic beneficial interest, instead of equity interest, of  a EERANERAZTAEZZLAR I EEE = E
these companies by contractual terms. o IR AR ©
b These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises. b ZERAREINEDRE-
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(i) Details of principal associates are as follows: (iii)

31 March 2025
20253 A31H

TEBERARFEBOT

31 March 2024
20243 A31H

Attributable Attributable
Place of interest held interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
SEAFE & B P
ACIER ] =F 8 B 3L 4 B i #Em ElEEw ETEEHR
% %
Polyoung Limited Hong Kong 31 31 Provision of financial
R AR A A BB services to first hand
purchasers of Coastal
Skyline
MEXEF—FEX
e fit B 75 PR 75
Tung Chung Station Development  Hong Kong 31 31 Property investment
Company Limited BE MR E
(iv)  Details of principal joint ventures are as follows: vy TZEELRRIFBEOT:
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
20253 A31H 2024F3H31H
Attributable Attributable
Place of interest held interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
EEFEF B
NEHRE 0 AR 3 it B s ElEEm ETEEHR
% %
Advantage Investor Limited British Virgin Islands 50 50 Investment holding
REBEBRES REZERKR
Dazhongli Properties Limited British Virgin Islands 50 50 Investment holding
APEMEBRRF REERRES REZER
Everbeam Investments Limited Hong Kong 50 50 Property development
ZEAREFRAA & MEER
Everbeam Mortgage Limited Hong Kong 50 50  Provision of financial
FHERBERAA BB services to first hand

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £

purchasers of La Cresta
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31 March 2025
20253 A31H

31 March 2024
20243 A31H

Attributable Attributable
Place of interest held interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
£ B i 1% £ [ T 15
ARETR £ AR 7 0 B P 1 i 3 EiEiEN ETERY
% %
Gainwick Limited Hong Kong 40 40  Property development
MERR A A & MEER
Gainwick Mortgage Limited Hong Kong 40 40  Provision of financial
MmBEB\ER QA BB services to first hand
purchasers of VILLA
LUCCA
mME LN —FER
e fit B 75 PR 75
Strongbod Limited British Virgin Islands 40 40  Investment holding
EEER RS REZER
Ultimate Champion Investments British Virgin Islands 50 50 Investment holding
Limited REBHEBRES REZRKR
TE(EBEERREBRR AR PRC 50 50  Property investment

I

* The company is wholly foreign owned enterprise.
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(v)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company that have material non-controlling interests:

V) BEERGEREZZIFZENEAQF
ZHE

TRFINBEEAEAFERERZARAEE
EMBRRZFFS

Proportion of ownership

interests and voting  Profits/(losses) allocated
Place of rights held by to non-controlling Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation non-controlling interests interests non-controlling interests
&t i FERBEFFHEAE IETFHERESZ
MBARERE R SZ 3 B RERREEZLH A/ (EE) Rtk RER
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M
BEEET ABET BHEBT RBEER
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited Hong Kong 50% 50% 15.4 (79.3) 2,804.0 2,7883
and its subsidiaries (note) &E
BEEXARAAR
HH B2 A (B )
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with - 02 - 03
non-controlling interests
REFERERZERFEX
ag=N]
15.4 (79.1) 2,804.0 2,788.6
Note: Hong Kong Resort Company Limited and its subsidiaries are engaged in the  FieE: BHHAEAR AR RENBARIKRFEEEREERE

development, management and provision of essential and recreational services for residential
housing and leisure projects principally in Discovery Bay, Lantau Island.

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each of the
Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised consolidated financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup elimination.

HONG KONG RESORT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

RURARE LGRS EETEBTRAMEERER L SERHEL
R LR -

ERBEEANEREBRZIARASHE R
AZBEAMBEMBERINMT - TXHAR
FAMBENBEZSB N SERYIHEAZ

T

EREEXARAARENEB LA

2025 2024

HKS'M HKS'M

BEEBBT BEET

Current assets mEEE 6,798.0 5,459.1
Non-current assets ERBEE 8,478.9 8,602.7
Current liabilities P2 N=R (1,287.7) (3,656.4)
Non-current liabilities FmEBEE (8,381.2) (4,884.6)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZN/NSIEZ RSN L ER - 2,804.0 2,7325
Non-controlling interests I 12 AR 2 2,804.0 2,7883

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £
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For the year ended 31 March
BE3A31MHLEE

2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBBT BEAT
Revenue WA 1,109.5 1,497
Expenses X (1,078.7) (1,3084)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company N2 &l A A J& (5% Fl/ (F18) 15.4 (79.4)
Profit/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests JE % A% 1 %5 & 1k % F/ (B548) 15.4 (79.3)
Profit/(loss) for the year KEE &M/ (E8) 30.8 (158.7)
Other comprehensive income RATHEAEABEEMZEKZE
attributable to owners of the Company 0.2 04
Other comprehensive income FE1E AR b 25 FE (G B Ath 2 E W e
attributable to non-controlling interests 0.2 03
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEEMEERE 0.4 0.7
Total comprehensive income/(expense) NARER A TE 2|
attributable to owners of the Company Wa/ (X))@ 15.6 (79.0)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FEVZ A = Fﬂﬁéﬁ
attributable to non-controlling interests Was/ ()45 15.6 (79.0)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year ZN4F & 2 M W 25/ (B ) 42 58 31.2 (158.0)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder B A FE 12 A% A% BOR 15 A% B - 56
Net cash (outflows)/inflows (used in)/from BEE(FRA)/MEES
operating activities O )/ m A 8E (448.1) 178.9
Net cash outflows used in investing activities KREESARS KL FE (283.9) (141.1)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from/(used) in B EEB TS/ (FT A )
financing activities e mA/ R F 781.4 (87.4)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) BemA/GRL) F58 49.4 (49.6)

All of the above principal subsidiaries, associates

other than Abraham Holdings Limited, Beaufort Holdings Limited,

Hanbright Assets Limited, HK Resort International

Pacific Pte Ltd, HKR Company Limited, HKR China Limited, Macro Future
Limited and Noble Glamour Limited, are held indirectly by the Company.

The above tables list the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the
Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures would, in the opinion of the & *

and joint ventures,

Limited, HKR Asia-

EMBAR -
BIEERES -

directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Other than club debentures as set out in Note 30, no other loan capital

has been issued by any of the subsidiaries.
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BEAFEZSENBRA
BRA - ARFEZTRR

ikM/‘\—J&/\Mf\_J

B F 5E30PT 51 2 B FT (& 27 51 -

REIBRITTHMEERAE -

Bk Abraham Holdings Limited * Beaufort Holdings
Limited * Hanbright Assets Limited * HK Resort
International Limited * HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd * HKR
Company Limited * B HEEFREHBR QA - X
BRERARIRSEFGR QAN
ﬁkM/_\T&/\M/_\—Ji/jEEZK/_\

EuirrAEE

AMREE

BMERNRIRE
CEEYE A B A
SERBRITE -
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43 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43 BB AR SZ

During the year, other than balances with related parties as shown inthe & 47 & Bf 75 R % % ﬁﬁ NEL BB 2 AR AN
consolidated statement of financial position, the Group had significant 5= ] 4F [A) £ B Bt TZERXSWT :

transactions with related parties as follows:

@  Transactions with entities controlled by separate discretionary (a) BRFERRECEZEXTAZTAR
trusts with a substantial shareholder act as a corporate trustee. Four (2024: ERFEHcERBET IR - RIS H
Four) directors of the Company are among the discretionary beneficiaries EE RABMHAQ4FE: OZ)EF R LIE

of the above trusts at the end of the reporting period. AZBBEZTEA -
2025 2024
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEEAER BEAT
Rental income e WA 2.9 2.9
(b)  Transaction with a director of the Group: b)) HEBEFRETZIRS:
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEBT BEAT
Consultancy fee to a director MESEXN2ERER 3.0 2.0
()  Transactions with joint ventures of the Group: © BHEEGERAIETIRS:
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEETR BEATT
Management fee and other service fees from MaERalBRsERER
joint ventures Hib 75 & 21.7 209
Interest income from a joint venture M& &R A WELZ F B4 A 17.8 252
Rental expense to a joint venture MEE AT NzHEeEA 4.6 43
(d)  Compensation of key management personnel: d TEZEBEBEAEMNSE :
The remuneration of Executive Directors during the year is as follows: PWITESRFACHMESNT :
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBABT BEATT
Short-term employee benefits HHESRN
Salaries and other benefits e REAMmET 25.5 27.8
Performance related incentive payments 1E R 1.2 1.1
Ex-gratia payment R ERIA 5.0 100
Equity-settled share-based payments NEREEARD AER 2
EA 3.7 30
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RKGE FIEHEI 50 0.3 04
35.7 523

The remuneration of Executive Directors is determined by the HITEEZEZMEhmFMEES

remuneration committee having regard to the performance of KIREKMIHBEELET -
individuals and market trends.

2Z@H 8T
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44 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

44 KRR T 2 B AR &

OF THE COMPANY
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEBTR BEBTT
Non-current assets EmENEE
Interests in subsidiaries (note (a)) BB AR (st @) 15,581.8 15476.3
Property, plant and equipment EN TN 5.5 6.7
Intangible assets mEEE 4.1 54
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 0.1 225
Other assets Hitw&EE 120.0 1199
Amounts due from joint ventures FEW A & A R RA - 160.3
15,711.5 15,7911
Current assets mENE E
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e BB R E b E WK EIE 24.9 340
Amounts due from joint ventures B A & AR FIA 158.2 =
Bank balances and cash WITHBRIR S 498.7 608.9
681.8 6429
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade payables, provision, accrued charges, FERE SRR B
and other financial liabilities EirERkHEMEeREE 25.1 321
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE B B A Rl ZRIB 956.5 1,081.6
Lease liabilities HEARE 0.1 838
Bank and other loans due within one year —FRIBZRITREMER 1,938.7 949.8
2,920.4 2,0723
Net current liabilities me e EEE (2,238.6) (1,429.4)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 13,472.9 14,361.7
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 14.0
Bank and other loans due after one year —FRIPZRTREMER 6,420.8 6,883.1
6,420.8 6,897.1
Net assets BEFE 7,052.1 7464.6
Capital and reserves BEARKR S
Share capital & 7 371.3 3713
Reserves (note (b)) it 8 (BT &£ (b)) 6,680.8 7,093.3
Equity AN 7,052.1 74646

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 June 2025 and is

signed on its behalf by:

TANG Moon Wah
Managing Director
BB m
BEFHRLE

BE:

NGAN Man Ying
Executive Director
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(a) INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (@ MEARER
2025 2024
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAER BEAET
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETRRG - K AE 2,903.6 2,905.3
Amounts due from subsidiaries R CINEMNCIE
Interest bearing portion (note) FFEH D (l‘ﬁL [Z3) 4,709.0 48536
Non-interest bearing portion REE 7,969.2 77174
15,581.8 15476.3
Note: The amounts are unsecured, bear interest at the prevailing market borrowing rates W? ZEFEAERA  RBETMBEBEN R ERE
and have no fixed terms of repayment. TEENE o
(b) MOVEMENT IN RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (b) &7 B #EEEE
Share Capital
Share options redemption Accumulated
premium reserve reserve profits Total
RGEE BEXREE
B% 17 55 B &1 & ZitE R wat
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BE#RT BEART BEAR BEE®RBT BEAR
1 April 2023 MR2023F4 818 15379 519 3.1 5,950.1 7,543.0
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEBER
expense for the year 2EHRAXBE = = = (440.2) (440.2)
Recognition of equity-settled BRAUEREE
share-based payments it mEMR 2
(NP - 54 - = 54
Share options lapsed B 1) B 4 2K K - (06) - 06 =
Dividend paid 2R S - - - (149) (149)
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 15379 56.7 3.1 5/495.6 7,093.3
Loss and total comprehensive $¢F§*J§ﬂéﬁ&
expense for the year 2 TH A 2 48 = = - (419.7) 419.7)
Recognition of equity-settled RS ,% QC
share-based payments ARt REMR 2
(NP - 7.2 - - 7.2
Share options lapsed % 1) B #E 2k 3 - 0.8) = 08 =
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3A31H 1,537.9 63.1 3.1 5,076.7 6,680.8
Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, RIEFHEF S A REE2NE (LKIBET) -

the share premium of the Company is available for distribution or paying

dividends to shareholders, subject to the provisions of its memorandum

and articles of association and provided that immediately following the

distribution of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall

due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with the

Company’s articles of association, dividends can only be distributed out

of the accumulated profits of the Company, which amounted to
HK$5,076.7 million (2024: HKS$5,495.6 million) as at 31 March 2025.

ﬂZH&T’ﬁiﬁT&f‘i—Hﬁ"/fE%Hxﬁ‘}zﬁHx%ﬁ%
CEARFEHABERREAM

J%ﬁmfﬁm 22 B Ik B

7SN/

K4 1 ﬁkﬂ&iﬁi

//\ ﬁ Be

NEERBAEBXBARZES- *EHFZLVAT

ZHBERAR

ARF R

L BE R R 202553 A

318 2 2 513 Fls507678 8 # T (2024

54956 B BB TT) B FUR B ©
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Five-Year Financial Summary

HFEBEHE

Ay 173 E
RESULTS E§
For the year ended 31 March
BE3AMBLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
EEBT BBAT AEART BEET BEATT
Revenue LN 1,753.4 3,940.7 1,693.7 43142 3,942.3
Profit from operations &8 i 342.7 3837 560.5 1,036.2 1,485.0
Net realised and unrealised KEMEBERK
(loss)/gain of investment AEIR (FE)/ W=
properties b= (765.4) (339.4) (59.7) 4479 235
Finance costs B%ER (408.2) (409.4) (230.0) (123.8) (88.3)
Share of results of associates DEBE AR REE
and joint ventures YNEGIE- 153.5 1919 284.1 3432 2205
(Loss)/profit before taxation bR %L AT (E518)/ 3 T (677.4) (173.2) 554.9 1,703.5 1,640.7
Taxation IE (93.2) (373.9) (76.7) (484.0) (512.1)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (BB aF (770.6) (547.1) 4782 1,2195 1,1286
Attributable to: N5 FEAG
Owners of the Company KRAREA A (786.0) (468.0) 4556 1,097.3 897.3
Non-controlling interests I 12 AR 2 15.4 (79.1) 226 12222 2313
(Loss)/profit for the year REFE (E18)/ % 5 (770.6) (547.1) 4782 12195 1,1286
FINANCIAL POSITION B %5 AR R
At 31 March
M3HA318
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
EEET ABAT BEATL BEEEAT BEATT
Total assets BEBE 43,192.8 418247 469024 434075 38,1450
Total liabilities AE#RE (17,912.9) (156778)  (196315)  (15461.2)  (11,540.3)
Non-controlling interests FE1E AR hE = (2,804.0)  (2,7886)  (2,8730)  (29194)  (2,9208)
Equity attributable to owners KARER A
of the Company FEL = 22,475.9 233583 243979 250269 = 236839

HKR International Limited
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Particulars of Major Properties

At 31 March 2025 2202593 A31H

A. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

A GTERIZBHZUE

DEVELOPMENT
Attributable
Gross floor Stage of Expected Nature interest to
Descriptions area (sq. ft.) completion completion date of property the Group
AREER &
R (FAR) FTHRHEER BEHTHA WEME JE 45 Rl &
1. The remaining phases, RNELBRE
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island % T & 5
(a) Residential s 1334736 Construction under 2025-2034 Residential 50%
progress/Planning F=x
in progress
TRETH/
REETTH
(b) Recreational NG 254,896 Foundation work in 2026-2027 Recreational 50%
progress/Planning NGl
in progress
WETRETH/
REETTH
(c) Others Hit 214462 Notyet commenced  No definite plan Retained for future 50%
MAET EEEETE development
BERRER
2, Hollywood Road project, RS 26493 Construction under 2026 Residential 100%
Hong Kong Island WEEEER progress =
TRERH
3. River One, REEET 350,000 Construction under 2025 Residential 100%
Songjiang District, IR progress F=x
Shanghai, the PRC EERH THRRETH
4, Sienna One, REIATIE 1415000 Construction under 2027 Residential 100%
Nanhu New District, EEMEHENE progress FE
Jiaxing City, g TiRETH
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
5. Rama 3 Road project, ZEEA 416,180 Planningin progress  No definite plan  Residential 100%
Yannawa District, Yannawa & (site area) #E|H#E{TH EETHE IF
Bangkok, Thailand Rama 3 Road 8 B (HEERE)

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £
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Particulars of Major Properties

TEYEFF

At31 March 2025 #2025 3 A31H

B. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR

B. FAEREVMXEREERA

RENTAL PURPOSES A&
Attributable
Gross floor Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  of lease
BREER &

R (FER) WEME EERE HEHR

6. 2 houses located at Bijou Hamlet, RNELBEEENS 5392 Residential 100%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island METEEFRE F= 8

7. 2 houses located at Headland Village, ANE L5 2R 6,053 Residential 100%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island METERFE FE 5

8. 5 units comprising lowrise NE L5 2%k 8,585 Residential 100%  Medium
and duplex apartments located at SHEMN (REEFRE FE 5
Peninsula Village, REA B ARK)
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

9. 1 highrise apartment located at AU 5 2R 1,068 Residential 100%  Medium
Greenvale Village, REEY: A € H H]
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

10. 16 highrise apartments located at AELRRERRA 11225 Residential 100%  Medium
Parkridge Village, 1618 = B FE 8
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

1. 4 midrise apartments and ANELBEE20EE 5,182 Residential 100%  Medium
1 combined unit located at DB Plaza, MERESER K FE 8
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island VERZEN

12, 2 lowrise apartments located at ANELBZEEERR & 2483 Residential 100%  Medium
Siena One, 2B B B it F=E 8
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

13, 1 combined unit located at AU =S e 38 2,095 Residential 100%  Medium
Chiant, VERZEEN FE A
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

14, 2 highrise apartments located at KRB =E% & 1438 Residential 50%  Medium
Peninsula Village, e B B L F= H
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

15, 6 houses located at Phase 17, RE S EE 178 43055 Residential 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island 6B TR F F=E H 5
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Attributable

Gross floor Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  of lease
BEEE® 58
R (FAR) MEHE EhFz HEER
16. 14/F of Century Tower Il and EARWLTE 3,663 Residential 100% Long
Car Parking Space No. 12 on Level 1, 1 FIAR = 215 R 15RA FE =31
Century Tower, 1and 1A i KEI4ERELKE
Tregunter Path, The Peak, Hong Kong F1EFES2REN
17. Wellgan Villa, NEFAIEE 1485 39,022 Residential 100%  Medium
148 Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon CEES FE H H
18, Commercial Centre, NE =2 225266 Commercial 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island [EEL S 8
19. Shop 401 on Ground Floor, NE LR 7417 Commercial 50%  Medium
Coastline Villa, Peninsula Village, BEHHTOE [GES H 5
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island
20. Commercial Centre, Yi Pak, ANELBRE=HE 170,162 Commercial 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island [GEL S 5
2. CDW Building, MREE 975520 Commercial 100%  Medium
382-392 Castle Peak Road, ERHE-375% [GES H 5
27-37 Mei Wan Street, H1L8382-392%%
Tsuen Wan, New Territories HRRE
2. 325 car parking spaces located at MREFIBRE 2R N/A Commercial 100%  Medium
Tuen Mun Central Square, B RES TER BE B
22 Hoi Wing Road, 325 A E fr
Tuen Mun, New Territories
2. West Gate Tower, NERDE 146418 Commercial 100%  Medium
7 Wing Hong Street and KB 75 RIB A5 HE¥ HH
8 King Lam Street, FEHEHL
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon
24, 156 office units and 62 parking lots FR MM ER 234,680 Commercial 100%  Medium
located at HKR International Centre, BEHEFBBREAL GES H

Qiantang District, Hangzhou,
the PRC

156 & 5 2 B AL
62 A= 8 AL

EREEEREEFRA T 2024/2025 £

249



Particulars of Major Properties

TEYEFF

At31 March 2025 7202553 A31H

Attributable
Gross floor Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  of lease
BEEE® &
R (FAR) MEME EEFz HEER
25. 2 units located at DANG, NREE 2,821 Industrial 100%  Medium
2-6 Fui Yiu Kok Street, RE A 2-6% (saleable area) T % 5
Tsuen Wan, New Territories DAN6 2 & 2 fiz (ERE®R)
26. United Daily News Centre, NELNE 62,800  Industrial 100%  Medium
21 Yuk Yat Street, 8 R &215% IX 5
To Kwa Wan, Kowloon BABRAE
i Y 173
C. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE C HFELHEY=
Attributable
Saleable Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  oflease
ERE® -
R (FHR) MEKE EiEFaE HEER
27. Remaining unit of Poggibonsi AB = 8 1826 Residential 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island ERHBTEN % T
28. Remaining units of IL PICCO, NE 852 22401 Residential 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BEEBHRTEN F=E 8
2. Remaining units of IN One, BT I T 317,711 Residential 100% Long
Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, BEEHTEN £ R H
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Glossary of Terms

ARER

GENERAL TERMS

Articles

Board

CG Code
Company or HKRI
Directors

ESG

ED

FY2025

INED

NED

GFA

Group

HIBOR

HKICPA

HKSAR or HK or Hong Kong
HKS

China or PRC

JPY

Listing Rules

RMB
SFO

Stock Exchange
THB

us$

S$

FINANCIAL TERMS

ECL
FVTOCI
FVTPL

Gearing ratio

HKAS

HKFRS

Net debt
Shareholders’ fund
Underlying profit/loss

Articles of Association of the Company

Board of Directors of the Company

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
HKR International Limited

Directors of the Company from time to time

Environmental, Social and Governance

Executive Director

Financial year ended 31 March 2025

Independent Non-executive Director

Non-executive Director

Gross floor area

the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

The People’s Republic of China

Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from time to
time

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong), as amended from
time to time

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Thai Baht, the official currency of Thailand
United States dollar(s), the lawful currency of The United States of America

Singapore dollar, the lawful currency of Singapore

Expected credit loss
Fair value through other comprehensive income

Fair value through profit of loss

Net debt

Shareholders’ fund

Hong Kong Accounting Standards

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

Total bank and other loans net of bank balances and cash
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Profit or loss attributable to owners of the Company excluding the Group's attributable share
of asset impairment provisions and fair value changes (net of taxes) of investment properties
held by the Group and its joint venture

BBAREREESFRADT 2024/2025 F3# 251



Glossary of Terms

ARES

ERAR

ERMAA RRRIEBERAE

B9 RARBIZESRSE

& <r Al R EmARBIM SO R &S ¥ E G F I
PN/ BT EEEXBEEEEGRAF

== RKRRTRZES

WmE HWITES

202581 5 HE20255F3831BIEHRFE
BE BYERITES

JEHME FEHMITES

L] RRAREKE R A
BEEFAITHRNES REARENMEEBFNTHRRE
BT BBLEEREY

H R AR HAE

HE BAREEE®

AR Al B S P 38 25 £ AR Bl (B RS ET)
AR hEVEESEHY

& 2 15 B BHELRBEBGO(BAEEOESE) BTRKIEE])
Bt 32 B EEBARSHMABERADA

e REEREY

ETT EBEER®

¥ FEEEE

Bt 7% A &

A 0L
BRES
5% BT R E MR BEA AR SR ERS
BEES NI
3085 I/ 1R 2 A 5 1R L S A R g R

ARBEZRENEZ AT ERD B HE)
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Corporate Information and Investors’ Calendar

NEERRKREERR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EEg
=
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor (Executive Chairman)
ERREE(HTERE)
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
(Non-executive Deputy Chairman)
TEEELLGEHTEERE)
Mr TANG Moon Wah (Managing Director)
BUmE S k(B FELTE)
Mr LEE Yue Kong Martin
FFEHREE
Ms NGAN Man Ying
BN HELZ L
Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
BB E
Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin
BRI E
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
R KRR 5T A
Ms CHIU vaai Fong Florence
BRER K
Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry
BIRE S E
Ms Barbara SHIU
BEMLZL
Mr TANG Kwai Chang
HEZEE

AUDIT COMMITTEE
EREES

Mr TANG Kwai Chang (Chairman)
HEZLE(EE

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
R R 5t A

Ms CHIU Kwai Fong Florence
BEFZL

Ms Barbara SHIU

BRIE M 2+

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
YFMEES
=
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus (Chairman)
SRR (F )
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
B E
g/ggg@l—%rﬁl‘g Ling Henry

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
= = =

Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry (Chairman)

SEMEER KA (EE)

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor

&R T

Ms Barbara SHIU

R e

MrTANG Kwai Chang

HEZEE

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline

FTEXELLT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

AN\ N
TEERERES

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline (Chairman)
TEERLL(£/F)

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor

B T E

Ms CHIU Kwai Fong Florence

BEFZL

Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry

Mr TANG Kwai Chang

HETEE

REGISTERED OFFICE
Ry

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE
TERER

23/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

&8 T 58 $168-200 5%
BB LEERANESE

SHARE REGISTRARS
3 x

KROBFELE

HONG KONG

L

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

E/%Ep%nnﬁﬂuaﬁlzﬁ

%/%/%1%5)17&@§1837ﬁ
AMAELTIEI712-1716 F

CAYMAN ISLANDS
MEHS

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
S 4 /4=

FEERERIT

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

P EERTT (FE)BER A A

Bank of Communications Co,, Ltd.

Hong Kong Branch
TBRIOTBRHDBERABDNEE DT
China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporat\on Limited
PEERRTEMRHERLDA
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.

Hong Kong Branch
FEXKBITROERRFDEEDT
China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.

Hong Kong Branch
FPERERTROAERDAEEDT
Dah Sing Bank, Limited
AFIRITERAA
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
ERBIT(BEB)BRRAA
Hang Seng Bank Limited
BERITERAA
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking

Corporation Limited
ERLBESRITERLQA
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

(Asia) Limited
FEIFRTEMNERAT
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
FFRFRITERAA
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
EBRTERAR
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited
FEEERITERAA
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
BITIRT(BEB)ERAA
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

Hong Kong Branch
FEBERERROTKODBERARDNETEDT
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
RERITERRA

COMPANY SECRETARY
RAME

Ms LEUNG Wai Fan
RER/LL

AUDITOR
& B ED

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Enuty Auditor
ZE SRl ok ﬁérﬁrﬁﬁi%i‘%
MEGTA

SRR TR

LEGAL ADVISORS
4 4

EEERB

HONG KONG LAWS
&85 R

Johnson Stokes & Master
FFLAT AT

Kao, Lee & Yip

B ERAT

Reed Smith Richards Butler
BEE AT

Woo Kwan Lee & Lo

AR R AT

CAYMAN ISLANDS LAWS
HEHBZLE

Maples and Calder

BEEERMELA

SEH_K STOCK NAME/CODE
Bk 32 P B 40 B 18/ IR A9 4K 5%

HKR Int'I 25 7 5 3£ B 5 /00480

INVESTORS’ CALENDAR
BREEHBFE

2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
2025 FRRBERE

20 August 2025
20258 A20H

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF
MEMBERS
EEROBFER

15 to 20 August 2025 (Annual General Meeting)
2005F8AISHENR (REBAFAE)

RECORD DATE
iC &% B 5

20 August 2025 (Annual General Meeting)
20258 A208 (REHAFAZ)

COMMUNICATION
Bk

Website #8 1F - www.hkri.com

Tel E5F © (852)22381188

Email & ﬁﬂ

investors@hkri.com (Investors & & #& )
cs@hkri.com (Shareholders A% &)
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